Pension
Committee
19 November 2018
7.00 pm at the

efg

Civic Offices, St Nicholas Way, Sutton SM1 1EA
To all members of the Pension Committee:Chair:
Vice-Chair:
Councillors:

Councillor Jill Whitehead
Councillor Ben Andrew
Edward Joyce, Nali Patel, Eric Allen and Param Nandha

Substitutes:

Councillors Sam Weatherlake, Steve Penneck and Tim Crowley

This is a Council meeting held in public. Additional representations are at the invitation of the Chair
of the Committee. If you are a relevant organisation and you wish to submit representations on a
proposal contained within the reports to this agenda please submit a request via Committee
Services three working days before the meeting date.
The council allows and welcomes any recording, photographing or filming of the proceedings of a
council meeting or use of social media by any member of the public, media or councillor subject to
it focusing on, and not disrupting, the meeting. Mobile devices can interfere with the wireless
microphones and induction loop, and if that is the case the Chair may require that such devices are
turned off. In order to facilitate the recording of meetings, members of the public or media are
encouraged to contact committeeservices@sutton.gov.uk in advance of the meeting
This meeting will be recorded and made available on the Council’s website.
PLEASE NOTE: Any decision taken at this meeting does not become definitive until 10am on the
third working day after the meeting. Any four members of the Council may notify the Chief
Executive by then if they require a decision to be reviewed by the appropriate committee at its next
meeting. Please contact the Committee Services representative shown on the front page for
further information.

Niall Bolger
Chief Executive
Friday, 9 November 2018

Enquiries to: Sharon Major, Committee Services Officer Tel: 020 8770 4990 | Email:
committeeservices@sutton.gov.uk

Copies of reports are available in large print on request

AGENDA
1.

Welcome and Introductions

2.

Apologies for Absence

3.

Declarations of Interest

4.

Minutes of the Previous Meeting

3-8

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 26
September 2018.
5.

Pension Administration update

9 - 20

This report provides an update on the main work-streams impacting pension
administration as at 30 September 2018.
6.

Member Training
This session will cover fixed income investments.

7.

Presentation by Black Rock and Aviva (property) for investment
performance results to September 2018

8.

Quarterly Investment Performance report

21 - 38

This report shows the performance of the total Fund and individual fund
managers for the quarter ending 30 September 2018, performance in the last
twelve months, annualised rolling three year performance against the
benchmark and performance since inception.
9.

Brexit Implications & Strategy Next Steps

10.

Government Actuary Department (GAD) Section 13 Report

To Follow
39 - 44

The purpose of this report is to inform the Pension Committee that Sutton
Pension Fund achieved a positive outcome in the GAD review of the actuarial
valuations of LGPS Funds in England and Wales as at 31 March 2016
contained in a report published on 27 September 2018.
11.

Update on Pension Landscape
The Public Service Pension Schemes (PSPS) environment continues to evolve
for a variety of reasons with consequences for the Local Government Pension
Scheme (LGPS).
This report provides an overview of recent key developments including;
actuarial valuation of PSPS, the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB)
Separation Project and SAB review of LGPS third tier employers. The report
considers the likely implications for the LGPS and it is aimed at the Pension
Committee for information.

45 - 234

12.

Review of Work Programme
The Work Programme set out in this report has been produced to propose
agenda items to be presented and discussed at future meetings.

13.

Any Urgent Business
The Chair must approve the reason for urgency.

14.

Exclusion of the Press and Public
The following motion should be moved, seconded and approved if the
committee wishes to exclude the press and public to deal with reports
revealing exempt information:
“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in paragraph 3 Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972.”

15.

Date of Next Meeting
The next meeting of the Pension Committee will take place on 18 March 2019.

235 - 238

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1

Agenda Annex

CIVIC OFFICES, SUTTON
GROUND FLOOR MEETING ROOMS
FIRE PRECAUTIONS
If there is a FIRE in the building the fire alarm will sound. Leave the building
immediately by the most direct route, either back through reception or the fire exit
into Lower Square. Take your coat and any bags with you. Assemble in the car
park in front of the Holiday Inn.

Toilet

Toilet
Room 1
Toilet

Toilet

Reception

Room
5

Room
4

Fire
Exit

Room
2

Room
3

Entrance
Lower Square

Exit

Holiday Inn
Car Park

Page 2

Agenda Annex

Reminder – Declarations of Interests
Members should consider the following interests and whether they have any they
should declare.
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of the Authority at
this meeting and you have either declared it beforehand in the Register of Members’
Interests or to the Monitoring Officer for entry in the Register you must state at this
meeting that you have such an interest and then withdraw from the room or chamber
where the meeting is being held whilst that business is considered.
Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of the Authority at
this meeting and have not previously declared it you must declare the nature of that
interest at this meeting and then withdraw from the room or chamber where the
meeting is being held whilst that business is considered.
Other Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests
Where you have any other pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in any business at
this meeting you must declare that interest, but may continue to speak and vote on
the matter. However, if the interest is one which a member of the public, with
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as so significant that it is
likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest then you should declare the
interest and withdraw from the room or chamber where the meeting is being held
whilst that business is considered.
Further information on these matters can be found in the Council's Code of Conduct
and Constitution. If you are in any doubt as to whether you have an interest you
should seek advice before the committee meeting from Alexa Coates.
If, during the course of the committee meeting, you consider you may have an
interest you should always declare it.

Page 3

Agenda Item 4
Pension Committee
26 September 2018

PENSION COMMITTEE
26 September 2018 at 7.00 pm

MEMBERS:

Councillor Jill Whitehead (Chair), Councillor Ben Andrew (ViceChair) and Councillors Edward Joyce, Nali Patel, Param Nandha
and Eric Allen

ABSENT

Councillor(s)

12. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS
The Chair welcomed all those present.

13. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies from members.

14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Allen, Councillor Whitehead and Councillor Joyce declared that they are Sutton
pensioners.

15. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
RESOLVED: that the minutes of the meeting held on 18 June 2018 be agreed as an
accurate record and signed by the Chair.
Order of items The Chair announced that item 11 would be heard ahead of the member training session,
item 5.

16. MEMBER TRAINING
David Walker from Hymans Robertson delivered the training presentation. The key areas
covered were:

 An overview of the LBS Pension fund strategy, including board levels of risk and
expected returns and specific allocations and mandates based on long term funding
objectives.
 Modelling to establish probability of success / overview of the current investment
strategy.
 The role of equities covering the active versus passive management styles and an
insight into the current London Borough of Sutton equity allocation and options for
equity restructure going forward.
Members asked how an increase in assets had affected the current pension deficit. Officers
advised that there had been an improved position and details were covered in the interim

1

Agenda Item 4

Page 4

Pension Committee
26 September 2018
actuarial valuation report. Further debate took place on the expectations of future equity
performance and also performance of specific fund managers. Members were advised
equities are still expected to perform well over the long term but there is still current market
volatility. As part of the equity review, appointment of managers will be considered

17. QUARTERLY INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE REPORT TO JUNE 2018
Lyndsey Gamble, Head of Investment Risk and Commercial Finance, presented the report
and updated members on the performance of the total fund and individual fund managers
for the quarter ending 30 June 2018. In particular the increase in fund value from £640M to
£666M highlighted an increase of 4.1%. The performance by investment type was also
discussed and in particular that only equities had performed above the benchmark in the
quarter, and all equity managers had outperformed the benchmark except for Schroders. In
respect of Alternatives performance the committee were advised that Harding Loevner were
the only manager to outperform their performance target.
Members asked about an investment in property of £15M and where this investment is
located The Officer advised this relates to a range of properties across the country but
generally in the South East.
Members queried the investment Managers used by the London CIV and if some existing
good performing Fund Managers were not on the CIV platform whether they can continue to
be used. Officers advised that a decision would need to be taken on that in the future.
RESOLVED: that the performance of the total Fund, contribution at the fund manager level
and detailed attribution of the results were noted.
There was a brief adjournment at 20.20 following this presentation. The meeting
resumed at 20.30.

18. PRESENTATION BY SCHRODERS PERFORMANCE REPORT TO MARCH
2018
The presentation was delivered by Olivia Docker and Tom Mann of Schroders. The
presentation highlighted:

 LBS Pension fund currently held just over £100M in Schroders fund.
 The performance delivered has been 5.4 % which has underperformed the
benchmark.
 The fund is highly diversified covering quality companies that are profitable and with
well financed balance sheets. Value is the other factor taken into account.
 High quality cheaper stocks have been best performing.
 The cause of underperformance was discussed.

19. PRESENTATION BY LONDON CIV AND UPDATE
The presentation was delivered by Kevin Cullen, Client Relations Director of the London
CIV. The following points were highlighted:



The CIV was set up 2015 to help with pooling and to effect cost savings and to improve
performance.
Currently 40% of London Authorities’ assets are so far pooled.

2

Page 5






Agenda Item 4

Pension Committee
26 September 2018
Future direction of asset allocation will be driven by member requirements and 3 new
funds have been launched in the last year. The CIV have identified a demand for a fixed
income range of products and will announce plans on infrastructure funds property assets
in Q1 next year.
Fee savings have exceeded the cost of running the CIV.
Pooling has shifted from voluntary to mandatory.
The Responsible Investment Policy has been established.
Members were informed of a “meet the manager day” scheduled on 8 November, to which
all Members were invited to join.
Members sought clarification on fund selection where it had been identified that results
from some funds in the CIV had not been as strong as current LBS Pension Fund
investments. The presenter advised that in terms of performance, the CIV managers’
selection is very vigorous but despite that, some managers will go through periods of not
performing as well as others, but that the CIV believe asset allocation is more important
than who manages the fund.

20. INTERIM ACTUARIAL VALUATION OF THE PENSION FUND AS AT 31
MARCH 2018
Lyndsey Gamble, Head of Investment Risk and Commercial Finance, presented the
report. The committee were advised that the last full valuation was in 2016 and the
interim valuation aims to assess the current fund valuation.
It was pointed out not all factors had been updated so results of the interim valuation
were indicative only. Despite an increase in assets there was an increase in liabilities
also, but overall the deficit had reduced which was positive.
The next full valuation is planned for March 2019 and Barnett Waddingham will present
on this in due course. This is likely to come to the committee in November 2019, when
the investment approach will be looked at in more detail.
RESOLVED: that the outcome of the interim valuation was noted.

21. PENSION FUND ANNUAL REPORT INCLUDING STATEMENT OF
ACCOUNTS
Paul Audu, Investment, Insurance and Commercial Manager presented the report. The
areas that were highlighted were that during the audit the main areas of focus were the
revenue cycle and transactions, management override of controls, contributions, benefit
payments and valuation of investments. The fund received an unqualified certificate. The
Committee’s attention was drawn to an area where LB Sutton is not compliant with
statutory guidance and this was in respect of representation of all stakeholders on the
Pension Committee.
Members queried the data tables on page 35 and 37 of the report concerning whether the
positive numbers within the table should be displayed in brackets. The finance team
agreed to look into this post the meeting and correct it if necessary.
RESOLVED: that
1. The audited Pension Fund Annual Report for 2017/18, including the Governance
Compliance Statement at Appendix III of the report (Appendix A) be approved.

3

Agenda Item 4

Page 6
Pension Committee
26 September 2018

2.

The 2017/18 Pension Fund Annual Report Risk Register at Appendix B was noted.

3. Authority be delegated to the Strategic Director, Resources, to make final
amendments to the annual report as required before publication.

22. PENSION ADMINISTRATION UPDATE
David Kellond, the Pension Administration Manager presented the report. He provided an
update on the main work streams impacting pension administration for the period to
August 2018, and the following points were highlighted to Members:


A number of annual pension returns from Schools for 16/17 were incorrect and
therefore the deadline for producing annual benefit statements had not been met. This has
been self-reported to the Pension regulator as a breach, in respect of missing the required
deadline for production.

Annual Pension statements can be sent to Members in hard copy on request.

In respect of the backlog of work, the volume of outstanding items had increased and
the reasons for this was discussed, in particular regarding how the backlog is monitored.
Members asked what will be the impact of the report to the pension regulators and why the
issue was not known about and dealt with sooner.
The Officer advised the breach has been reported to the regulator, at the same time the
regulator was also advised of the reason for the breach and the action plan to resolve this
including timescales and preventative measures to avoid this in future. One of the things
being investigated is for employers to send data on a monthly basis in a set file format so
that data is collated throughout the year rather than at the year end.
Members asked if more staff have been recruited and the officer advised that a pensions
apprentice has recently been appointed.
RESOLVED: that the Pension Administration update report was considered and noted.

23. REVIEW OF WORK PROGRAMME
Paul Audu, Investments, Insurance & Commercial Manager presented the report,
on the proposed work programme of the Pension Committee.
The committee were advised that in respect of monthly member training the topics will be
advised in advance of each month and will fit in with the approved training plan.
In respect of the emerging proposal by the government to move the Local Government
Pensions Scheme (LGPS) to 4 yearly pension fund actuarial valuations to align with other
Public Service Pension Schemes, and also in respect of the Government Section 13
requirements, officers would bring a report to this committee at the next meeting in
November on both of these items.
The Chair also asked for the training session on ethical and local government to be
rearranged. The Head of Investment Risk and Commercial Finance advised a new date
would be sent to Members shortly. Members wished to stress that any meeting should not
start before 7pm.

4

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

Pension Committee
26 September 2018
RESOLVED: that the Pension Committee work programme was noted.

24. ANY URGENT BUSINESS
There were no urgent items.

25. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

The meeting ended at 9.55 pm
Chair:
Date:

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

Report to:

Pension Committee

Date:

Report title:

Pension Administration Update

Report from:

Gerald Almeroth, Strategic Director, Resources

Ward/Areas affected:

Borough Wide

Chair of Committee/Lead
Member:
Author(s)/Contact
Number(s):
Corporate Plan Priorities:

Councillor Jill Whitehead

Open/Exempt:

Open

19 November 2018

David Kellond, Pensions Administration Manager, 020 8770 6033
●

Making Informed Choices

Signed:

Date:

8 November 2018

1.

Summary

1.1

This report provides an update on the main work streams impacting pension administration as
at 30 September 2018.

2.

Recommendations
The Pension Committee is recommended to:

2.1

Consider and note the report.

3.

Background

3.1

Sutton and Kingston formed a shared service with effect from 1 April 2016 for the administration
of each respective Council’s Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). The shared service
also administers the LGPS on behalf of in excess of 100 employers, including Sutton Housing
Partnership, Kingston University and academy schools.

3.2

The strategy for the shared service will focus on:
●
●
●
●

maximising use of the administration system (including self serve modules);
increasing knowledge and resources of system administration;
upskilling officers;
monitoring outstanding work; and

Page 10

Agenda Item 5

●

the harmonisation of functions within the team and its interactions with other support
services, such as finance.

3.3

In addition, there is an annual action plan to allow monitoring of all projects, annual tasks and
ongoing tasks that the pension administration team is responsible for. The following projects
and annual tasks are highlighted to give the board a flavour of work the team are completing
alongside the day to day administration of the fund.

4.

Issues
Annual Returns and Annual Benefit Statements 2018

4.1

Work has continued on updating member records for 11 London Borough of Sutton schools for
whom the previously uploaded annual returns for 2016/17 were incorrect by having only
included 11 months of data. This involves the removal of the erroneous 2016/17 data, the
loading of the new data, processing of CARE pension update and then the production of an
annual benefit statement. This process then must be repeated for the 2017/18 data. As
previously reported to the Committee at the it’s last meeting this has resulted in the 2017/18
Annual Benefit Statements for those schools being delayed.

4.2

Following the introduction of the Pensions Administration Strategy in February of this year, there
is the option to levy a charge against those employers who have not been compliant with the
published deadlines. As a consequence, a penalty charge has been issued to 11 London
Borough of Sutton schools and 1 Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames school, for the late
submission of their 2017/18 annual return. The charges issued have been calculated in
accordance with the Pensions Administration Strategy and range from £255 to £487 per school.

4.3

Work has begun to ensure that similar issues do not occur for the year 2018/19, with those
affected being invited to enter into dialogue with the Pensions Admistration Team to improve the
transition of data in the future.
Monitoring of Complaints

4.4

Any cases are referred to the Pensions Administration Manager for consideration under Stage 1
of the LGPS Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure (IDRP). Such issues are reviewed and
wherever possible are brought to a satisfactory resolution without the need for reference to
Stage 2 of the procedure. During this period, one case was received at stage 1 IDRP.
Annual Allowance

4.5

Work is currently being finalised to produce Pension Savings Statements to all those members
whose growth in the capital value of their accrued pension rights within the Fund, has exceeded
£40k (the standard annual allowance limit) for the year 2017/18.

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

Pensions Online
4.6

Following feedback received from scheme members in relation to Pensions Online, a number of
small changes have been made in order to make clearer the login procedures. Further work is
being undertaken to increase the level of detail provided and better explain the information
provided.
Outstanding Processes

4.7

At September 2018, the total number of outstanding processes was as follows:
Total number of open processes

2,737

Total processes overdue

2,284

of which are more than 3 months overdue

982

4.8

There was a significant increase in the number of processes commenced in August 2018 as a
result of work identified via the annual returns, which have now begun to contribute to the
number falling overdue. The total number of processes started for August 2018 was 2,840, an
almost 30% increase on the mean monthly average for 2018/19 to date (2,200).

4.9

A restructure of the Pensions Administration Team is currently being considered to better cope
with both the outstanding and ongoing workload. In the very short-term a number of initiatives
are being considered to ensure that the longstanding overdue processes are dealt with.
Service Level Agreements

4.10 The service level agreements as stated in the pension administration strategy were set up within
the pensions administration software at the beginning of January 2018.
4.11 Appendix A lists the SLAs with their associated definition and target.

Agenda Item 5

Page 12

4.12 The table below shows the percentage of SLAs completed within timescale to date. The total
number of general queries that are reported below only represent a small proportion of general
queries that the service deal with. A larger proportion (on average 40-60 queries per day) are
received via the generic email address and responded to by a pension officer (on rota) by email
reply and do not enter UPM. Consideration is being given to how best monitor timescales of
replying to emails from the generic inbox.

YTD HIT %

SEPTEMBER
HIT %

APC Set Up

100

100

AVC Set Up

80

0

Death in Deferment - Calculation of Death Benefits & Est
of Beneficiaries

50

100

Death in Deferment - Payment of Benefits

66.67

N/A

Death in Retirement - Calculation of Death Benefits & Est
of Beneficiaries

88.46

100

Death in Retirement - Payment of Benefits

57.14

N/A

Deferment

53.14

43.48

General Enquiries

50.67

50

Interfund In - Establish Benefits & Offer Options

74.47

100

Interfund In - Obtain Previous Service Details

82.42

100

Leaver

78.44

73.47

Refund Actual

91.37

75

Refund Quote

77.33

17.78

Retirement Actual

89.58

86.67

Retirement Estimate

59.34

16.67

Transfer In - Establish Benefits and Update System

83.87

83.33

Transfer In - Request Payment

75.86

80

Transfer In Quote - Provide Quote to Member

95.08

100

Transfer In Quote - Request Transfer Value

100

100

Transfer Out - Payment of Transfer Value

60

0

84.06

85.71

SERVICE STANDARD NAME

Transfer Out Quote

4.13 As previously reported, the team is still working with its software provider to refine the processes
within the system to ensure that they truly reflect the compliance by the team. For example,
some processes rely on third parties to provide information before the next step can be taken. In
those cases, the process will be shown as overdue if it goes past the SLA date even though the

Page 13

Agenda Item 5

delay may not be as a result of the team’s actions. Once all processes have been reviewed and
updated, the statistics to date will be re-run.
4.14 The percentage of deferrements, transfers and interfunds completed continues to be lower than
expected, this is largely due to resources being diverted to working on the annual returns.
Accounting Valuation Reports
4.15 Accounting valuation reports for universities, colleges and academy schools have been
calculated by the relevant Fund actuary and have in the main been isssued to the relevant
scheme employers. However, at the time of writing a small number have been delayed due to
data issues, but will be issued very shortly.
Office for National Statistics
4.16 The Occupational Pension Schemes survey was issued by the Office for National Statistics for
completion in respect of the London Borough of Sutton and the Royal Borough of Kingston upon
Thames respectively. This was duly completed and has been returned.
Bulk Transfers
4.17 Barnett Waddingham (Sutton actuary) and Hymans (Kingston actuary) are currently
corresponding with the relevant actuaries for the appropriate administering authorities with
regard to agreeing an appropriate transfer value. One such payment is scheduled to be made
on 24 October 2018.
The Pensions Regulator Annual Scheme Return
4.18 Data is being compiled to enable the completion of the annual scheme return issued by The
Pensions Regulator in respective of each Fund.
Guaranteed Minimum Pension Reconciliation Project
4.19 Prior to April 1997 the minimum level of benefit the pension fund were required to provide was
known as a Guaranteed Minimum Pension (or GMP), which still forms part of many members’
benefits. When contracting-out ended in April 2016, HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) no
longer tracked contracted-out rights and issued closure schedules to schemes so they can
compare these against GMP amounts held on scheme records. This is known as a GMP
reconciliation. Intellica, a  third party contracted via Civica for the Guaranteed Minimum Pension
Reconciliation project, have recently been provided with earnings data from UPM to help with
their ongoing investigations. They have made a number of recommendations for further sample
testing. Consideration is currently being given to how to extract the most value from the
remaining resources available and whether further resources may be required. Options being
considered include assessing which member groups will yield the most value (i.e. active,
pensioner or deferred members).

Page 14

Agenda Item 5

5.

Impacts and Implications
Financial

5.1

There are no financial implications arising from the recommendations in this report.
Legal

5.2

There are no legal implications arising in this report.

6.

Appendices and Background Documents
Appendix letter

Title

A

Service Level Agreements

Background documents
None

Audit Trail
Version

Final

Date: 8 November 2018

Finance

No

N/A

Legal

No

N/A

Equality Impact Assessment
required?

No

N/A

Consultation with other officers

Page 15

Extract from Pension Administration Strategy Appendix A

Agenda Item 5

Standard of expected service between the Administering Authority and the
Employers
1

Who

2

Administration Description

Performance standard

New Starters, Transfers In & Leavers

1

E

New starter: To supply information on the LGPS in the
starter communication to the new employee.

E

New scheme member: Employer to send to S&K PAT
the details of the new member in the required format as
agreed with S&K PAT.

Within 30 working days after
the scheme membership
start date.

S&K

New scheme member: Create a new pensions record
using the completed notification from the Employer
(above).

Within 20 working days from
the date of notification.

S&K

Transfer in quote: S&K PAT to request a transfer
4
details from the new member’s previous scheme .

Within 15 working days from
receipt of request for quote.

S&K

Transfer in quote: Calculate and provide quotation to
member5.

Within 15 working days from
receipt of all information.

S&K

Transfer in: Request payment of transfer value.

Within 10 working days of
receipt of all information.

S&K

Transfer In: Credit member record (having been
informed that payment has been made) with
membership due from transfer of previous pension
benefits.

Within 15 working days of
receipt of payment from
previous pension scheme.

S&K

Transfer In: Notification of service purchased by an
incoming transfer to be provided to the scheme new
member.

Within 30 working days of
receipt of the all the required
information.

S&K

Leaver: Provision of options for leaver.

Within 3 months of receiving
correct leaver notification

3

Within 20 working days of the
new employee’s first day of
employment.

E represents Employer
S&K represents pensions administration team
2
All performance standards represent timescales once all required information is received from the relevant party.
3
If a third party payroll provider is supplying starter information, the employer is responsible for satisfying themselves
that the information is being supplied in the correct format agreed with the pension team.
4
Requests to transfer in previous service must be made by the member within 12 months of joining the current
scheme.
5
A transfer value is guaranteed for 3 months (GAD Transfer Value Guidance, 8 April 2016)

Page
16
Agenda
Item
5 Pension Administration Strategy
Extract
from
Appendix A

from scheme employer.

Existing Members & Schemes (Transfer & IFA in, refunds)
S&K

Member record changes: Changes to data which
materially affect actual or potential benefit calculations to
be processed.

Within 10 working days of of
receipt of all necessary
information, whichever is
later.

S&K

Transfers in: Member to be notified.

Within 30 working days of
receipt of all necessary
information.

S&K

Transfers out: Provision of details of transfer value
available to member. Includes Cash Equivalent Transfer
Value (CETV) for divorce quotes.

Within 15 working days from
receipt of request for quote.

S&K

Transfers out: Payment of transfer value to nominated
recipient.

Within 10 working days of
receipt of information.

S&K

Divorce Proceedings6 Earmarking or divorce sharing
order received.

Within 20 working days from
receipt of all required
information.

S&K

Interfund Adjustments (IFA) in: Obtain previous
service details.

Within 15 working days from
receipt of all required
information.

S&K

Interfund Adjustments (IFA) in7: If combining service,
request payment of interfund value.

Within 10 working days from
receipt of information.

S&K

Interfund Adjustments (IFA) in: Establish benefits and
update system.

Final interfund calc - 15
working days (& have been
informed that the payment
has been made).

S&K

Refund quote & refunds of contributions: to be
calculated and paid where due under the Regulations.

Within 20 working days of
receipt of all necessary
information following the

LGPS regulations 2013 state that the statutory timescale to 4 months to implement a Pension Sharing Order
(and actually discharge the scheme’s liability) is 4 months following receipt of all relevant information/documents
e.g. Decree Absolute.
6

7

payment needs to be made within 3 months of the election date.

Page 17

Extract from Pension Administration Strategy Appendix A

Agenda Item 5

elapse of any period before
which the contributions can
be refunded.

S&K

Additional Voluntary Contributions: Establishment of
AVC record on database and notification sent to payroll
provider.

Within 10 working days of
receipt of all information.

S&K

Deferment: Provide a statement of deferred benefits

20 working days from receipt
of all information.

S&K

Upon receipt of a death notification: from an
Employer of a pensioner; arrangements put in place for
pension payments to cease.

Within 5 working days of
receipt of all information.

S&K

Upon receipt of a death notification: from an
Employer of a pensioner, calculations of benefits sent to
next of kin or other relevant party.

Within 10 working days of
receipt of notification of a
death.

Setting up of any dependents pension.

Within 10 working days of
receipt of all necessary
information.

Payment of death benefits8: i ncluding setting up of any
dependents pension.

Within 10 working days of
receipt of all necessary
information.

Death

S&K

Retirements

8

E

Employer to send S&K PAT retirement notification.

At least 30 days before their
final day of employment.

S&K

S&K PAT to produce retirement estimate (where
possible employers are expected to produce retirement
quotes themselves via Employer Self Serve).

Within 10 working days.

S&K

Finalisation of retirement, issue of lump sum &
notification of benefits.

Within 10 working days.

S&K

Send benefit options to member together with relevant

Within 20 working days of

Same timescales apply for death of dependant pensioner/spouse

Page
18
Agenda
Item
5 Pension Administration Strategy
Extract
from
Appendix A

S&K

forms required for payment of retirement benefits.

receiving notification from the
Employer.

Arrangement of payment of pension.

To join the next available pay
run (subject to cut off dates).

Monthly Contributions
E

Employer to send funds and schedule of deductions from By the 19th day of the month
salary to either LBS or RBK pension fund.
following the month in which
contributions were deducted,
or the working day
immediately prior to this if
19th falls on a weekend or
bank holiday.

Annual Returns
E

To provide the S&K PAT with year-end information to 31
March each year in the required format.

By the 7th of May or the
working day immediately
prior to this if 7th May falls on
a weekend of bank holiday.

Pensioners
S&K

Every pensioner to receive a monthly pension advice
payslip in the months of March and April from Councils’
Payroll Services. A hard copy payslip will be generated
only where the net pension alters by £5 or more from the
previous month.

March & April.

S&K

Returned pension payment: Undertake relevant
investigation for returned payments and update iTrent
(payroll) & UPM.

Complete suspension & write
to pensioner within 10
working days.

Contact with S&K PAT
S&K

Answer all phone calls from members and Employers.

9am to 5pm.

S&K

Respond to all email communications from members and Within 10 working days.
Employers.

Page 19

Extract from Pension Administration Strategy Appendix A

S&K

All complaints to be dealt with within LBS corporate
complaint procedure and Internal Dispute Management
Procedure.

Agenda Item 5

Stage 1 complaint
acknowledged and
responded to within 20
working days.

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 21

Agenda Item 8

Report to:

Pension Committee

Report title:

Quarterly Investment Performance Report to 30 September 2018

Report from:

Gerald Almeroth, Strategic Director, Resources

Ward/Areas affected:

Borough Wide

Chair of Committee/Lead
Member:
Author(s)/Contact
Number(s):

Councillor Jill Whitehead

Corporate Plan Priorities:
Open/Exempt:
Signed:

Date:

19 November 2018

Paul Audu, Investments, Insurance & Commercial Manager, 0208 770
5016
Lisa Doswell, Senior Finance Lead, Treasury and Pensions, 0208 770
5354
●

Making Informed Choices

Part-Exempt: Appendix B is exempt on the basis of Paragraph 3,
Schedule 12A of Local Government Act 1972
Date:
8 November 2018

1.

Summary

1.1

This report shows the performance of the total Fund and individual fund managers for the
quarter ending 30 September 2018, performance in the last twelve months, annualised rolling
three year performance against the benchmark and performance since inception.

2.

Recommendation
The Pension Committee is recommended to:

2.1

Note the performance of the total Fund, contribution at the fund manager level and detailed
attribution of the results.

3.

Background

3.1

Legal & General (L&G), Newton Investment Management (Newton), Harding Loevner, Schroder,
Baillie Gifford, Pyrford, M&G, BlackRock and Partner’s Group were employed as the Council’s
investment managers for the quarter ending 30 September 2018. The Council was also
invested in three separate funds; M&G UK Companies Financing Fund, Aviva Investors UK Real
Estate Fund of Funds Plan and Invesco Real Estate UK Residential Fund.

Agenda Item 8

3.2

Page 22

Under the Council’s current investment strategy, a target allocation of 42% of the total Fund
value is to be invested in global equities managed in separate, equal sized portfolios by Newton,
Harding Loevner and Schroder’s. 13% of the Fund is to be invested in UK equities by L&G and
15% of the Fund is to be split equally in absolute return pooled vehicles managed by Baillie
Gifford and Pyrford. 20% of the Fund is currently targeted in bonds by M&G, however there is a
long term strategic target to bonds of 15% and 5% to infrastructure, but this will take some time
to implement. 10% of the Fund is allocated to Property. This is shown in the chart on the left,
against the current actual allocation of the Fund on the right.

Target Benchmark Allocation

Actual Allocation of Fund as at 30/09/2018

3.3

Actual allocations against the target are monitored on a regular basis. Potential courses of
action are discussed with Hymans Robertson if material deviations occur.  The current target
allocation of 42% in global equities has been exceeded by 7%. This will be addressed in the
Investment Strategy Review.

3.4

Performance targets for all fund managers are set by the Council to obtain good investment
returns balanced against risk. The targets set are in line with the overall investment strategy
originally agreed by Members in March 2011.

4.

Performance of the Managers

4.1

The tables set out at paragraph 6 of this report provide comparative analyses of managers’
performance for the quarter, over the last twelve months and since inception (where possible)
against the relevant indices in the Council’s benchmark. All figures are shown net of fees.
Managers’ remuneration structure and applicable fees for the current and previous quarter are
shown in Appendix B (exempt information).

4.2

This report is prepared using data provided by Northern Trust, the Fund’s custodian and
independent performance measurer, together with reporting from each Fund manager and the
London CIV.

Page 23

Agenda Item 8

Movement in Fund Value from 30 June 2018 to 30 September 2018
4.3

The table below shows the change in the value of holdings with each of the fund managers
since the end of the previous quarter in absolute and percentage terms.
Fund Manager

Total Equities

Value at end
30/06/18

Value at end
30/09/18

Value
change

£’000

£’000

£’000

%
Change

402,010

418,625

16,615

4.1

78,975

78,338

-637

-0.8

Newton *

106,003

113,669

7,666

7.2

Harding Loevner

116,458

121,411

4,953

4.3

Schroders

100,574

105,207

4,633

4.6

Bonds

94,548

94,227

-321

-0.3

M&G bonds

94,548

94,227

-321

-0.3

Pooled Multi Asset

88,668

89,023

355

0.4

Baillie Gifford *

46,011

46,044

33

0.1

Pyrford *

42,657

42,979

322

0.8

Property

51,218

51,701

483

0.9

BlackRock

23,626

23,855

229

1.0

Aviva

13,032

13,113

81

0.6

Invesco

14,560

14,733

173

1.2

Alternatives

18,898

21,364

2,466

13.0

Partners Group **

18,471

20,932

2,461

13.3

427

432

5

1.2

10,458

10,314

-144

-1.4

665,800

685,254

19,454

2.9

Legal & General

M&G – Co’s Financing Fund
Cash
Total Assets

* These managers have transitioned into the London Collective Investment Vehicle (LCIV)
** Partners Group made 3 capital calls in the quarter totalling £1.7m. The remaining increase of £0.8m
represents net capital appreciation.

Page 24

Agenda Item 8

The chart below shows the percentage change in the total value of the Fund each quarter.
Fund Value Movement %

The above table excludes cash.
5.

Total Fund Performance
Total Fund performance pre and post strategy implementation

5.1

Benchmark 69
months to
31/10/12
%

Fund
69 months
to 31/10/12
%

Variance

Fund
69 months
to 30/09/18
%

Variance

%

Benchmark
69 months
to 30/09/18
%

4.2

3.2

-1.0

9.6

10.2

0.6

%

Prior to the new strategy being implemented, the combined Fund underperformed the
benchmark by 1.0% over the previous 69 months (benchmark 4.2%, actual 3.2%). By
comparison, in the 69 months post implementation of the new strategy the combined Fund
outperformed the benchmark by 0.6% (benchmark 9.6%, actual 10.2%).

Page 25

Agenda Item 8

Total Fund performance for the latest quarter ended 30 September 2018
TOTAL FUND

Target
Allocation
%

Fund
Allocation
%

Benchmark
Return
%

Fund
Return
%

Relative

Equities

55

62

4.1

4.1

0.0

Bonds

15

14

-0.5

-0.3

0.2

Pooled Multi Asset

15

13

1.0

0.4

-0.6

Property

10

8

1.6

0.9

-0.7

Alternatives

5

3

n/a

n/a

n/a

100.0

100.0

2.5

3.0

0.5*

TOTAL ASSETS

%

* includes Alternatives
5.2

At total fund level the combined Fund outperformed the benchmark by 0.5% over the period.
Performance of individual asset classes is detailed in paragraph 6 onwards.
Total Fund performance – longer term
TOTAL FUND

5.3

1 Year
% pa

3 Years
% pa

5 Years
% pa

Fund return

8.7

12.9

9.8

Benchmark return

7.9

11.4

9.2

Relative %

0.8

1.5

0.6

At total fund level, as at September 2018 the combined Fund outperformed the benchmark by
0.8% over the past year, by 1.5% per annum over the rolling three years and 0.6% over the past
five years.

Page 26

Agenda Item 8

5.4

The bar chart below summarises the overall performance of the Fund over the last year, three
year and five year periods:

6.

Equity Performance
Equity performance for the latest quarter ended 30 September 2018
Manager

Target
Allocation
%

Fund
Allocation
%

Benchmark
Return
%

Fund
Return
%

Relative

L&G

13

12

-0.8

-0.8

0.0

Newton

14

17

5.6

7.2

1.6

Harding Loevner

14

18

5.6

4.3

-1.3

Schroders

14

15

5.6

4.6

-1.0

55

62

4.1

4.1

0.0

TOTAL EQUITIES

%

Page 27

Agenda Item 8

6.1

Global equity markets continued to make gains during the quarter, largely due to the continuing
strength of the US market. The performance of the US versus the rest of the world reached its
most extreme level since at least the early 1970s, led by investor confidence in the strong
economic growth outlook and record corporate earnings. The Federal Reserve carried out
another rate rise in September. Companies in Europe posted positive returns, but the gains
were modest compared to US counterparts. In the UK, there was a modest decline in the FTSE
All-Share index amid ongoing Brexit concerns and the Bank of England raised interest rates for
the first time in ten years by 25 basis points. Sterling continued its downward trajectory.
Emerging markets continued to underperform during the quarter, still impacted by US dollar
strength and escalating trade tensions. Higher quality, more expensive, growth stocks were
again favoured over value, particularly in the US. Some of the best performers were healthcare
and telecom stocks. Industrials and information technology performed well, however the
information technology market saw some rotation, as companies such as Facebook and Netflix
struggled.

6.2

Newton outperformed the benchmark. Their overweight position in information technology
provided a boost, particularly due to stocks in Apple, Microsoft and Sony and a zero weight
position in Facebook. Their holdings in UK equities detracted from performance. Harding
Loevner underperformed the benchmark during the quarter, largely due to stock selection in
information technology and consumer discretionary. They were underweight in US holdings and
correspondingly more heavily weighted in Europe and emerging markets, which also detracted
from performance. Schroders underperformed during another quarter in which momentum and
growth were the strongest styles. Their positioning in technology sectors and consumer
discretionary were detrimental to performance, particularly a lack of exposure to US information
technology stocks, such as Apple and Microsoft. Outside of these sectors, holdings in
healthcare and energy provided positive gains.

Page 28

Agenda Item 8

Equity performance – longer term
Manager

Benchmark
Return 1
Year

Fund
Return 1
Year

Relative

Fund
Return
Since
Inception
%

Relative

%

Benchmark
Return
Since
Inception
%

%

%

L&G

5.9

5.9

0.0

7.9

7.9

0.0

Newton

12.9

15.8

2.9

14.3

14.9

0.6

Harding
Loevner

12.9

17.0

4.1

14.3

16.3

2.0

Schroders

12.9

10.1

-2.8

14.3

13.2

-1.1

%

6.3

As shown in the table above, over the longer term L&G matched the benchmark during the
twelve months ended September 2018, Newton and Harding Loevner outperformed and
Schroders underperformed the benchmark. Since inception, L&G matched the benchmark,
Newton and Harding Loevner outperformed the benchmark and Schroders underperformed.

7.

Bond Performance
Bond performance for the latest quarter ended 30 September 2018
Target
Allocation
%

Fund
Allocation
%

Benchmark
Return
%

Fund
Return
%

Relative

UK Index Linked

6

7

-1.4

-1.1

0.3

Alpha Opportunities
Fund

9

7

0.2

0.3

0.1

TOTAL
(Weighted Average)

15

14

-0.5

-0.3

0.2

M&G

%

Page 29

Agenda Item 8

7.1

Geopolitical events, particularly in Italy and emerging markets drew the attention of fixed income
investors throughout the quarter, as currency and bond weakness in some countries increased
risk aversion across markets. Developed market government bonds ended the quarter slightly
higher. Italian government bonds were the most volatile, however the investment grade
corporate bond sectors of Europe, the UK and US performed better than their sovereign
counterparts, with the high yield markets continuing to perform well. Most corporate markets
experienced further volatility, although at lower than historical levels.

7.2

M&G outperformed the benchmark during the quarter. They continue to be defensively
positioned, given that credit spreads remain tight compared to longer term historic levels. M&G
prefers financial and industrial holdings compared to utility firms and their outperformance in the
Alpha Opportunities Fund is primarily attributed to industrial holdings. They took advantage of a
number of anomalies in relative value across the index-linked gilt yield curve and maintained
exposure to ultra-long index-linked gilts, versus shorter dated gilts.
Bond performance – longer term
Manager

7.3

Benchmark
Return 1
Year

Fund
Return
1 Year

Relative

Fund
Return
Since
Inception
%

Relative

%

Benchmark
Return
Since
Inception
%

M&G

%

%

UK Index Linked

1.4

1.7

0.3

9.0

9.4

0.4

Alpha
Opportunities
Fund

0.5

0.7

0.2

0.9

2.5

1.6

As shown in the table above, over the longer term both M&G portfolios outperformed the
benchmark during the twelve months ended September 2018. Both portfolios also
outperformed since inception.

%

Page 30

Agenda Item 8

8.

Pooled Multi-Asset Performance
Pooled Multi-Asset Performance for the latest quarter ended 30 September 2018
Manager

8.1

Target
Allocation
%

Fund
Allocation
%

Benchmark
Return
%

Fund
Return
%

Relative

Baillie Gifford

7.5

7

1.0

0.1

-0.9

Pyrford

7.5

6

1.0

0.8

-0.2

TOTAL POOLED
MULTI-ASSET

15

13

1.0

0.4

-0.6

%

Baillie Gifford underperformed the benchmark for the quarter. Detractors to performance
included holdings in commodities, active currency and emerging market bonds. Holdings in
infrastructure continued to produce good returns. Pyrford also underperformed during the
quarter. Their exposure to UK equities, particularly holdings in National Grid and Vodafone,
was one of the largest detractors to performance. However, returns from overseas equity
holdings and short duration bonds performed well.

Page 31

Agenda Item 8

Pooled Multi-Asset Performance – longer term
Manager

Benchmark
Return 1
Year

Fund
Return 1
Year

Relative

Fund
Return
Since
Inception
%

Relative

%

Benchmar
k Return
Since
Inception
%

%

%

Baillie
Gifford

3.7

1.2

-2.5

3.6

4.8

1.2

Pyrford

3.7

1.1

-2.6

3.6

3.6

0.0

%

8.2

Baillie Gifford and Pyrford both underperformed the benchmark during the twelve months ended
September 2018. Baillie Gifford outperformed the benchmark since inception and Pyrford
matched the benchmark since inception.

9.

Property Performance
Property Performance for the latest quarter ended 30 September 2018
Manager

Target
Allocation

Fund
Allocation

Benchmark
Return

%

%

BlackRock

5

Aviva
Invesco
9.1

Fund
Return
Capital
%

Total
Fund
Return
%

Relative

%

Fund
Return
Income
%

4

1.6

0.7

1.0

1.7

0.1

3

2

1.6

0.7

0.6

1.3

-0.3

2

2

1.6

0.9

1.2

2.1

0.5

%

Since March 2017, the fully committed sum of £15m has been with the Invesco fund. At 30
September 2018 Invesco’s asset value still reflects the original commitment and not yet a
meaningful performance component.

Page 32

Agenda Item 8

9.2

Intense demand for yield from income seeking investors has been holding up all of the UK
property market. The probability of a severe correction remains low, with yield-driven investor
demand for real estate set to persist in the current low interest rate environment.  Having been
on a slowing trend for much of the prior two years, retail sales growth enjoyed a resurgence
which has continued into the current quarter. Office lettings in Central London also performed
well. Although the industrial sector is still expanding, there are signs that activity within
manufacturing is slowing.

9.3

During the quarter BlackRock outperformed the benchmark. Holdings in industrials and office
performed strongly, the former as a result of increasing investor appetite and rental growth and
the latter due to active leasing and increasing occupancy in Birmingham Business Park.  Aviva
underperformed the benchmark. This is attributable to holdings in retail sector funds have
hindered performance and offset the outperformance of their other holdings. Standard Life UK
Retail Park Trust was a notable underperformer in the quarter. The Industrial Property
Investment Fund was the largest positive contributor to performance.

9.4

Property Performance – longer term
Manager

Benchmark
Return 1
Year
%

Fund
Return 1
Year
%

Relative

Fund Return
Since
Inception
%

Relative

%

Benchmark
Return Since
Inception
%

RREEF/
BlackRock

8.9

8.7

-0.2

4.7

1.8

-2.9

AVIVA

8.9

6.2

-2.7

8.2

7.6

-0.6

%

Page 33

Agenda Item 8

9.5

As shown in the table above, both Blackrock and Aviva underperformed the benchmark during
the twelve months ending September 2018 and both managers underperformed the benchmark
since inception.

10.

Alternatives Performance
Alternatives Performance for the latest quarter ended 30 September 2018
Manager

Benchmark
Allocation
%

Fund
Allocation
%

Fund Return

Partners Group Global 2012

2.8

2.2

4.2

Partners Group Direct 2015

1.1

0.4

4.0

Partners Group Global 2015

1.1

0.5

4.1

0

0.1

1.2

M&G – UK Companies Financing
Fund

%

10.1 Partners Group and M&G are not measured as part of the Fund’s overall strategic benchmark.
It is currently difficult to assess Partners Group’s relative performance because the committed
capital is still to be drawn down and deployed.
10.2 M&G’s return of 1.2% for the quarter represents income of £5k earned during the quarter. No
income was distributed during this quarter.
Alternatives Performance – longer term
Manager

Partners Group Global 2012
Partners Group Direct 2015
Partners Group Global 2015
M&G – UK Companies
Financing Fund

Fund Return 1
Year
%

Fund Return Since
Inception
%

16.9

11.1

7.8

-15.7

2.2

-4.3

4.2

4.3

Page 34

Agenda Item 8

11.

Targets - Annualised Rolling 3 Years to 30 September 2018

11.1 The annual performance targets for equities, bonds and pooled multi-asset fund managers are
set over a rolling three year period.
11.2 The table below shows that over the three year rolling period Harding Loevner, Baillie Gifford
and Pyrford outperformed the benchmark, while Newton and Schroders underperformed. With
the exception of Harding Loevner, all managers have underperformed the target over the same
period.
Manager

Newton

3 Yr
Benchmark
Return

Target 3 Yr
Return

3 yr Fund
Return

Relative
to
Benchmark

Relative to
Target

%

%

%

%

%

19.5

21.5

17.7

-1.8

-3.8

During 2014 and 2015 Newton maintained an outperformance position, which was largely
driven by good stock selection in consumer stocks, information technology and the financial
sectors. During 2016 Newton’s performance deteriorated and this is attributable to sector
allocation, being underweight in the better performing sectors and overweight in the less well
performing sectors, as well as their defensive stance which damaged relative performance.
This underperformance continued into 2017 until the second quarter, when sector allocations,
particularly in financials and IT produced strong returns. During the third quarter of 2017
sector allocation was a drag on performance. The decline of equity markets in the first
quarter of 2018 made it difficult to fully recover their position, however they outperformed in
the second and third quarters.
Harding Loevner

19.2

22.2

23.0

3.8

0.8

Harding Loevner maintained a relatively consistent outperformance position over the last
three years. This is attributed to good stock selection in the most resilient sectors, particularly
in healthcare, information technology and financials. Despite the volatility of equity markets
during the first quarter of 2018, they continued to outperform until the second quarter.
However, during the third quarter poor stock selection in information technology and
consumer discretionary hurt performance, along with an underweight position in US holdings.
Good stock selection in other regions had previously compensated for this. These factors
caused the manager to underperform during the quarter.
Schroders

19.2

22.2

17.8

-1.4

-4.4

Schroders’ value investment style (stocks in companies that the market has undervalued) has
lagged for several years against the quality growth investment style of the Fund’s other equity
managers. In late 2016 value was the best performing style, due to a significant market
rotation following the surprise US election result. However, the start of 2017 saw some
unwinding of this strong performance, as investors favoured growth over value by a significant

Page 35

Agenda Item 8

margin. In the final months of 2017 the market environment was more suited to Schroders’
strategy and they finished the quarter ahead of the benchmark. The volatile environment
continued to benefit their style during the first quarter of 2018, but they slightly
underperformed by the end of that period. During the second quarter value investing
struggled. This position continued during the third quarter.
Baillie Gifford

3.6

6.6

5.3

1.7

-1.3

During 2014 Baillie Gifford had a relatively strong year, benefitting from positive contributions
from listed equities and emerging market bonds. Performance in 2015 was more mixed with
exposure to economically sensitive assets, such as high yield and emerging market bonds
struggling, balanced to some extent by positives from exposure to listed equities. In 2016
performance was ahead of target with the top contributors to performance being economically
exposed asset classes such as high yield credit, listed equities and emerging market bonds.
Active currency also contributed positively. During 2017, largely the same asset classes
continued to be the main source of added value. Holdings in absolute return, insurance linked
securities and developed market government bonds were the main detractors. In the volatile
first quarter of 2018, holdings in absolute return boosted performance, while listed equities
and infrastructure detracted. A significant setback to performance came during the second
quarter, due to holdings in emerging market bonds. This continued into the third quarter,
along with holdings in commodities and active currency.
Pyrford

3.6

6.6

4.7

1.1

-1.9

Pyrford’s positive absolute performance in 2014 was countered by some underperformance in
2015, when the strategy struggled as markets fell sharply in Q2 and Q3. From the last
quarter of 2015 onwards Pyrford outperformed consistently over 12 months, helped by
unhedged position in overseas equity and bonds until the second quarter of 2017. The
reversal of fortune was linked to the equity portion of their portfolio, having been positioned in
high dividend paying defensive sectors perceived as sensitive to rising bond yields. The
portfolio’s bond holdings also produced negative returns, as government bond yields
continued to edge up. Pyrford returned to outperformance during the second quarter of 2018,
seeing positive returns from both equities and bonds in the UK and overseas, however they
underperformed during the third quarter, largely attributed to exposure to UK equities.
12.

Options Considered

12.1 Not applicable.
13.

Impacts and Implications
Financial

13.1 The financial implications are addressed within the report.

Page 36

Agenda Item 8

Legal
13.2 There are no legal issues arising from this report.
14.

Appendices and Background Documents
Appendix letter

Title

A

Current Investment Strategy Benchmarks and Targets

B

Manager Fees - Exempt on the basis of Paragraph 3, Schedule 12A of
Local Government Act 1972

Background documents
Northern Trust Investment Performance Reports

Audit Trail
Version

Final

Date: 8 November 2018

Finance

Yes

Paul Audu

Legal

No

N/A

Equality Impact Assessment
required?

No

N/A

Consultation with other officers

Page 37

Agenda Item 8
APPENDIX A

CURRENT INVESTMENT STRATEGY BENCHMARKS AND TARGETS
Each manager has been set a specific benchmark as well as a performance target against which they
will be measured. This is shown in the table below. The Fund’s strategic asset allocation benchmark
is shown in the performance tables.
Manager

Mandate

Tactical Benchmark

Performance Target

Newton

Global equity pooled
fund - active

MSCI All Countries World NDR Index

2% above benchmark over
rolling 3 year period (gross of
fees)

Harding
Loevner

Global equity pooled
fund – active

MSCI All Countries World NDR Index

3% above benchmark over
rolling 3 year period (gross of
fees)

Schroder

Global equity pooled
fund - active

MSCI All Countries World NDR Index

3% above benchmark over
rolling 3 year period (gross of
fees)

Legal &
General

UK Global equities
pooled fund – passive

UK - FT All Share Index

To track the benchmark

Baillie
Gifford

Pooled multi asset

3 month LIBOR + 3%

3% above benchmark over
rolling 3 year period (gross of
fees)

Pyrford

Pooled multi asset

3 month LIBOR + 3%

3% above benchmark over
rolling 3 year period (gross of
fees)

M&G

Bonds - Alpha Fund

3 Month LIBOR + 3%

3 Month LIBOR + 3 to 5 %.

M&G

Bonds - Index Linked

FTSE A British Government Over 5 Years
Index-Linked

0.75% above benchmark over
rolling 3 years period (gross of
fees)

RREEF/
BlackRock

Pooled Property
Funds

IPD UK All Pooled Property Funds Index

To outperform the benchmark

AVIVA

Property Fund of
Funds

IPD UK All Pooled Property Funds Index

To outperform the benchmark

Partner’s
Group

Infrastructure

No tactical benchmark, but targets an
absolute return of 8% per annum

No outperformance objective

M&G

UK Companies
Financing Fund

No tactical benchmark, but assessed
against 7 day LIBID and targets return of
10% pa net of fees

No outperformance objective

Invesco

Residential Property

No tactical benchmark, but targets an
absolute return of 8% to 10% per annum

No outperformance objective

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 39

Agenda Item 10

Report to:

Pension Committee

Date:

19 November 2018

Report title:

Government Actuary Department (GAD) Section 13 Report

Report from:

Gerald Almeroth, Strategic Director - Resources

Ward/Areas affected:

Borough Wide

Chair of Committee:

Councillor Jill Whitehead

Author(s)/Contact
Number(s):

Lyndsey Gamble, Head of Investment, Risk and Commercial Finance Resources 020 8770 5358
Paul Audu, Investment, Insurance and Commercial Manager Resources 020 8770 5436

Corporate Plan Priorities:
Open/Exempt:

●

Making Informed Choices

Open

Signed:

Date:

08 November 2018

1.

Summary

1.1

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) has published the first
statutory review of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). The Government Actuary’s
Department (GAD) was appointed by the MHCLG to report under section 13 of the Public
Service Pensions Act 2013 in connection with the triennial actuarial valuations of the 91 LGPS
Funds in England and Wales. The formal GAD section 13 report can be viewed via the
background documents below.

1.2

The purpose of this report is to inform the Pension Committee that Sutton Pension Fund
achieved a positive outcome in the GAD review of the actuarial valuations of LGPS Funds in
England and Wales as at 31 March 2016 contained in a report published on 27 September
2018.

2.

Recommendation
The Pension Committee is recommended to:

2.1

Note the content of this report.

2.2

Note Sutton Pension Fund’s good performance in the GAD’s rigorous test against four statutory
measures: compliance, consistency, solvency and long-term cost efficiency.

Agenda Item 10

Page 40

2.3

Note that GAD has reported that, in general, the LGPS is in good health financially and
Funds have made significant progress since the 2013 valuation to meet all the assessment
criteria.

2.4

Note that GAD’s appointment to report under section 13 does not confer any statutory
power on the Government Actuary to enforce actions on administering authorities or their
advisers.

3.

Background

3.1

Section 13 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 requires GAD to report on whether LGPS
administering authorities in carrying out actuarial valuations achieve the following key aims;
compliance, consistency, solvency and long-term cost efficiency. A review (‘Dry Run’) was
carried out by GAD in respect of the 2013 valuations and its landmark report was published in
2016.

3.2

The latest section 13 report based on the valuations of all LGPS Funds in England and Wales
and supporting data provided by administering authorities, and their actuaries, is the first formal
section 13 report produced by GAD.

3.3

Under subsection (4) of section 13, GAD is required to report whether LGPS authorities adhere
to four main aims:

3.4

3.5

●

Compliance - whether the valuation approach is in line with the scheme regulations

●

Consistency - whether the valuation approach is consistent with methods adopted by other
authorities

●

Solvency - whether the employer contribution rate is appropriate to ensure the solvency of
the pension fund; and

●

Long-term cost efficiency - whether the employer contribution rate is appropriate to ensure
the long-term cost efficiency of the pension fund and the scheme.

Each pension fund’s score for each measure is “flagged” (colour coded RAG status) as follows:
●

Green Flag - No material issues to require a recommendation for remedial action from a
solvency or long-term cost efficiency perspective

●

Amber Flag - Potential issue but on its own would not merit a recommendation for remedial
action from a solvency or long-term cost efficiency perspective

●

Red Flag - Potentially material issue likely to constitute grounds for a recommendation for
remedial action from a solvency or long-term cost efficiency perspective

If GAD determines that one or more of the four aims have not been met, the report may
recommend (and the administering authority must take) appropriate remedial steps. Flags help
GAD to determine whether further investigation is necessary.

Page 41

4.

Issues

4.1

LGPS Section 13 Review: 2013 to 2016

4.2

The highlights of the GAD section 13 report are:
●

The market value of LGPS total assets has increased from £180bn in 2013 to £217bn in
2016.

●

Aggregate funding level has improved from 79% to 85%. This is partly attributed to better
than expected returns on assets.

●

Total employer contributions received was £6.9bn per annum on average of which about
£2bn per annum was in respect of deficit recovery payments.

●

Out of the 89 Funds tested, 70 (or 78.7%) achieved green flags on solvency and long-term
cost efficiency metrics. This compares favourably with 52 out of 90 Funds tested for the
2013 Dry Run report.

●

20 Funds received Amber flags and 2 Funds got Red flags. At the 2013 test, there were 58
Amber flags and 5 Red flags.

●
●

Sutton Pension Fund received Green flags on all measures in the 2016 GAD review.
With regards to the solvency measure, Sutton Pension Fund had one of the lowest Asset
Shock (defined as the change in average employer contribution rates as a percentage of
Core Spending Power or financing data after a 15% fall in value of return-seeking assets)
level of 1.3% with scores ranging from surplus (the best) to 7.4% (the worst). This measure
shows the impact on total employer contribution rates of a one-off decrease in the value of
Sutton’s return-seeking assets as defensive assets are assumed to be unaffected.
For long-term cost efficiency measure, Sutton scored 6.4 and ranked 36th out of 90.
In their review, GAD used the SAB funding level (an indication of the extent of remedial
action that may be required to ensure solvency). This means that local funding levels are
restated onto the SAB standardised basis. Sutton’s local funding level (80%) was ranked
about mid-table but on the SAB standard basis the funding level was (86%) ranked towards
the upper end of the bottom quartile, indicating that the local fund basis is about in line with
the other funds.

●
●

4.3

Agenda Item 10

In the section 13 report, GAD makes a number of recommendations and urges the Scheme
Advisory Board (SAB) to recommend changes to the Government ahead of the next triennial
valuation. GAD’s general recommendations are:

Agenda Item 10

5.

Page 42

●

That SAB should explore the implementation of a standardised approach to presentation of
actuarial reports across the LGPS to promote greater transparency and support peer group
comparison.

●

That SAB consider pushing for better clarity and consistency in actuarial assumptions with
limited scope for local discretion.

●

That SAB aim to secure parity in valuation approach for future academies

●

That administering authorities review their funding strategy to ensure that the policy around
surplus and deficits is consistent with CIPFA guidance. The deficit recovery plan should be
on a continuum giving regard to actual fund experience.

Impacts and Implications
Financial

5.1

There are no financial implications arising from this report.
Legal

5.2

There are no legal implications arising from this report.

Page 43

6.

Agenda Item 10

Appendices and Background Documents

Appendix Letter
None

Title
N/A

Background documents
1.GAD Report, 27 September 2018 - Local Government Pension Scheme England and
Wales: Review of the Actuarial Valuations of Funds as at 31 March 2016 Pursuant to Section
13 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 - Executive Summary
2. GAD Report, 27 September 2018 - Local Government Pension Scheme England and
Wales: Review of the Actuarial Valuations of Funds as at 31 March 2016 Pursuant to Section
13 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 - Full Report
3. GAD Report, 27 September 2018 - Local Government Pension Scheme England and
Wales: Review of the Actuarial Valuations of Funds as at 31 March 2016 Pursuant to Section
13 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 - Report Appendices

Version

Final

Date: 8 November 2018

Finance

Yes

Lyndsey Gamble

Legal

No

N/A

Equality Impact Assessment
required?

No

N/A

Consultation with other officers

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 45

Agenda Item 11

Report to:

Pension Committee

Report title:

Updates on Pensions Landscape

Report from:

Gerald Almeroth, Strategic Director - Resources

Ward/Areas affected:

Borough Wide

Chair of Committee:

Councillor Jill Whitehead

Author(s)/Contact
Number(s):

Lyndsey Gamble, Head of Investment, Risk and Commercial Finance Resources 020 8770 5358

Corporate Plan Priorities:

Paul Audu, Investment, Insurance and Commercial Manager Resources 020 8770 5436
● Making Informed Choices

Open/Exempt:

Open

Signed:

1.

Date:

Date:

19 November 2018

08 November 2018

Summary

1.1

The Public Service Pension Schemes (PSPS) environment continues to evolve for a variety of
reasons with consequences for the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).

1.2

This report provides an overview of recent key developments including; actuarial valuation of
PSPS, the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) Separation Project and SAB review of LGPS
third tier employers. The report considers the likely implications for the LGPS and it is aimed at
the Pension Committee for information.

2.

Recommendation
The Pension Committee is recommended to:

2.1

Note the content of this report.

3.

Background

3.1

Following the Independent Public Service Pensions Commission’s report in 2011, the
Government reformed PSPS introducing the Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE)
Scheme with effect from April 2015. Also, a new framework for quadrennial actuarial valuation
was established (with different three-yearly valuation dates for the LGPS). The purpose of the
four-yearly valuation cycle is to support better alignment and risk-sharing between scheme
members and taxpayers.

Agenda Item 11

Page 46

3.2

In the Draft Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) (Amendment)
Directions 2018, the Government (Her Majesty’s Treasury) believes that extending the
four-yearly actuarial valuation cycle to the LGPS will minimise complications and assist with
transparent and meaningful comparisons with the other public service pension schemes.

3.3

The LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB), established under the Public Service Pensions Act
2013, advises the Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG) on the development of the LGPS. The SAB has commissioned work to
develop options for change with regard to the separation of LGPS pension funds and their hosts
(administering authorities) with a view to making recommendations to the Secretary of State.

4.

Issues
Updates on Pensions Landscape
Public Service Pension Schemes Valuations

4.1

On 6 September 2018, the Chief Secretary to the Treasury (CST), Elizabeth Truss, announced
details of the four-yearly valuation of the public service pension schemes, including the LGPS in
England and Wales. The written Ministerial Statement can be found at Appendix A of this
report.

4.2

In her Statement, the CST noted that initial results for the unfunded schemes show that
members will enjoy improved pension benefits between April 2019 and March 2023 whilst
employers contributions will need to increase. With respect to the funded LGPS, the SAB
operates an additional cost cap (scheme-specific target rate reflecting the cost of benefit
accrual in the scheme) process. Accordingly, the SAB process will be allowed to complete
before the Treasury’s proposed cost control mechanism is tested.

4.3

Should the SAB cost control review recommend changes to the LGPS, and the Government
accepts the recommendations, the Treasury’s cost cap process will be adjusted to reflect the
change. The Treasury has announced that, in the event of such change, the scheme valuation
will change from the current three-yearly to a four-yearly cycle in line with other public service
scheme valuations. Whilst there is no direct impact on local LGPS Fund valuation, discussions
are taking place between the MHCLG, Local Government Association (LGA) and scheme
actuaries to consider the implications for valuations at the local level.
The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) Separation Project

4.4

In 2015, the SAB commissioned KPMG to consider the issues and explore options for
separating LGPS pension funds from their administering authorities. A copy of the KPMG report
can be found at Appendix B of this report. After this initial work, the project was halted due to
conflicting priorities. SAB has now agreed to continue the exercise as part of its 2018/19 Work
Programme.

4.5

There are two options under consideration:
Separation within existing structures - this option involves greater ring-fencing of the pensions
function with the use of delegation to transfer pension fund responsibilities from section 151
officers to other officers or requiring administering authorities to create dedicated senior officer
positions to assume full responsibilities for the pension fund. Either way, administering

Page 47

Agenda Item 11

authorities would be required to establish a discreet organisational unit. In addition, this option
proposes amending the Accounts and Audit Regulations to require pension fund financial
statements to be prepared and reported outside the host authorities’ accounts. This means
separate budgets have to be set for all pension fund activities together with distinct audit
arrangements and separate Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for pension funds. Also,
there would be upfront funding of pension budgets rather than internal recharging, minimum
data and service standards and mandatory consultation with scheme employers and other
member representatives on actuarial valuation, Funding Strategy Statements and Investment
Strategy Statements.
Separation via new structures - this option involves local authorities delegating complete
scheme manager function to alternative entities that would retain some democratic
accountability. The new entities would be responsible for all decisions relating to the
management and administration of the scheme including asset allocation, administering
authority discretions, administration services, appointment of advisers and procurement of
services. This option proposes giving the new bodies a legal identity in the form of a combined
authority (avoiding the need for a lead authority or jointly owned company) and the constitution
of the new structures would be enshrined in a formal agreement with local authorities. This
means the new entities would be able to enter into various contracts to support service delivery
to the group of employers assigned to it by utilising existing local government legislation. The
assets and liabilities of existing authorities would be transferred to the new bodies albeit the
ownership of the assets will be unchanged.
LGPS third tier employers
4.6

As part of its 2016/17 Work Programme, SAB sought to identify potential funding, legal and
administrative issues and liabilities facing admitted and scheduled bodies with no tax-raising
Powers (Tier 3 employers) in England and Wales. For the avoidance of doubt, local authorities
and other public or statutory bodies with direct local or national taxpayer backing are Tier 1
employers. Academy Trusts are Tier 2 employers.

4.7

SAB worked with administering authorities to gather comprehensive data and appointed Aon to
assist with data analysis. Following extensive engagement with the main Tier 3 employers
including higher education, housing associations and charities, Aon presented a final draft
report to SAB in June 2018. The report made no recommendation but instead outlined various
issues raised by stakeholders and ideas for resolving the concerns.

Page 48

Agenda Item 11

4.8

Issues raised by Tier 3 employers are:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Difficulties providing data
Reliance on administering authority communications
Cost of participation/exit and perceived strong covenant
Poor experience of triennial valuations
Possible inconsistency of responses/lack of understanding
Possible lack of appreciation of the value of benefits
Lack of awareness of 50:50 option
Lack of consistency across Funds
Mixed experience of administering authorities
Inconsistency of funding treatment
Redundancy costs for transfers-in/linked benefits
Lack of representation/influence
Effect on business planning
Lack of flexibility
Lack of transparency and inconsistency in valuation approach

4.9

SAB agreed the publication of Aon’s report and a working group drawn from SAB members
has been set up to review Tier 3 employers’ concerns detailed in the report and consider how
the issues might be resolved. The working group will report back later this year with some
recommendations for consideration. Scheme stakeholder will get the opportunity to comment on
SAB’s recommendations prior to the Board making any formal approach to Ministers to change
scheme regulations or guidance. Aon’s report can be found at Appendix C of this report.

5.

Impacts and Implications
Financial

5.1.

There are no financial implications arising from this report.
Legal

5.2.

There are no legal implications arising from this report.

Page 49
6.

Agenda Item 11

Appendices and Background Documents
Appendix letter

Title

A

Chief Secretary to the Treasury’s update to Parliament: Quadrennial
valuations of the public service pension schemes: Written statement HCWS945

B

LGPS Scheme Advisory Board - Reviewing the options for greater
separation - KPMG Draft - 14 September 2015

C

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS - Aon Report, September 2018

Background Documents
1. Government Actuary Department (GAD) Technical Bulletin - Public Service Pension
Schemes: valuations update 7 September 2018
2. Minutes of SAB Board meeting held on 10 October 2018

Audit Trail
Version

Final

Date: 8 November 2018

Consultation with other officers
Finance

Yes

Lyndsey Gamble

Legal

N/A

N/A

Equality Impact Assessment

N/A

N/A

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 51

Agenda Item 11

Written Ministerial Statement : ELizabeth Truss : Chief Secretary
to the Treasury : 6th September 2018
Quadrennial valuation of public service pension schemes
We undertake valuations of the public service pension schemes every four
years. This is the first time that a full assessment of the pension schemes
has been undertaken since the government introduced reformed schemes
in 2015. The reform of the schemes addressed the rising cost of pensions,
rebalancing taxpayer and member costs to ensure that public pensions
were put on to an affordable and sustainable footing. The valuations are
important as they ensure that the full costs of the schemes are
understood and fully recognised by government.
Today I am publishing a document that sets out how the valuations are to
be conducted this year. The document sets a range of assumptions that
departments and the Scottish and Welsh governments must use in
finalising their valuations of public service pension schemes. Our initial
results show that the protections in the new cost cap mechanism mean
public sector workers will get improved pension benefits for employment
over the period April 2019 to March 2023. This test, known as the cost
control mechanism, was introduced to offer taxpayers and employees
protection from unexpected changes in pension costs. Where the value of
the pension scheme to employees has changed from the levels set when
reformed pension schemes were introduced in 2015, steps must be taken
to return costs to that level.
There are currently more than 5 million active members of the public
service pensions schemes, which cover the NHS, teachers, the armed
forces, the police, firefighters, local government workers, judiciary and
civil servants. The outcome of the valuations and the cost control
mechanism will be confirmed later this year. Secretaries of State, and
Scottish and Welsh Ministers, will then consult the appropriate Scheme
Advisory Board, which consist of member and employer representatives
for each of the pension schemes, to reach agreement on the steps to be
taken to return costs to their target level. Where it is not possible to
reach agreement, the legislation provides that remedy will be delivered by
increasing the rate at which pension benefits accrue. Changes will be
implemented with effect from April 2019. An additional process operates
in the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) (England and Wales)
run by the LGPS England and Wales Scheme Advisory Board. In
accordance with stated policy, this will be allowed to complete before the
HM Treasury cost control mechanism is tested.
We committed to keep the cost control mechanism under review. I will
therefore be asking the Government Actuary to undertake a review of the
mechanism to check whether it is working as intended and delivering
government’s objective to protect taxpayers and workers from unforeseen

Agenda Item 11

Page 52

changes in pension costs. We are committed to fairly remunerating public
sector workers and to implementing the results of the valuations, but it is
right that we examine whether the mechanism is operating appropriately
and in line with the original policy intentions. The scope of the review will
be limited to the design of the cost cap mechanism. The review will
conclude in time for the next four-yearly round of valuations.
In addition, early indications are that the amount employers pay towards
the schemes will need to increase. This is because of proposed changes to
the discount rate, which is used to assess the current cost of future
payments from the schemes, to reflect the Office for Budget
Responsibility’s long-term growth forecasts. Further details will be known
later this year. Some increase in costs was anticipated at Budget 16,
which departments and the devolved administrations will need to meet in
full. Treasury will be supporting departments with any unforeseen costs
for 2019/20. Further discussions will be taken forward as part of the
Spending Review.
The document is being published in draft form to allow employee
representatives, public service employers and departments time to
comment. Decisions will be confirmed later in the autumn, following
statutory consultation with the Government Actuary.

Page 53

LGPS SCHEME
ADVISORY
BOARD
Reviewing the options for
greater separation – DRAFT
14 September 2015

Agenda Item 11

This review is centred around the issue of conflicts in the LGPS. This is principally in relation to the management of potential conflicts so that the chances of an actual conflict and the difficulties
that may ensue are reduced. We make general references to 'conflicts' in this report in this context. For example, conflicts exist where the Administering Authority sits within the Host Authority
and the Host Authority could seek to influence the pace of funding by exerting pressure on the Section 151 Officer, or where the Administering Authority is not able to effectively resource the
pensions function and is not able to effectively manage recharges.

Agenda Item 11

KEY FINDINGS

In principle, the greater the separation between the Pension Funds and the employers, the lesser the risk of conflicts arising. Hence this project is about looking at options for greater separation.
Wrapped into any review of conflicts are the wider issues of administration and investment performance, best practice and cost reduction measures (for instance where greater separation leads
to greater costs). We integrate comments on these wider issues in our review of conflict management where appropriate for further consideration.
Clear roles
There are three key roles in relation to the operation of a Fund – administration, investment of assets and ensuring financial probity. Conflicts are reduced if the Section 151 Officer
does not carry out these roles.

•

Conflicts are also reduced if a named pensions officer who takes on these responsibilities is wholly accountable to a Section 101 Committee to which the administration and
investment of assets responsibilities have been delegated. There would be additional benefits in having a dedicated pensions team which reports to the named pensions officer and
works solely for the pensions function. The named pensions officer could be accountable directly to the Chief Executive Officer, with the appropriate responsibility attached to that
role to enable them to effectively carry out the operation of the Fund.

•

In order for the Section 151 Officer to delegate the financial probity responsibilities to the named pensions officer changes to the Local Government Act 1972 would be required.

Financial separation
•

Conflicts would be reduced and there would be greater financial transparency by the Fund being made subject to an independent audit and annual governance statement and the
named pensions officer being responsible for the Fund’s financial probity (for example through delegation by the Section 151 Officer).

Review of options
•

Option 1: For Funds with many Local Authority employers, by taking certain steps (see the examples illustrated above) the material residual risks would be in relation to
management of employers and non-compliance with IORP. The additional costs of this option for these Funds would not be significant.

•

Option 2: For Funds with one Local Authority employer, this option would better manage conflicts and costs increases than Option 1 as it helps to reduce the conflict relating to the
risk of a single, dominant employer and to reduce the additional costs. The additional benefits of moving from a Joint Committee to a Combined Authority are limited. The material
risks remaining would be in relation to management of all employers and IORP non-compliance.

•

Option 3: Complete separation would mitigate potential risks to be broadly in line with those existing in Trust based schemes, but would come with significant implementation costs
and management time. It could also lead to a change in behaviour in relation to areas such as investment strategy.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

1

Page 54

•

CONTENTS
Key Findings

1

Introduction

4

Background

5

Conflicts

7

Behavioural Change

8

Role of the Pensions Board

9

Executive Summary

15

Current Position

24

Market Examples

31

Analysis – Option 1

35

Analysis – Option 2

44

Analysis – Option 3

54

Analysis Summary

63

Your team

66

Appendices

68

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

11

Page 55

Approach

2

Agenda Item 11

Page 56

INTRODUCTION
The Local Government Pension Schemes (LGPS) Scheme Advisory Board (the Board) is established under
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 to advise the Secretary of State for Communities and Local
Government on the development of the Local Government Pension Scheme.
In support of its work plan for 2015-16, the Board invited
proposals from interested parties to assist it in developing
options with regard to the increased separation of LGPS and
their Host Authorities for consideration prior to potentially
making recommendations to the Secretary of State.

This report has been prepared by KPMG for the Local
Government Association (the LGA) in accordance with the
terms of our Engagement Letter dated 6 August 2015. The
report can be shared with the Board for the benefit of the
Board.

The purpose of this report is to set out our findings of the
review of the proposed options as listed below with regard
to the increased separation of LGPS Pension Funds and
their Host Authorities with a particular focus on conflicts of
interest .
OPTION 1
Stronger role for Section 151 Officer within a
distinct entity of the Host Authority

OPTION 2
Joint Committee of two or more Administering
Authorities

OPTION 3

We asked Wragge Lawrence Graham & Co LLP
(Wragges) to submit a proposal in parallel with ours in
respect of the legislative requirements to implement the
three options. This report should be considered in
conjunction with Wragges’ report.

RELIANCE ON THE REPORT
The report is prepared for the Local Government Association
and should not be used or relied on by any other person or
organisation, who would do so at their own risk. KPMG LLP
accepts no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to
any other person.
The report is prepared for discussion in the Board meeting
on 21 September 2015 and will only be released to the
public if KPMG LLP are informed in advance along with an
explanation of why the report is to be released.

Agenda Item 11

Complete separation of the Pension Fund from the
Host Authority

For each option, our review includes a detailed analysis
covering the detail set out in the proposal for assistance
dated 16 June 2015.

Page 57

KPMG submitted a proposal to assist the Board with this
work and on 21 July 2015 the Board appointed KPMG to
carry out this review.

PURPOSE

NEXT STEPS
To deliver this report to the Board at its next meeting on 21
September for consideration prior to potentially making
recommendations to the Secretary of State.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

4

CURRENT POSITION
Whilst the LGPS in England and Wales is one pension
scheme, it is comprised of 88 different Administering
Authorities. The size of the Funds varies widely, as do the
arrangements for their management. In some instances,
pensions operations are integrated within the Finance and
other functions of the relevant Administering Authority; in
others, discrete pensions units have been created to take
on the task.

As part of the Board’s work plan for 2014/15 the
Governance and Standards sub-committee was asked to
consider the level of separation between the Scheme
Manager function from that of the Host Authority; the
desirability of increasing the separation; and to make
recommendations to the Board on ways in which greater
separation could be achieved.

Distinct entity within Host Authority (i.e. group the
responsibility for all LGPS related activities within one
function)

•

Joint Committee

•

Dedicated Authority (i.e. a Combined Authority)

•

Dedicated Public Body (not Local Authority) (pensions
body created by a government department to take
over the role of Scheme Manager within the LGS
which would remain in the public sector but would not
be Local Authority)

Each of the five options was initially considered against a
set of 10 criteria, however following the first meeting of
the working group it was agreed to reduce the criteria to
the following:
•

Accountability

•

Compliance (with Institutions for Occupational
Retirement Provision (IORP)) and removal of conflict
of interest

•

Financial Transparency

APPROACH SO FAR

•

Legislative Ease

•

Costs (Implementation and Ongoing)

A working group of the Governance and Standards SubCommittee was created and volunteers were sought to
play an active role in the work of this group.

•

Service to Stakeholders

That working group undertook a piece of work to
determine five or six possible options for reform to be
presented to the sub-committee for consideration.
The following potential options for reform were identified:
•

Stronger role for Section 151 Officer

The working group reported back to the Sub-Committee
for consideration and then agreed recommendations to
be sent up to the Board as requested.
Given the level of resource which will be required to fully
consider the options for recommendation to Department
for Communities and Local Government (DCLG), the
Board was asked to select a maximum of three of the
original five options for inclusion in the Board work-plan
for 2015/16.

The working group also recommended that the Board
include in the 2015/16 work-plan the commissioning of
a report setting out in detail the existing requirements
in this area across Administering Authorities in England
and Wales.
It was suggested at the time that such a report should
include clarification from Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) on financial
requirements and DCLG on regulatory requirements.
At the meeting the Board agreed to take forward the
following options into a report:
OPTION 1
Combine original options 1 and 2: Stronger role for
Section 151 Officer and formation of a distinct
entity within the Host Authority
OPTION 2
Original option 3: Joint Committee with
consideration of incorporating as a legal entity

OPTION 3
Original option 5: LGPS complete separation of the
pension institution from the sponsoring employer

We understand that our work, as part of this project, will
be now considered by the full Board.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

5

Page 58

BACKGROUND

•

Agenda Item 11

BACKGROUND

Page 59
Agenda Item 11

Agenda Item 11

CONFLICTS
The challenges relating to a pension scheme being run by one of its employers are not new and it has been
clear for a number of years that this gives rise to a number of conflict related risks. For example, the EU
through its 2003 IORP Directive is clear that employers should not be running their own pension schemes.

The key driver of this project to look at options for
greater separation is the effective management of
potential conflicts (which can lead to actual conflicts). This
is the main challenge that we address. To the extent that
the options lead to greater costs this prompts the need to
consider ways to mitigate costs, with Fund mergers
being one obvious example. Our work does not extend to
considering ways to reduce new costs which might arise
as a result of greater separation. However, there is clearly
a wider context in which we are providing our advice, one
in which other changes to the LGPS are being considered
(such as the pooling of investments) and we provide our
advice in this wider context.

Conflicts can arise for a number of reasons and
between a number of parties. In order to analyse fully the
advantages and disadvantages of the options for greater
separation we have identified the following main areas
where conflicts might arise:
•

Between the Section 151 Officer of the Host
Authority and other officers in the Host Authority (e.g.
the Section 151 Officer could be conflicted on
contribution rate increases at each valuation in their
dual role with responsibility for the Council cash costs
and duties regarding the financial probity of the Fund).

•

Between the Section 151 Officer of the Host
Authority and the Councillors on the Section 101
Committee (e.g. the Councillors on the Section 101
committee could look to seek local investment which
should be considered in the context of the Fund not
local political imperative).

•

Between the Host Authority and the other Local
Authorities in the same Fund (e.g. the Host Authority
may seek to obtain preferential treatment on the pace
of funding at the detriment of other Authorities).

•

Between the Local Authorities in a Fund and the
other employers (e.g. the Local Authority may seek
preferential treatment on funding versus other
employers and an example of this is academy
conversions where unfair treatment of academies
prevails.

The actuary and the other advisers to the Fund are
appointed by the Host Authority and might also be in a
position where they share some of the potential conflicts
listed above.
The conflicts might differ in nature depending on
whether they relate to the administration of the Fund or
the decisions about how the Fund assets should be
invested and we draw out these differences where
necessary.

Page 60

However, these risks have become more apparent in
recent times with the austerity agenda. For example,
conflicts have arisen in relation to the decision making
required in relation to resourcing Fund administration and
the recharges to be made to the Fund. Also, with a new
IORP Directive (mark 2) in the pipeline, the compliance or
otherwise of the LGPS with the EU regulations has been
discussed by the LGPS SAB (then in Shadow form), but
no definitive conclusions have yet been reached in
response to the Counsel’s opinion obtained in 2014.

Finally, the importance of the risks relating to these
conflicts could be considered to depend on the nature of
the statutory guarantee which applies to the LGPS.
Indeed, we are aware that some stakeholders in the
LGPS are relatively relaxed about some of the risks
because they hold the view that it will not impact on the
members’ benefits.
We have not considered in detail in this report whether
the existence of a statutory guarantee or otherwise
should change the outcome. Instead we have assumed,
for the purpose of this report, that with or without the
statutory guarantee, the need for fair treatment of all
members, of all employers and of Council taxpayers (for
example, across regional boundaries and generations)
should require conflicts to be managed as if there was no
statutory guarantee.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

7

BEHAVIOURAL CHANGE
Whilst a Local Authority remains as the Scheme
Manager, the role of the Section 151 Officer will be an
integral role and key to the success of the operation of
the Fund. The Section 151 Officer should understand
their regulatory duties and responsibilities for the Fund –
amongst their other duties – and fulfil them accordingly.

Section 151 Officers must also have the relevant skills
and expertise to be able to fully deliver their duties to the
pensions function.
There are a number of areas which require consideration
based on the current structures and practices (which
remain relevant even in a new structure such as Option 1,
with Section 151 Officer duties delegated to a named
pension officer):
1.

The role of the Section 151 Officer

Creating an awareness internally

There should also be emphasis placed on the duties of
the Section 151 Officer in relation to the financial probity
of the Fund by the Chief Executive of the Host Authority.
With greater clarity internally over the duties of the
Section 151 Officer to the Fund this could deter conflict
arising, or make any conflict situations more transparent
and easier to manage effectively.
3.

Training required to ensure the right skills and
expertise

A Section 151 Officer should have the knowledge and
understanding of (among other things) the LGPS
regulations, as well as the principles relating to the
funding of pension schemes, the investment of scheme
assets and the risk related to the employers in the Fund.
Whilst these functions will typically be delegated, the
Section 151 Officer should have the relevant skills and
expertise to understand the decisions that are being
made so that when conflicts arise, they can effectively
manage those conflict situations and safeguard the
financial probity of the Fund. This may require some
Section 151 Officers to acquire new knowledge and
demonstrate they have the right expertise and skills to
fulfil this role. Again there are parallels with the online
toolkit in the private sector in relation to Trustee
Knowledge and Understanding (TKU) that can be drawn
upon for driving a change in behaviours and implementing
best practice to ensure the right skills are acquired for the
job.

Ongoing measurement of skills

In order to ensure that the key skills are consolidated in to
the role of the Section 151 Officer, they should be
measured against how they perform in that element of
their role.
Aligning the skills and expertise required to fulfil duties to
the Fund set against the development and performance
plans for the Section 151 role will ensure that Section 151
Officers remain focussed on their duties to the Fund and
will help drive the change in behaviours and focus that is
required.
Under Option 1: Whilst the Section 151 Officer would
delegate some or all duties for the Fund to a named
pensions officer, there would be a need to ensure that
the Section 151 Officer and named pensions officer have
clarity over their role and duties and have the requisite
skills and experience to undertake those roles.
Under Option 2: There would be a number of Section 151
Officers who retain responsibility for their Funds whilst
there is likely to be a named pensions officer from the
Local Authority with delegation of some functions to the
Joint Committee. Therefore care would be required in
relation to delegation, the working relationship and the
roles of each party and how each party engages and the
recognition for the role that each party is undertaking.
Under Option 3: The complete separation of the function
would mean that it is likely that the role of the Section
151 Officer would no longer include the Fund. However
the separate public body will need to understand fully its
responsibilities to the Fund, to the members and the
employers.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

8

Agenda Item 11

A Section 151 Officer should fully understand their role
and responsibilities to the Fund which will assist them in
dealing with any conflicts that may arise. Ensuring they
understand what the role involves, what duties need to
be fulfilled and how they can be fulfilled may be an area
which requires some development. The online Trustee
toolkit which is used in the private sector to help new and
existing Trustees understand their role has been
successful in driving best practice and ensuring Trustees

2.

4.

Page 61

Where the Section 151 Officer may authorise others to
exercise delegated functions, any decisions taken under
this authority remain the responsibility of the Section 151
Officer who is accountable and responsible for those
decisions. This is an important point as based on our
evidence some Section 151 Officers do not demonstrate
to colleagues that they are accountable for those
delegated functions.

can deliver their legal obligations and in the same way
new tools could be made available.

One aspect of the 2013 Public Service Pensions Act that
has been the subject of interesting discussions amongst
the Local Government Pension Funds has been the role
of the newly formed Pensions Boards (PBs). Debate
continues as to the role of the PBs and how they will
interface with the existing pension committees i.e. the
Section 101 Committees.

Both the Pension Regulators’ Code of Practice (Number
14) and CIPFA’s Framework on governance offer useful
explanations of these duties, which effectively require
PBs to scrutinise how the pension scheme is run and
decisions are made.
While the Pension Regulators’ Code of Practice (Number
14) does not relates purely to the LGPS, (it covers public
service schemes) it may need to be reviewed once the
outcome of this options analysis is agreed.

Interestingly while the 2013 Act places a legal
requirement on members of the new PBs to undergo
training and to gain knowledge of pension issues, no such
requirement exists for members of Pension Fund
committees.

Option 2 presents an interesting challenge as a Joint
Committee covering several Administering Authorities
would potentially report to Section 101 Committees and
PBs for every Administrating Authority and would require
careful management. It would be an obvious step to have
a joint PB to match the Joint Committee, to avoid
unnecessary duplication of effort from the PB.

Page 62

There is clear separation of roles between the
committees insofar as Section 101 Committees are
primarily responsible for the funding decisions and
management of the LGPS Funds, whereas PBs have a
focus on governance, including administration and
delivery of benefits and service to the members, and in
particular that the scheme regulations are complied with.
They do however, have significant responsibilities for
ensuring that both risks and potential conflicts of interest
are managed.

Option 1 arguably requires little need to change the
current governance role of the PBs as the structure
remains largely ‘as is’. Conversely it offers an opportunity
for the PB to look at the residual risks and potential
conflicts of interest such as IORP. One of the PB’s roles
is to focus on conflicts and decision making and this
could be emphasised with revised guidance and terms of
reference templates.

Option 3 would offer the opportunity to simplify the
governance arrangements and to remove one layer of
management as the Section 101 Committees would
potentially become redundant. The PBs would still be
required, not only because the 2013 Act requires it, but
unless administration was also consolidated, the service
provided to members and employers would still require
management at a local level. However, there would be a
strong case for the PB to merge with the Trustee board.
In the post-Hutton environment there is a real opportunity
for better governance of LGPS Funds and specifically
scrutiny of how decisions are made and by whom. The
new PBs can assist the Scheme Managers by ensuring
they have the appropriate internal controls in place to
manage risks and minimise conflicts of interest.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

ROLE OF THE PENSIONS BOARD

9

Page 63
Agenda Item 11

OUR APPROACH
We have put the LGPS stakeholders at the heart of this
process. As such, we have worked with a number of
stakeholders and used a mixture of approaches to gather
information.
We believe this review should be outcome-focussed,
with a clear aim to analyse and identify the best possible
solutions, rather than getting bogged down in the details
of proposals that will ultimately not be delivered.

We believe that face-to-face interaction keeps
discussions at a high-level strategic nature and enables
focus on the most salient issues. We have therefore held
discussions with a number of parties in order to enhance
our analysis and have also incorporated KPMG experience
from a number of relevant specialists within our firm. To
ensure that the discussions with each party were
consistent we used a standard questionnaire throughout
the discussions.

We have also consulted other stakeholders to
supplement our research, including holding discussions
with CIPFA, DCLG and a member of the Board.

The view of Non-Administering Authorities and other
employers is vital and we have used our experience of
advising a range of LGPS employers to bring this
perspective into play.
We have also discussed the members’ perspective with
a Unison representative and the taxpayers’ perspective
with our contacts who are Councillors.

Page 64

DISCUSSIONS

We have gathered evidence from a selection of Host
Authorities, discussing this project with around twelve
Funds. This has included a wide range of different Funds
to ensure we cover a diversity of views and
circumstances.

Agenda Item 11

APPROACH

Key stakeholders
In addition to the members
themselves, the key stakeholders
in this project are as follows:

Pension
Committees
and Boards

Other
Employees
Scheme
Advisors

SAB
Members
The
Pensions
Regulator

We have had regular discussions with Liam Robson and
Jeff Houston of the LGA to gather the information, to
discuss our approach and to provide regular updates.
DCLG

Administering
Authorities

CIPFA

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

11

APPROACH
This report
This report is set out to initially review the current position
and to provide our analysis using our firm-wide
experience of working with the LGPS Funds.
We have then analysed the three options based

on the criteria set out below (as provided in the Board’s
document entitled “Options for separation of Host
Authority and Pension Fund – Proposal for assistance”
dated 16 June 2015):

1

6

4

2
The impact (positive and negative) on the
accountability of the Scheme Manager to
•

Scheme members

•

Scheme employers

•

Local taxpayers
3

The impact (positive and negative) on
Compliance with the IORP and in particular articles
8 and 18

•

Conflicts of interest between the scheme manger
and the Host Authority

The impact (positive and negative) on management
costs and funding or investment costs including

•

Production of comprehensive and clear accounts

•

Set up costs

•

Dedication of resources

•

Ongoing costs

•

Management and administration costs

•

Investment costs

7
The impact (positive and negative) on service
delivery to stakeholders including

5
The ease or complication of
the legislative requirements to implement the option, in
particular the need for new or amended
•

Primary legislation

•

Secondary legislation

•

Statutory guidance

•

Third party (e.g. CIPFA) codes
of practice/guidance

•

Scheme members

•

Scheme employers

•

Third parties (e.g. TPR, HMRC)

Please note we have only included high level
comments regarding criteria item 5, as legal advice
regarding these issues are provided in the Wragge
Lawrence Graham & Co LLP report dated 14
September 2015.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

•

The impact (positive and negative) on financial
transparency, in particular

Page 65

The end position together with the steps required to
reach that position

12

Agenda Item 11

APPROACH
DEALING WITH CONFLICTS

Between the
Section 151 Officer
of the Host
Authority and the
Councillors on the
Section 101
Committee

1

3

Page 66

Between the
Section 151 Officer
of the Host
Authority and
other officers in
the Host Authority

2
We have also split out our
analysis of the conflicts of
interest criteria (included in
item 3) into the four areas
identified on page 7

Between the Host
Authority and the
other Local
Authorities in the
same Fund

4
Between the Local
Authorities in a
Fund and the other
employers

Note: this categorisation of conflicts is not
intended to be exhaustive and alternative
approaches and additional conflicts could be
considered if required.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

13

Page 67
Agenda Item 11

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

SUMMARY OF CURRENT
POSITION

LESS SEPARATION
THAN OPTION 1

The diagram shows the advantages and disadvantages
across the relevant criteria for each of the three options.
For example, it demonstrates that across the eight
criteria, option 3 delivers greater separation in five of the
criteria, however it is likely to require greater legislative
changes and costs and lead to a lower level of democratic
accountability.

OPTION 1

OPTION 2

OPTION 3

Metropolitan
Funds
County Council
Funds

Page 68

London Borough
Funds

It also sets out how the different types of Funds currently
operate in broad terms. For example, the London
Pensions Fund Authority (LPFA) operates under option 3
whilst some of the Metropolitan Funds operate under a
model which is getting close to that envisaged under
option 1.
Note: that we have not undertaken a full market review of
all Funds and therefore this diagram is intended to be
broadly indicative. There may well be exceptions to the
‘rule of thumb’.

Agenda Item 11

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Unitary Funds
South Yorkshire
Pension
Authority

London
Pensions Fund
Authority

Accountability to scheme members and employers
Compliance with IORP
Conflicts of interest
Financial transparency
Legislative changes required
Costs
Service delivery
Democratic accountability

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

15

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Having the right personnel

There are currently a wide range of Funds with different
structures and governance procedures in place. For
example, Metropolitan Funds operate differently to
London Borough Funds and County Funds.

Conflicts can be managed in a number of ways, however
the key is to provide greater separation between the Host
Authority and the Fund. For example, if multiple Funds
operate jointly then there are more Councils involved and
each Authority has less ability to exert pressure and get
preferential treatment.

The ability to recruit personnel for the Fund should not sit
with the Host Authority. The pensions function should
control their personnel requirements and some relaxation
around Local Government wage structures to allow
recruitment of experts (e.g. investment consultants) is
required to carry out more tasks in-house.

The role of the Section 151 Officer

Driving a change in behaviours

The role of the local Pensions Board

The current role of the Section 151 Officer is conflicted
and not all Section 151 Officers have specific pensions
training. However, in many cases the majority of the role
is delegated with the Section 151 Officer often only
retaining an oversight role.

There are currently a number of codes in place setting out
best practice regarding recharges, for example, however
not all Funds have adopted them. There is a key change
in behaviour required by either promoting best practice or
making best practice mandatory.

When the Pensions Boards are more established the
increased scrutiny is likely to improve the running of the
Funds, as it should fall within their remit explicitly to
ensure conflicts of interest are managed.

Recognising the conflicts

Promoting best practice

Currently there are a number of conflicts of interest which
can be split out as follows:

The Funds should look to adopt best practice not only that
works well in other LGPS Funds but also in the private
sector, for example taking advantage of TPR’s Trustee
toolkit.

Diverse range of Funds

1) Between the Section 151 Officer of the Host Authority
and other officers in the Host Authority
2) Between the Section 151 Officer of the Host Authority
and the Councillors on the Section 101 Committee

The needs for separate accounts and Annual
Governance Statement
Adopting separate accounts and an Annual Governance
Statement will make the costs of running the Funds more
transparent.

4) Between the Local Authorities in a Fund and the other
employers

Effectively managing recharges
Guidance/Policies should be put in place to ensure that all
Funds are managing recharges consistently, for example
this could be through mandatory Service Level
Agreements, or policies on how recharges should be
calculated.

There is a cost involved under each option to implement
the change, therefore it is important to ensure the
benefits outweigh the cost.
The benefits of scale
Metropolitan Funds have more flexibility as they are
bigger and so have larger budgets. London Boroughs
could ensure they have the same capabilities through the
use of Joint Committees and shared service centres (e.g.
they could afford to have separate treasury functions).
The bigger picture
The options for greater separation need to be reviewed in
the context of other ongoing projects, for example
Collective Investment Vehicles, dealing with deficits, new
governance and austerity.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

16

Agenda Item 11

3) Between the Host Authority and the other Local
Authorities in the same Fund

The cost of implementing change

Page 69

Managing conflicts effectively

KEY FINDINGS

SUMMARY OF LEGISLATIVE
CHANGES REQUIRED
As part of the review of the options, it is important to
understand what would be required to implement each
option. There is potentially a need to amend legislation
and provide additional third party codes of
practice/guidance to drive best practice.

This summary is based on the separate legal advice
provided by Wragges dated 14 September 2015 and is
not based on KPMG’s advice.

OPTION 1

OPTION 2

OPTION 3

PRIMARY LEGISLATION







SECONDARY LEGISLATION







NON-STATUTORY GUIDANCE







THIRD PARTY CODES OF
PRACTICE/GUIDANCE







IORP COMPLIANT*







Shortest

Between
options 1 and 2
(longer if a
separate entity
is established
as a Combined
Authority)

Longest

TIME TO IMPLEMENT

Page 70

It is also worth noting that there may be a greater amount
of time required to implement some of the options
compared to others. The table on this page summarises
this at a high level.

Agenda Item 11

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

* Please note Wragges have not considered whether each option is IORP compliant in their separate legal advice
dated 14 September 2015. This is based on a KPMG non-legal view.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

17

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
SUMMARY OF COSTS
We have estimated the costs of implementing each of the options (further detail is provided in the Analysis section). This analysis of costs covers very approximately some of the extra
costs, but ignores at this stage things like the cost of redundancies should efficiencies be sought.
For the preferred option a full cost feasibly exercise should be carried out as part of the due diligence.

COSTS
ONE OFF SET UP COST

ONGOING COSTS OF OPERATION (PER
YEAR)

(e.g. accounts external audit, adhering to
procedures, receipt of external advice etc.)

OPTION 2A – JC

OPTION 2B - CA

OPTION 3

Nil

£25k to £30k

£50k to £60k

£200k – £300k

£100k – £200k
(one new appointed and
named pensions officers
plus additional staff)

£100k – £200k
(one new appointed and
named pensions officers plus
additional staff) (See note 1)

£30k – £50k

£30k - £50k

£200k – £300k
(See note 2)

£50k – £100k

Page 71

ADDITIONAL RESOURCING COSTS PER
AUTHORITY (PER YEAR)

OPTION 1

Circa £500k
(see note 3)

£100k – £200k

Note 1 – Estimated costs per Joint Committee with the likelihood that these costs would be shared by multiple Authorities and therefore the cost per Authority could be less than those
quoted.

Agenda Item 11

Note 2 – As above.
Note 3 – Estimate based on recruitment of a more senior team comprising market leading experts with wider roles, including focus on managing employer risk, and not bound by LG
wage structures.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

18

SUMMARY OF RESIDUAL
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
We have set out below the residual conflicts of interest
remaining after implementing each of the options (further
detail is provided in the Analysis section).

Agenda Item 11

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
RESIDUAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
OPTION 1
• The new senior officer is, however,
still conflicted as they would be
involved in the administration and day
to day management of the Fund and
would not have the relevant oversight

• There is still also a risk that as the
function is still performed within the
Host Authority with oversight from
the Host Authorities Councillors, that
the Host Authority receives
preferential treatment. This could,
however, be managed through
clearer guidance for dealing with all
employers in the Fund, including
different investment strategies being
offered for different categories of
employer or by adopting the TPR
approach to funding with more
emphasis on covenant, investment
and funding. More radical solutions
could be considered which would
involve structural reform of the LGPS
including a horizontal integration
approach to dealing with employers
of similar types

• The removal of the conflicts may be
dependent in part as to whether the
Joint Committee is a wholly owned
subsidiary of one of the Councils (as
this introduces a potential conflict
with the parent Council)
• There may be a fourth separation if
instead of a Joint Committee a
separate legal entity is set up as a
Combined Authority
• Members of the Combined Authority
could be nominated by the
constituent Authorities and so there
may still be some conflict between
their position as the representatives
of these Authorities and their duty to
safeguard the interests of the Fund
and its members

OPTION 3
• Option 3 is likely to lead to increased
opportunities but increased risks due
to lack of local government
control/input
• The conflicts that have been
identified earlier in this report (slide 7)
will be mitigated to the greatest
extent under this option through the
physical separation of the Pensions
Fund from the Host Authority and the
removal of decision making from
elected members. However other
residual conflicts will still remain. For
example, where the Scheme
Manager function is undertaken by
the equivalent of a Trustee board,
and who is appointed to the board,
there could be a conflict of interest.
Likewise typically Trustee boards
comprise interested parties such as
employer representatives, member
representatives from different
membership categories (pensioners,
active members) who will have
vested interests in the LGPS. There
may also be a role for an Independent
professional Trustee chair who may
have an interest in fulfilling their role
with a vested personal interest

Page 72

• This, however, is only the case if the
new senior officer is hands on. The
more senior the new senior officer is
and the less hands on they are, the
greater the potential to provide
financial oversight

OPTION 2

• These conflicts exist and are
recognised in the private sector and
can be effectively managed and so
we expect option 3 to require a
robust conflicts management process

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

19

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
OPTION 1
Stronger role for
Section 151 Officer
within a distinct entity
of the Host Authority

CURRENT POSITION
• A number of Funds demonstrate the main elements of option 1, namely a
single officer to whom all pensions functions are delegated by the Section
101 Committee (other than the decisions retained by the Section 101
Committee)
• Further improvements are required, but the risk mitigation may only
currently be sufficient for the Metropolitan Funds

KEY FINDINGS
• In order for option 1 to be most effective, the named pensions officer
could have delegated responsibilities from the Section 151 Officer and
would require pensions specific training which should be mandatory
• The key aim with this option is that the new senior officer has all pensions
responsibilities delegated to them and they need to set budgets alongside
the Section 101 Committee. The pensions team should also have a specific
pensions role and would work for pensions 100% of the time

Page 73

• Having separate audit opinions is likely to lead to more transparent costs,
particularly regarding recharges if these are scrutinised more due to
improved audit standards and more pensions expertise amongst the audit
teams. However, guidance on cost accounting also needs to be improved
• Separate treasury functions are also a key improvement required, but only
big Funds have the resources to have a separate treasury function and this
would lead to greater costs for small Funds
• This option is likely to mean increased ongoing staff costs (for the smaller
Funds) and audit costs. This could lead to increased costs of around £130k
to £250k a year and would further the need for smaller services to look at
ways of sharing costs
• This option would need changes to secondary legislation and the Accounts
and Audit Regulations 2015 and CIPFA guidance would also need changing

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

20

OPTION 2
Joint Committee of
two or more
Administering
Authorities

Agenda Item 11

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
CURRENT POSITION
• The South Yorkshire Pension Fund operates a
Combined Authority which would be a structure
that meets the criteria of option 2

• Option 2 has fewer conflicts of interest than option 1 as the influence of the Host Authority will be
diluted by the inclusion of multiple Authorities
• The Joint Committee has responsibility for decisions as delegated to it by the Section 151 Officer
but the pensions function remains within each Authority
• There remains a risk that if the Joint Committee is set up within the Host Authority or as a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Host Authority that the Host Authority receives preferential treatment.
• Further consideration is required as to how the Joint Committee treats and engages with
employers to ensure that the Councillors running the committee from each Local Authority do not
negotiate preferential treatment for the Local Authorities

Page 74

• However, it is similar to some extent to
Metropolitan Funds which are operating in
practice in a manner which ensures that all of the
Councils in the Fund are involved in joint decision
making. This ranges from those that consult to
those that have a joint working group with
representation from the Councils with the Section
101 Committee ratifying the decisions of the
working group

KEY FINDINGS

• The size of the Joint Committee and number of Funds involved needs to be considered. For
example, if the number of Funds is too big then the Joint Committee will be too big (i.e. 5 Funds
with 2 representatives each leads to a Joint Committee of 10 members). However, the pensions
team needs to be large enough to be viable
• The main concern with this option is that it leads to the lowest common denominator (i.e. it only
takes as much risk as the least risky Authority) and could operate with only one investment strategy.
However, this option requires a joint decision making panel so there is no reason why it could not
allow each Fund to continue with separate investment strategies, which would require consultation
and allow continuation of the democratic process
• This option is likely to lead to an additional two or three members of staff being required which
could cost around £100k to £300k, with initial set up costs of £25k to £30k. The ongoing operational
costs would be in the region of £30k to £50k.
• Option 2 is not IORP compliant
• If option 2 is chosen, there are a number of areas that need clarifying in order for it to operate well

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

21

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
OPTION 3
LGPS complete
separation of the
Pension Fund from the
Host Authority

CURRENT POSITION
• Option 3 is the most similar to the private sector where the
pension scheme is completely separate from the employer,
with separate bank accounts, structures, legal requirements,
etc.

• In addition, many Trustee groups include a professional Trustee
which leads to increased knowledge and a more professional
service. This could also be considered for the Board

• In order for option 3 to be implemented the questions regarding IORP and whether it
applies to LGPS Fund needs resolving, for example if there is full separation between
Local Authorities and the Funds is there a crown guarantee in place and if the Funds
are classified as government schemes? This would require lengthy legal discussions
and it could be a long time before the regulations can be amended
• This option is likely to require more complex legislative changes and it is likely to take
significantly longer than options 1 and 2
• Option 3 is likely to lead to significant set up costs, for example relating to changes in
legislation, setting up the structure and hiring new staff. However, the costs will vary
depending on whether staff can be transferred under TUPE rules and may be
recuperated over time due to decreased ongoing costs

Page 75

• The schemes are run by a group of Trustees (usually including
employer and employee representatives) and it is the Trustees’
responsibility to look after the members’ best interests. There is
also a requirement for these Trustees to undergo regular
training to ensure that they have the required knowledge to
perform their role and so they are able to question any
professional advice received from experts. Under option 3 we
would expect it to be a requirement that a similar level of
training is required for the members of the Board. This would
lend itself to an LGPS version of TPR’s Trustee Toolkit to be
designed for this purpose

KEY FINDINGS

• This option removes the conflict from the employer and pensions function which
could lead to better and fairer treatment of different types of employers and greater
transparency
• There are also more opportunities with option 3 to incorporate best practices from the
private sector in order to improve governance, etc.
• This option is likely to incur the greatest costs
• It will depend on the make up of the team and whether the team is made up of
market leading experts which can be recruited without being confined by LG wage
structures. Over time this may lessen the need for external consulting expertise and
drive cost efficiencies which we have not allowed for in our estimates
• A new team of experts could cost in the region of £500k, with initial set up costs of
£200k to £300k. The ongoing operational costs would be in the region of £100k to
£200k

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

22

Agenda Item 11

AN OVERVIEW

Page 76

CURRENT
POSITION

CURRENT POSITION
CRITERIA

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

DISADVANTAGES

Accountability of the Scheme
Manager to scheme members

• Currently some Funds are being run more in the best interests of
the employers rather than the employees as the employers pay the
majority of the contributions rather than simply in the best interest
of the employees

Accountability of the Scheme
Manager to scheme
employers

• Our experience of advising employers who participated in the LGPS
has provided us with valuable insight to draw upon. We are aware
that some employers believe that they are not being consulted
sufficiently, particularly around the time of the valuation and having
active dialogue around setting contributions that are in line with
their cost constraints

Page 77

• There are conflicts between employers and Local Authorities who
currently dominate as the largest employers within the Funds. This
translates in some instances into the Local Authorities receiving
preferential treatment, for example the treatment of academy
conversions

Accountability of the Scheme
Manager to local taxpayers

• It is open to debate whether local taxpayers are concerned about
the type of structure in place and which option is chosen. Arguably,
they would only be concerned if it would lead to an increase in
Council Tax to fund increased costs, however if it impacted on
service delivery to members, this could be a consideration

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

24

CRITERIA
Compliance with the IORP

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT
• There has been no definitive view expressed on the applicability of
the IORP directive on LGPS Funds with legal views obtained from
leading Counsels and DCLG writing to the LGA on whether it
applies

Agenda Item 11

CURRENT POSITION
DISADVANTAGES
• If IORP compliance is required, technical provisions and investment
regulations would need to be addressed, with resulting potential
changes in the law, regulations and technical guidance

Page 78

• The general consensus appears that it does apply to LGPS Pension
Funds. The UK government has cited Article 5 of the directive
which states that if a guarantee is in place then an EU member
“may choose not to apply” some parts of the directive, which
would mean that compliance with the IORP is not required.
However, there is no legal agreement that Article 5 applies to UK
Local Authority pensions and so this may not provide sufficient
evidence for non-compliance
• Most Funds believe IORP is not a significant issue and will only
become significant if it is part of the Government’s agenda and
Funds have to comply
• Most Funds already have separate bank accounts and separate
treasury functions
• A minority of Funds also have separate IT systems

Conflicts of interest between
the Scheme Manager and the
Host Authority

• Some Funds believe the Board will help to ensure conflicts of
interest are managed through their scrutiny
• The introduction of the Pensions Board is relatively new and so we
have no experience as yet to draw upon, but given the role of the
Pensions Board we would expect this extra level of scrutiny to lead
to effective management of conflicts, better governance and an
increase in transparency

• In some Councils the Head of Pensions is a second or third tier
officer. Therefore, it is easier for them to be influenced by the
Section 151 Officer
• Most Funds agree that the key conflict of interest is regarding
making decisions that are in the best interests of the Fund and the
Council, in particular agreeing the funding level and setting the
contribution rates due to levels of affordability amongst the
employers
• Most Funds also agree there is greater pressure not to increase
costs due to austerity
• For some Funds additional conflicts arise due to the structure of the
Fund

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

25

CURRENT POSITION
CRITERIA
Financial transparency, in
particular production of
comprehensive and clear
accounts

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

DISADVANTAGES
• Administering Authorities should
already have separate budgets for all
Pension Fund related activities, but
differ as to the extent to which these
budgets are broken down into
separate activities

• Concerns have also been raised in recent years as to the extent to which there is accurate and
complete reporting of pension scheme management costs by Administering Authorities. The
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the LG Code), which
governs the production of Local Authority financial statements, only requires the Pension Fund
accounts to include a one line disclosure of ‘administration costs’ on the face of the Fund
account. The issue is further complicated by a lack of transparency in Fund management costs
for pooled investments and ‘fund of funds’ structures

• Recharges are estimates and cost per
member depends on the level of
recharge

Page 79

• The CIPFA Board is exploring with key stakeholders whether the Accounts and Audit Regulations
should be amended to remove the requirement on Administering Authorities to include the
Pension Fund accounts in their statutory Statement of Accounts. In our view this will simplify the
reporting arrangements and significantly improve accountability, but it must be accompanied by
amendments to the 2008 Regulations. This will also help to separate the audit of the Pension
Fund from the audit of the Administering Authority’s accounts

• CIPFA has issued guidance to Pension Funds in an attempt to improve transparency and
accountability. This guidance is not mandatory but has been adopted by a number of
Administering Authorities
• The requirement to publish separate audited Pension Fund accounts is already a feature of the
existing stand-alone pension Authorities
• The move towards publication of one set of Pension Fund accounts in the Pension Fund annual
report will improve accountability to key stakeholders as well as reduce costs across the LGPS
• Separate audit arrangements are already in place
• A separate Annual Governance Statement which reports on the effectiveness of the Fund’s
internal control systems would have benefits in improving service delivery and increasing
accountability to stakeholders through greater financial transparency

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

• All Administering Authorities and stand-alone bodies should adopt the principles of the CIPFA
Guidance on LGPS Management Costs and ensure that budgets are aligned with their reporting
responsibilities. This should improve accountability, increase financial transparency, reduce costs
in the medium to long-term, improve decision-making and improve service delivery

26

CRITERIA
Financial transparency, in
particular dedication of
resources

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT
• Some Funds have separate resourcing and approval processes
which enables them to boost staffing levels, where required, even
during times of austerity

Agenda Item 11

CURRENT POSITION
DISADVANTAGES
• Most Funds have to comply with the Local Authority’s recruitment
process which can be cumbersome and lengthy
• Most Funds feel that the Local Government wage structure is
restrictive and prevents them from recruiting the right experts
• A number of Funds feel they are resource constrained and would
like to have in-house investment expertise
• Most Funds feel they are hampered by Local Government wage
structures and so cannot bring in the experts they require

Page 80

Financial transparency, in
particular management and
administration costs and
investment costs

• There is currently a mixture of approaches to budget setting, for
example
– Some Funds follow Local Authority procedures including
restrictions due to austerity
– Some Funds have separate budgets that are authorised by a
pensions committee
– Some Funds have no formal budgets and manage costs on a day
to day basis
• There is also a mixture of approaches regarding recharges to the
Fund with
– Some Funds having Service Level Agreements (SLAs)
– Some with a formal process that clearly sets out what the
recharge should be
– Some that are confusing and could be challenged by the Fund
with some historic resources recharged even though they don’t
look at the Fund
• Levels of uncertainty vary across Funds

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

27

CURRENT POSITION
CRITERIA

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

• Total costs and costs per member vary significantly across Funds,
with the high costs of the London Borough Funds being reviewed
by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) as this is
yet to be explained fully by higher costs associated with London

Management costs and
funding or investment costs
including set up costs and
ongoing costs
Service delivery to scheme
members

DISADVANTAGES

• Most Funds believe that service delivery to scheme members is
currently strong as there are various options available to members
for any queries, including face to face with the pensions team

Page 81

• Currently, some employers believe they are involved in the
valuation process too late (i.e. at the point of contribution setting) so
the change in structure could be a good opportunity to consider this
process and ensure that employers are involved at an earlier stage

Service delivery to scheme
employers

• Some employers also believe they should also be more involved
and kept updated between valuations. For example, the Annual
Funding Statement that has to be produced by private sector
schemes could be provided to each employer (as the employers
already receive FRS17 disclosures it should not require a significant
amount of additional work)
• Some Funds would like to be able to police their admitted bodies
more effectively, e.g. regarding security and bonds, pay rises in
excess of the salary increase assumption and covenant reviews
• Some Funds would like improved communications with employers
to determine what they need from the Fund
• Currently there is minimal service required with TPR and HMRC

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

Service delivery to third
parties (e.g. The Pensions
Regulator (TPR), HM Revenue
& Customs (HMRC))

28

Agenda Item 11

CURRENT POSITION

CHALLENGES

SUMMARY

Page 82

•

Need to consider whether policies/guidelines regarding
current best practice need to be tightened to ensure that all
Funds have separate treasury functions and that that the
strengths of the current system are implemented across all
Funds

•

Need to consider whether Service Level Agreements (SLAs)
should be compulsory for all Funds to improve the financial
transparency around costs

•

Currently members of Pensions Investment Committees do
not require any pensions training. Need to consider if training
should be required

•

The majority of Funds believe that the current model needs
to be improved and that the current system has a number of
flaws

•

Behaviours within the Funds need to change and the
expertise and general level of competency of the staff
involved needs to improve, for example ensuring that the
correct level of pensions expertise is held within the team

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

29

MARKET EXAMPLES

Page 83

CURRENT
POSITION

Agenda Item 11

OPTION 1

Stronger role for
Section 151
Officer within a
distinct entity of
the Host Authority

Agenda Item 11

MARKET EXAMPLES
• A number of Funds demonstrate the main elements of option 1, namely a single officer to whom all pensions functions are
delegated by the Section 101 Committee (other than the decisions retained by the Section 101 Committee)
• Further improvements are required, but the risk mitigation may only currently be sufficient for the Metropolitan Funds
• A further key improvement could be to remove the Section 151 Officer from decisions in relation to resourcing and
budgets. Where this is currently the case within Funds it seems to work well and leads to fewer constraints being passed
on from the Local Authority
• In order for option 1 to be most effective, the named pensions officer would have delegated responsibilities from the
Section 151 Officer in relation to the financial probity of the Fund, would need to be CIPFA qualified and would require
pensions specific training which could be mandatory

Page 84

OPTION 2

• Only the South Yorkshire Pension Fund operates with the structure proposed under option 2

Joint Committee
of tow or more
Administering
Authorities

• However, it is similar to some extent to Metropolitan Funds which are operating in practice in a manner which ensures that
all of the Councils in the Fund are involved in joint decision making. This ranges from those that consult to those that have
a joint working group with representation from the Councils with the Section 101 Committee ratifying the decisions of the
working group
• Moving to this option would be a key opportunity to review the approach taken with employers and to consider their
requirements regarding engagement with employers, for example analysing risks and have a more employer specific
approach to the valuation by grouping employers by sector for covenant and funding considerations
• There is a pensions precedent for a Joint Committee being set up in relation to the London Collective Investment Vehicle
(CIV)

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

31

MARKET EXAMPLES
• Option 3 is the most similar to the private sector where the pension scheme is completely separate from the employer,
with separate bank accounts, structures, legal requirements, etc.
• The schemes are run by a group of Trustees (usually including employer and employee representatives) and it is the
Trustees’ responsibility to look after the members’ best interests. There is also a requirement for these Trustees to
undergo regular training to ensure that they have the required knowledge to perform their role and so they are able to
question any professional advice received from experts. Under option 3 it should be considered if a similar level of training
is required for the members of the Board and if something similar to TPR’s Trustee toolkit is set up
• In addition, many Trustee groups include a professional Trustee which leads to increased knowledge and a more
professional service. This could also be considered for the Board

OPTION 3

LGPS complete
separation of the
Pension Fund
from the Host
Authority

Page 85

• Private sector schemes are completely separate from the employer, however the Trustees are required to seek company
involvement and obtain their views for some areas, for example regarding investment strategy. It should also be
considered how the relationship with the employers will work under this option
• Private sector schemes are also required to provide certain information to TPR on a regular basis, including completing an
annual return and providing details of the latest valuation. Currently, TPR have minimal involvement in LGPS Funds and are
currently only monitoring the set up of the Board and the Pensions Board. TPR are less involved in LGPS Funds as they are
not reliant on the Pension Protection Fund (PPF) in the event of employer default. In the future it may be that TPR becomes
more involved in LGPS Funds in the event that the crown guarantee is clarified and the Government makes it clear that in
the event of employer insolvency the Government would not step in
• A more onerous covenant review is required for employers with pension liabilities in the private sector as part of the
valuation process. Recently, TPR have released guidance regarding covenant reviews that requires a proportionate
approach. This could be applied to LGPS employers, for example performing more detailed reviews on employers with
larger liabilities or by performing a Key Performance Indicator (KPI) based approach
• TPR guidance also requires that covenant reviews are usually carried out with professional advice, however this would lead
to significant costs due to the number of employers in LGPS Funds
• There is an increasing realisation for LGPS of the value of covenant monitoring for some employers and also that it is key to
involve employers at an earlier stage in the valuation process in order to assess the affordability of contributions

Agenda Item 11

• Currently, the approach across different Funds is inconsistent, with some Funds having bonds in place as security for some
employers, however this is becoming more and more common
• Additionally, there is an inconsistent approach to covenant reviews and affordability across Funds. It should be considered
if more guidance is required to ensure that all Funds adopt a best practice approach that is more consistent across Funds
as some employers are in a number of Funds and so may query the inconsistencies

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

32

CURRENT POSITION

•

The majority of Funds believe the current model can
be improved with a minority of Funds believing that a
new model is not required

•

Behaviours within the Funds need to change and the
expertise and general level of competency of the staff
involved needs to improve, for example ensuring that
the correct level of pensions expertise is held within
the team

•

•

The current process is too open to influence from
personalities and the legislation is too loose and
requires tightening as some Funds operate best
practice but many do not, therefore inconsistencies
need to be resolved and best practice can also be
adopted from the private sector
The majority of Funds are frustrated by their
recruitment processes and have to comply with the
Local Authority processes for staffing which can be
cumbersome and restrictive. The Funds want to be
able to access the markets to ensure they have the
correct level of expertise within the team. In addition,
the majority of Funds are also under pressure to
achieve approximately 25% cuts in Local Authority
staff numbers/costs

Many Funds are also frustrated with the
investment flexibility and the constraints imposed
and would like to bring more investment management
expertise in-house

•

Most Funds also recognise the need for larger
Funds as this leads to greater buying power and
economies of scale, however no Fund believes this
should extend as far as having one national LGPS
Fund. The increased scale would then bring benefits,
for example more resources to spend due to the
increased size and bigger teams running the Fund (the
larger Funds do not seem to have the same
resourcing constraints as the smaller Funds)

•

Some Funds believe there is a need for DCLG to
change the investment regulations to make it
easier for Funds to work together and as they would
like to build internal investment management
expertise and ensure they have capacity and capability

•

A minority of Funds believe a larger Fund model (not
a national LGPS) should be sought to increase
efficiency and effectiveness of staff and resources.
Unison favours one national Fund.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

33

Page 86

•

The Section 151 Officer in some Funds is not always
fulfilling their role as they don’t have the relevant
pensions expertise or understand their responsibilities
to the Fund and do not have sufficient time to fulfil
their role. They also require further pensions specific
training. If they are unable to fulfil their role they
should be able to delegate to a nominated officer

•

Agenda Item 11

MARKET EXAMPLES

Page 87
Agenda Item 11

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS – OPTION 1
STRONGER ROLE FOR SECTION 151 OFFICER WITHIN A DISTINCT ENTITY OF THE HOST AUTHORITY

In this section we review Option 1
against the key criteria we have been
asked to consider and summarised on
page 12.

For the purposes of our core analyse we assume the
following model. We emphasise that this is not a
recommended structure, but it is helpful to choose a
structure which can be analysed and against which
variations can be considered. We comment on the
variations in the analysis and the summary.

•

The whole pensions function is delegated to a Section
101 Committee

•

In turn the operation of the pensions function is
delegated to a named pensions officer

•

The Section 151 Officer retains the statutory duties in
respect of the financial probity of the Fund, but
formally delegates these to the named pensions
officer

•

The named pensions officer reports to the Section
151 Officer

•

The named pensions officer has a separate and
dedicated unit with separate finances. This business
unit runs all of the pensions function, including
treasury and does not outsource any of this to the
Host Authority

•

Decisions about budgets and resourcing are made by
the named pensions officer in conjunction with the
Section 101 Committee

•

No changes are required to the Section 101
Committee

•

The Pension Fund has a separate audit and produces a
separate governance statement

For the purposes of the analysis we have assumed that
the term 'Scheme Manager' refers to the Section 101
Committee which is responsible for the separate
pensions unit for which it is solely responsible.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Page 88

There are a number of design aspects of the revised role
of the Section 151 Officer which need to be considered
and also the definition and operation of the 'distinct
entity'. The role of the named officer needs to be defined
too.

Description of model for analysis:

35

CRITERIA
Accountability of the
Scheme Manager to
scheme members

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT
• For most Funds there is no direct impact, as the Scheme Manager
does not change and neither does the make up of the Section 101
Committee

DISADVANTAGES
• There is currently very little accountability to scheme members who
are not formally represented by voting members on the Pension
Fund Committees.

• However, for some Funds for whom the Section 101 Committee
does not oversee the whole pensions function, the Scheme
Manager role is consolidated

Accountability of the
Scheme Manager to
scheme employers

• There is no direct impact, as the Scheme Manager does not change
and neither does the make up of the Section 101 Committee

Accountability of the
Scheme Manager to local
taxpayers

• No impact. For all Funds the pensions function remains within the
same Authority and the assets remain under the same ownership

Compliance with the IORP

• However, for some Funds for whom the Section 101 Committee
does not oversee the whole pensions function, the Scheme
Manager role is consolidated

Page 89

• If Funds have to comply with IORP, option 1 is not compliant
• There are two main potential gaps in compliance. The first is a
‘distinct entity of the Host Authority’ satisfying the requirement for
a separate establishment of a Pension Fund. Secondly, the Section
101 Committee needs to meet the ‘fit and proper’ requirements
and there would be a need for more independent representation
amongst the Section 101 Committee

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

STRONGER ROLE FOR SECTION 151 OFFICER WITHIN
A DISTINCT ENTITY OF THE HOST AUTHORITY

ANALYSIS – OPTION 1

36

Conflicts of interest
between the Section 151
Officer and other officers in
the Host Authority

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT
• A separate business unit would make the named pensions officer
independent, on the basis that all parties operate according to the
rules
• Conflicts between the Section 151 Officer and Section 101
Committee would reduce this independence

DISADVANTAGES
• It is likely that recharges will need to be made by the pension
business to the Host Authority for services such as IT, HR and
property costs. To the extent that cost accounting guidance is not
clear this is a residual area of conflict
• The named pensions officer would have delegated responsibility for
the financial probity of the Fund. This may give them a personal
conflict if they are involved in the day to day administration and
management of the Fund
• The named pensions officer continues to report to the Section 101
Committee and this means there is the potential for relationship
conflict

Conflicts of interest
between the Section 151
Officer of the Host
Authority and the
Councillors on the Section
101 Committee

• There is no direct impact

Conflicts of interest
between the Host
Authority and the other
Local Authorities in the
same Fund

• There is no impact

Conflicts of interest
between the Local
Authorities in a Fund and
the other employers

• There is no impact

Page 90

STRONGER ROLE FOR SECTION 151 OFFICER WITHIN
A DISTINCT ENTITY OF THE HOST AUTHORITY

CRITERIA

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS – OPTION 1

• The potential conflicts between the Section 151 Officer and the
Councillors on the Section 101 Committee removes the
independence of the named pensions officer
• This conflict is mitigated in some of the Metropolitan Funds by
having Joint Working Groups (or similarly named) – which have
representation from employers other than the Host Authority –
making Fund decisions subject to ratification by the Section 101
Committee

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

37

CRITERIA

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

Financial transparency, in
particular production of
comprehensive and clear
accounts

• Having a separate audit opinion and an Annual Governance
Statement is likely to lead to more transparency, particularly
regarding recharges if these are scrutinised in more detail

Financial transparency, in
particular dedication of
resources

• No pensions function will be carried out outside the pensions
business unit and all resourcing decisions will be made by the
Section 101 Committee.

• It will also give more assurance in relation to operation of any
shared treasury function (although in our example structure this
would have to be run by the pensions business unit)

• The potential conflicts that exist on the Section 101 Committee
need to be borne in mind (see earlier section)

Financial transparency, in
particular management
and administration costs
and investment costs

DISADVANTAGES
• Any element of recharge by the pensions business unit back to the
Host Authority will remain an area where lack of transparency
exists, unless clearer cost accounting guidance and disclosure is
made a requirement

• If the pensions business unit delivers pensions services to the Host
Authority in its capacity as Employing Authority or treasury services
to the Host Authority, these services will be subject to resourcing
decisions by the Section 151 Officer rather than the Section 101
Committee

Page 91

• There is evidence that recruitment of appropriate pensions
specialists can be restricted by the Local Government wage
structure. If the named pensions officer reports to the Section 151
Officer then they currently need to be at seniority levels below the
Section 151 Officer. For larger Funds this can limit the quality of the
resources available

• In conjunction with the above two sections, management and
administration costs (including the costs of investment
administration) are likely to be better managed, more clearly
identifiable and disclosed more fully

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

STRONGER ROLE FOR SECTION 151 OFFICER WITHIN
A DISTINCT ENTITY OF THE HOST AUTHORITY

ANALYSIS – OPTION 1

38

Management costs and
funding or investment
costs including set up
costs and ongoing costs

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT
• There is not likely to be any direct impact on investment costs as
investment decisions will not be directly affected
• Investment manager costs could reduce if the named pensions
officer is able to perform more in-house monitoring
• However, with the major investment pooling changes afoot,
investment strategies and costs are likely to change significantly in
any case

DISADVANTAGES
• The management costs depend on the current set up of the Fund,
with the costs for the smaller Funds being greater in absolute terms
and much greater in relative terms
• For a typical London Borough Fund this option is likely to mean
increased costs each year broadly equivalent to the cost of
employing an Assistant Director and a Treasury Manager. This may
lead to increased costs of around £100k to £200k a year
• In addition there will be the cost of the additional audit of the
Pensions Fund which might be £30k to £50k

Page 92

STRONGER ROLE FOR SECTION 151 OFFICER WITHIN
A DISTINCT ENTITY OF THE HOST AUTHORITY

CRITERIA

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS – OPTION 1

• Generally, reflecting earlier costs, more resources might be
approved to provide better service delivery which would lead to
increase costs for the Fund
• The increased costs could, however, be recharged to the Fund and
can be managed through greater use of shared services

Service delivery to scheme
members

• Clearer delegation and separate audit and governance statements
may improve service standards for members
• Direct budgeting process and separate resourcing accountability
may improve service standards for members
• Whilst in theory the introduction of the Pensions Board should lead
to improved service delivery in any case, the new structure would
make it easier to monitor and enforce

Service delivery to scheme
employers

• Whilst the SLA with employers will not change, the direct
budgeting process and separate resourcing accountability enable
the named pensions officer to improve the service to employers

• There is still a risk that as the function is still performed within the
Host Authority with oversight from the Host Authorities Councillors,
that the Host Authority receives preferential treatment

• In some Funds the clear allocation of a new named pensions officer
might enable scheme employers to deal with their issues more
efficiently

• The increased costs discussed above are likely to lead to increased
contributions required from scheme employers

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

39

CRITERIA
Service delivery to third
parties (e.g. TPR, HMRC)

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

DISADVANTAGES

• There would be no direct impact
• Whilst there is no clear change for third parties, the role of the
Pensions Board will be made more straightforward in some Funds
which in turn could be beneficial for TPR (in terms of their overall
objectives being met)

Page 93

Classification as retail
client under Markets in
Financial Instruments
Directive (MiFID) II

• As there is no legal separation between the Authority. the MiFID
default status would be classification as a retail client with the
option for each Fund to elect for professional client assessment
• It is unlikely this will have an impact given the size of the mandates
that investment managers have with LG Funds, it is also unlikely
they will seek to charge higher fees or elect to cease servicing
them
• However choosing to elect profession client status could be time
consuming and costly and is not a guaranteed outcome if the Fund
fails the qualitative test

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

STRONGER ROLE FOR SECTION 151 OFFICER WITHIN
A DISTINCT ENTITY OF THE HOST AUTHORITY

ANALYSIS – OPTION 1

40

• Most of the costs of implementation
would be internal costs and most of
these could be recharged to the
Fund, to the extent that Host
Authority resources are being used
to make the change
• The direct costs would include
recruitment costs, if necessary,
training costs and the cost of
external professional advice in
relation to making any of the changes
• Some Funds will have to consider
the structure of their current Section
101 Committee and may require legal
and professional advice to make
necessary changes

LEGAL POSITION
• This option would need changes to
secondary legislation
• The Accounts and Audit Regulations
2015 and CIPFA guidance would also
need changing
• For further details regarding the legal
position see the Wragge Lawrence
Graham & Co LLP report dated 14
September 2015

STEPS REQUIRED
• Changes to secondary legislation,
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015
and CIPFA guidance
• Creation of new senior officer role
• Hiring new members of staff, including
following Local Authority recruitment
processes, where required
• New members of staff to undertake
pensions specific training and getting up
to speed

Page 94

STRONGER ROLE FOR SECTION 151 OFFICER WITHIN
A DISTINCT ENTITY OF THE HOST AUTHORITY

COSTS

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS – OPTION 1

• May need to notify TPR, HMRC, etc. if
the Fund contact has changed
• Decision on whether to retain retail
classification under MiFID II or opt for
professional client assessment

CHALLENGES

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

41

CHALLENGES
OPTION 1
Stronger role for
Section 151 Officer within
a distinct entity of the Host
Authority

Consider if the named pension officer should report
directly to the Chief Executive to remove the potential
relationship conflict
Separate treasury functions are also likely to be a key
improvement required, however currently only big
Funds have the resources to have a separate treasury
function. If there is a single treasury function should this
be operated by the pensions business unit

Page 95

Consider if the pensions business unit should have
more latitude on wages and consultancy expertise and
whether national guidance to Funds on this issue is
required
Need to consider whether policies/guidelines regarding
cost accounting and recharges need to be considered
Consider the terms on which pensions administration
and management for the Host Authority as Employing
Authority should be carried out

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

42

Agenda Item 11

Page 96

ANALYSIS – OPTION 2
JOINT COMMITTEE OF TWO OR MORE ADMINISTERING AUTHORITIES

In this section we review Option 2
against the key criteria we have been
asked to consider and summarised on
page 12.

For the purposes of our core analysis we assume the
following model. We emphasise that this is not a
recommended structure, but it is helpful to a choose a
structure which can be analysed and against which
variations can be considered. We comment on the
variations in the analysis and the summary.

The whole pensions function for each Authority
remains within each respective Council

•

Each Authority adopts the operational models
described in Option 1

•

The Section 151 Officer for each Council retains the
statutory duties in respect of the financial probity of
the Fund

•

The Joint Committee is not a separate entity but
rather a committee that comprises Councillor
representatives of each of the Authorities that it
services (however we have also covered the impact
on our comments if a separate entity is established as
Combined Authority)

•

Decisions about budgets and resourcing are only
made by the Joint Committee if it is established as a
spate legal entity, otherwise they are retained by each
Authority in relation to their respective pensions
functions

•

Each Authority will have to prepare separate audited
Pension Fund accounts and an annual governance
statement

There are difference operational models which could
be used to deliver efficiencies e.g. delegation to a
Local Authority or create a wholly owned subsidiary.
We note that in terms of conflicts these would
improve efficiency and effectiveness rather than
remove conflicts per se

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

•

•

Page 97

There are a number of design aspects of establishment
and make up of the Joint Committee which need to be
considered and also the number of Administering
Authorities that would be represented.

Description of model for analysis:

44

Accountability of the
Scheme Manager to
scheme members

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT
• For nearly all Funds this would lead to a marginal separation of the
Fund from the Administering Authorities through the dilution of
decision making

DISADVANTAGES
• On the other hand with the diluted decision making scheme
members might consider that the Scheme Manager is taking less
responsibility

• This would lead to a small improvement in the accountability of the
Fund and Scheme Manager to scheme members as it would bring
about an increased level of independence, although ultimately the
legal responsibly still sits with each Section 151 Officer

Accountability of the
Scheme Manager to
scheme employers

• The marginal separation could lead to less focus on the Host
Authority and/or participating Authorities and their distinct employer
base and more across the employers across the whole Fund

• On the other hand with the diluted decision making some scheme
employers might consider that the Scheme Manager is taking less
responsibility

Page 98

JOINT COMMITTEE OF TWO OR MORE
ADMINISTERING AUTHORITIES

CRITERIA

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS – OPTION 2

• Therefore the Scheme Manager would have greater accountability
to scheme employers
• It should be noted that the Funds that demonstrate they are most
interested in meeting employers and dealing with them based on
their specific circumstances, are the Funds that are currently run
separately from the Administering Authority and so is most similar
to options 2 and 3

Accountability of the
Scheme Manager to local
taxpayers

• As the Joint Committee would comprise local Councillors
representing each Authority there would remain that local focus and
accountability to the local taxpayers

• The separation of the Fund from the Local Authorities could have a
detrimental impact on the accountability of the Fund and Scheme
Manager to local taxpayers
• It is open to debate whether local taxpayers are concerned about
the type of structure in place and which option is chosen and are
only concerned if it would lead to an increase in Council Tax to fund
increased costs or if it led to disruption to service delivery to
members
• The Joint Committee could allow different decision to be made for
different Administering Authorities, but the risk is that they take a
simple approach to reduce costs

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

45

ANALYSIS – OPTION 2

Compliance with the IORP

Conflicts of interest
between the Section 151
Officer and other officers in
the Host Authority

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

DISADVANTAGES

• If Option 2 used a Combined Authority this could satisfy the first
gap (see disadvantages) which would mean it would be closer in
compliance than option 1

• If Funds have to comply with IORP, option 2 is not compliant

• A separate Joint Committee would lead to reduced conflicts with the
distinct pension entity in each Administering Authority. With the
Host Authority having less direct influence and a dilution in this
influence as more than one Authority would be represented on the
Joint Committee (i.e. lessen the ability for the Host Authority to
negotiate preferential treatment), there is less scope to influence the
named pension officer via the Committee

• Members of a Combined Authority would be nominated by the
constituent Authorities and so not materially improve the position

• There are two main potential gaps in compliance. The first is a
‘distinct entity of the Host Authority’ satisfying the requirement for
a separate establishment of a Pension Fund. Secondly, the Section
102(5) Committee needs to meet the ‘fit and proper’ requirements
and there would be a need for more independent representation
Committee

Page 99

JOINT COMMITTEE OF TWO OR MORE
ADMINISTERING AUTHORITIES

CRITERIA

• It potentially achieves the retention of local Funds, whilst effectively
reducing the conflict between the Fund and the Host Authority

Conflicts of interest
between the Section 151
Officer of the Host
Authority and the
Councillors on the Section
101 Committee

• This option would remove the majority/all conflicts of interest as the
Section 151 Officer would delegate responsibilities to the Joint
Committee
• The Joint Committee would have more than one Section 151 Officer
to service and so it is less likely that any particular Section 151
Officer would be treated preferentially

• Members of a Combined Authority would be nominated by the
constituent Authorities and so not materially improve the position
• This depends on politics and personality and conflicts would be
greater, for example, for the Section 151 Officer whose Councillor
chairs the Joint Committee

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

46

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

Conflicts of interest
between the Host Authority
and the other Local
Authorities in the same
Fund

• A separate Joint Committee would lead to a potential improvement
with the potential for conflicts to be reduced with the members of
the Joint Committee diluting the power of an individual Authority

Conflicts of interest
between the Local
Authorities in a Fund and
the other employers

• A separate Joint Committee could lead to a potential improvement
with the potential for conflicts to be removed but this would depend
in part on the personnel on the Joint Committee and how focused
they are on the employer base as a whole and fair treatment

DISADVANTAGES
• The removal of the conflicts may be dependent in part on whether
the Joint Committee is a wholly owned subsidiary of one of the
Councils (as this introduces a potential conflict with the parent
Council)
• Where there is only one Host Authority for a Fund, the conflict does
not exist and would be introduced by a Joint Committee

Page 100

JOINT COMMITTEE OF TWO OR MORE
ADMINISTERING AUTHORITIES

CRITERIA

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS – OPTION 2

• As the Joint Committee will be made up of Councillors from each of
the Local Authorities there is a continued risk that the Local
Authorities benefit from such representation to the detriment of
other employers (e.g. on scheme funding or local investment
decisions)

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

47

CRITERIA
Financial transparency, in
particular production of
comprehensive and clear
accounts

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

DISADVANTAGES

• Having a separate Joint Committee could lead to more
transparency, as there would have to be more open dialogue with
each Administering Authority around the manner in which the
Funds manage and disclose costs. There is a good chance that
standards will ‘level up’
• Each Administering Authority will still have a statutory requirement
to produce separate audited Pension Fund accounts and a Pension
Fund

Page 101

JOINT COMMITTEE OF TWO OR MORE
ADMINISTERING AUTHORITIES

ANALYSIS – OPTION 2

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

48

Financial transparency, in
particular dedication of
resources

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

DISADVANTAGES

• It may be possible to bring more expertise in-house by paying
market rates if a Combined Authority is used and is less constrained
by Local Government wage structures

• As a Joint Committee comprises Councillors, each pension function
may still be subject to the recruitment and resourcing policy of each
respective Authority

• A Combined Authority may justify a larger and more experienced
team, comprising some staff transferring from each Authority

• Recruitment within each pensions function may still be constrained
as the Local Government wage structure will apply
• There could be a loss of experience and skilled personnel though
the rationalization across Administering Authorities if a Combined
Authority approach is followed

Page 102

JOINT COMMITTEE OF TWO OR MORE
ADMINISTERING AUTHORITIES

CRITERIA

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS – OPTION 2

• This could involve some rationalisation of staff within each Authority

Financial transparency, in
particular management
and administration costs
and investment costs

• In conjunction with the previous two sections, management and
administration costs may be better managed, as there will need to
be greater transparency amongst the parties and risk pressure to
'level up' standards
• This could be even more transparent if a Combined Authority is
used and costs are shared across all the Authorities being serviced
by the Combined Authority

Management costs and
funding or investment
costs including set up
costs and ongoing costs

• The set up of the Joint Committee would not impact on
administration costs as each pensions function within each
Authority would continue to exist
• Economies of scale would lead to reduced management costs in a
Combined Authority approach
• There could also be a saving in investment costs if Funds are
pooled. However, this could happen through the pooling
consultation proposals

• Dependent on how many Administering Authorities are involved in
the set up of the Joint Committee, this could lead to an area of
complexity particularly in relation to recharges of costs
• Clear and robust processes would be required to drive cost
accounting guidance and disclosure should be made a requirement

• There will be set up costs which could be offset via the savings that
are realised (for example in investment management costs)
• The creation of a Combined Authority to undertake the functions of
a lead Authority is likely to introduce new governance issues for the
constituent bodies which may offset in part the benefits achieved
by the pooling of administrative functions
• The risk appetite of the Joint Committee may differ to that of the
existing Section 101 Committees and this may detrimentally impact
expected returns on investment

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

49

ANALYSIS – OPTION 2
CRITERIA

• Oversight from a Joint Committee may improve service standards
for members e.g. communications could be improved
• Whilst in theory the introduction of the Pensions Board should lead
to improved service delivery in any case, having an element of
separation may make it easier to monitor and evidence
• Generally, there is the possibility that standards 'level up'

Service delivery to scheme
employers

• There would be no direct impact as the SLA with employers would
not change.
• The Joint Committee should not provide preferential treatment to
any of the Host Authorities and this could allow it to improve the
service to all employers and consult with them effectively around
scheme funding

DISADVANTAGES
• Under a Combined Authority approach, the physical separation of
the pension function from the local Councils could have a
detrimental impact if the service is moved away geographically so
dealing with members face to face is no longer possible or if the
process for dealing with members is not properly managed
• The best Fund in the group might struggle to maintain standards in
some situations

• Unless the Joint Committee seeks to introduce its own processes
and procedures, there is an inherent risk that poor engagement
with employers continues and Local Authorities continue to receive
preferential treatment

Page 103

JOINT COMMITTEE OF TWO OR MORE
ADMINISTERING AUTHORITIES

Service delivery to scheme
members

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

• There is evidence to suggest that Combined Authority separation
creates focus on wider employer risks

Service delivery to third
parties (e.g. TPR, HMRC)

Classification as retail
client under MiFID II

• No direct impact
• Pensions Boards could be merged to match the Joint Committee

• Inconsistent use of systems across differing related parties could
make service delivery to third parties challenging

• As there is no legal separation between the Authority. We believe
the MiFID default status would be classification as a retail client
with the option for each Fund to elect for professional client
assessment

Agenda Item 11

• At this early stage, our view is that it is unlikely this will have an
impact given the size of the mandates that investment managers
have with LG Funds, it is unlikely they will seek to charge higher
fees or elect to cease servicing them
• However choosing to elect profession client status could be time
consuming and costly and is not a guaranteed outcome if the Fund
fails the qualitative test

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

50

• The costs of implementation will
depend on the number of the Funds
that join the Joint Committee, and
how similar their terms of reference
and governance procedures are
• We have estimated the costs of
setting up a Joint Committee as £25k
to £30k per joint committee, based
on our experience. Local Authorities
are well versed in the set up of such
committees and it is tried and tested.
However, in order to make the
approach as efficient as possible, a
standardised model could be used
for Funds to follow. This will ensure
the approach is as streamlined as
possible, consistent and also keeps
costs to a minimum. Embedding
Joint Committees from a process
and timeframe perspective will be
straightforward and so there should
not be a lengthy lead in time for their
set up.

LEGAL POSITION

STEPS REQUIRED

• A Joint Committee can be set up under
the existing legislative framework

• Changes to the existing requirements for
a Combined Authority, if needed

• Thought would need to be given as to
whether the existing requirements for
setting up a Combined Authority would
need amending

• Creation of the new Joint Committee

• For further details regarding the legal
position see the Wragge Lawrence
Graham & Co LLP report dated 14
September 2015

• Hiring new members of staff, including
following Local Authority recruitment
processes, for a Combined Authority
transferring them from the current
Administering Authorities

Page 104

JOINT COMMITTEE OF TWO OR MORE
ADMINISTERING AUTHORITIES

COSTS

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS – OPTION 2

• New members of staff to undertake
pensions specific training and getting up
to speed
• May need to notify TPR, HMRC, etc. if
the Fund contact has changed
• Decision on whether to retain retail
classification under MiFID II or opt for
professional client assessment

CHALLENGES

• Each Administering Authority would
also need to bear the cost of Option
1 which would include the direct
costs would include recruitment
costs and an estimated additional
two or three members of staff which
could cost around £100k to £200k

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

51

CHALLENGES
OPTION 2
Joint Committee of two
or more Administering
Authorities

Consider how the voting would work and the dilution
of each Administering Authority influence in decisions
Consider the optimum number of members in the
Joint Committee. Based on our experience, the Joint
Committee should have at least 5 members (so 3 is
quorate) and 6-10 members works well for discussions to
strike a balance between being effective and one person
dominating the conversation. The composition of the
members is also important and there needs to be a good
balance between skills, backgrounds, etc. which can be
managed through the recruitment process

Consider who would be responsible for producing the
Fund accounts, who advises the Joint Committee and
how it is supported, and how shared costs are allocated
Consider if new policies/guidelines regarding governance
around management, administration and investment
costs are needed to ensure that best practice is
encouraged across more Funds. New Terms of
Reference will be required

Consider if each Authority will want some form of
assurance that monies are being administered
properly leading to an added cost of assurance reporting
(under the Combined Authority approach)
Consider how the Joint Committee will interact with
the Admitted and Scheduled Bodies
Define the intention of the operating model under
Option 2 to ensure successful implementation and
effectiveness
The quality of data and administration systems needs
to be considered ahead of the choice of which Funds
will form a Joint Committee as it will be more straight
forward if the Funds currently use the same systems

Page 105

Consider how many Administering Authorities would be
involved. Based on the above, with 2 Councillors from
each Authority, around five Authorities might be an
appropriate number

Consider how the information would be aligned to each
Fund under this option, e.g. will each Fund have a
separate budget or will they be combined or
standardised due to joint services being provided?

For the Combined Authority approach, communications
are key (including notifying members of any changes in
contact details, etc.) to ensure that members are aware
of any changes to service and that these are explained to
them in detail, for example if face to face queries are no
longer available

Consider combining the Pensions Boards

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

Consider setting out new guidelines on best practice
for recruitment within each pensions function and for
consultancy expertise

52

Agenda Item 11

Page 106

OPTION 3
ANALYSIS AGAINST CRITERIA

ANALYSIS – OPTION 3
LGPS COMPLETE SEPARATION OF THE PENSION FUND FROM THE HOST AUTHORITY

In this section we review Option 3
against the key criteria we have been
asked to consider and summarised on
page 12.

Description of model for analysis:
•

For the purposes of the analysis we have assumed
that the term 'Scheme Manager' refers to the Trustee
board* which is responsible for the separate pensions
unit for which it is solely responsibly.

•

This option proposes that a government department
creates pension bodies to take over the role of
Scheme Managers within the LGPS.

•

The bodies would have Boards that include employer
and member representation with the same or similar
make up as pension institutions in the private sector.

•

* Whilst the formal legal status might not be a Trustee
we are assuming that they would act in a consistent
manner.

Page 107

One of the key design issues in relation to Option 3 is the
legal status of the completely separated Pensions Fund.
There are a number of options and the scope of this
report does not extend to looking at these options in
detail. However, for the purposes of analysing Option 3,
we have assumed that the Trustees* are selected
through a robust process which makes them collectively
sufficiently independent of any of the employers and with
sufficiently high knowledge and understanding to make
robust decisions, consistent with the Trustees of a trustbased scheme.

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

54

Accountability of the
Scheme Manager to
scheme employers

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

DISADVANTAGES

• The Scheme Manager would no longer be Councillor led and
therefore Local Authority focussed
• An independent Trustee board will more clearly see its duty
towards all employers in the Fund

• Option 3 would lead to a separation of LGPS Funds from Local
Authorities and a loss of democratic control

Accountability of the
Scheme Manager to local
taxpayers

Page 108

LGPS COMPLETE SEPARATION OF THE
PENSION FUND FROM THE HOST AUTHORITY

CRITERIA

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS – OPTION 3

• This would mean that the Funds and Scheme Managers are less
accountable to local taxpayers
• It should be noted that in the Metropolitan Funds, for example,
there is already a loss of democratic control for those Local
Authorities in those Funds who are not the Host Authority

Compliance with the IORP

• Option 3 is expected to be fully compliant, provided the fit and
proper person test is met in respect of the Board members
• There would be additional costs involved but this would meet the
requirements of the IORP if this was deemed applicable to LGPS
Funds

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

55

ANALYSIS – OPTION 3

Conflicts of interest
between the Section 151
Officer and other officers in
the Host Authority

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT
• This option would mitigate the majority/all conflicts of interest
• As the decision making is removed form elected members, , it
removes potential conflicts of the Authorities seeing preferential
treatment
• It would also remove potential risks in relation to the application of
Fund or employer discretions by the Host Authority

Conflicts of interest
between the Section 151
Officer of the Host
Authority and the
Councillors on the Section
101 Committee

• This option would remove the majority/all conflicts of interest

Conflicts of interest
between the Host Authority
and the other Local
Authorities in the same
Fund

• This option would remove all conflicts of interest as the Host
Authority would no longer be managing the Fund

Conflicts of interest
between the Local
Authorities in a Fund and
the other employers

• This option would remove the majority/all conflicts of interest

DISADVANTAGES
• If Board members are appointed by or can be influenced by an
employer or are a current employee then some potential conflicts
may still exist
• In any Trustee board, residual conflicts remain as members may
have vested interests (e.g. employer representatives) and these
conflicts would require effective management

Page 109

LGPS COMPLETE SEPARATION OF THE
PENSION FUND FROM THE HOST
AUTHORITY

CRITERIA

• If Board members are appointed by or can be influenced by an
employer or are a current employee then some potential conflicts
may still exist

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

56

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

Financial transparency, in
particular production of
comprehensive and clear
accounts

• As a separate entity it is clear that separate accounts, a separate
audit and separate governance requirements would be required

Financial transparency, in
particular dedication of
resources

• As a separate employer, the Fund’s resources would be clearly
defined

DISADVANTAGES
• If services are outsourced to a Local Authority (possibly the
previous Host Authority) then the recharges would need to be
carefully reviewed
• Likewise if services (such as pensions administration and treasury
management) are provided by the Pension Fund

• It would give the Fund more flexibility on recruitment which could
allow the team to bring in better external resource

• There may be less flexibility to utilise wider resource at busy times
and to access wider expertise from within the Host Authority. For
example, administration support during member communication
exercises

Page 110

LGPS COMPLETE SEPARATION OF THE
PENSION FUND FROM THE HOST
AUTHORITY

CRITERIA

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS – OPTION 3

• It may be possible to transfer staff under TUPE rules (and
potentially rationalise staff to achieve cost efficiencies)
• This option could give the Funds significantly more flexibility around
recruitment and consultancy services

Financial transparency, in
particular management
and administration costs
and investment costs

• Based on the two points above, the management and
administration report would be clear

• In order to maximise transparency the robust requirements for
disclosure and breakdown of costs could be put in place

• Investment administration costs and the costs of managing
investment strategy are likely to be more clearly identifiable for
some Funds

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

57

ANALYSIS – OPTION 3

Management costs and
funding or investment
costs including set up
costs and ongoing costs

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT
• This option would lead to a positive impact on management costs
as it would give the Funds more flexibility on recruitment
• It may be possible to transfer staff under TUPE rules
• This option is likely to have the greatest impact on investment costs
and could lead to savings in the long term through input of
professional Trustees
• This option could provide an opportunity to outsource to a third
party administrator or contract back to Authorities to keep costs in
check

DISADVANTAGES
• There will be the cost of setting up, moving contracts, changes to
legislation and additional costs, for example paying Trustees.
However, the costs will vary depending on whether staff can be
transferred under TUPE rules
• Option 3 could cost more (which could be mitigated to some extent
if Funds collaborate) and Funds may need to support a separate
location, a separate HR function, legal advice and external advisers.
There may also be less scrutiny leading to increased costs
• Ongoing costs could also be higher if higher skilled staff or
regulated individuals are required

Page 111

• If Funds have to start assessing their covenant this is a new activity
that will need to paid for
• Expectations would be high of risk management systems and
internal audit as the entity will be acting as a third party outsourced
provider. Outsource of the internal audit function to a third party
provider may be considered more cost effective to buy in skills for
days rather than the full time contract of individuals
• Investment costs could increase as at present the pensions
function has a governance process in place and this would need to
be overhauled
• This option could lead to low risk and low returns as the Board may
be risk averse, however there is no evidence that this would be the
case and it could be managed through the recruitment process

Service delivery to scheme
members

• This option would have the greatest impact on service delivery
• Separate audit and governance statements may improve service
standards for members
• A completely separate budgeting process and resourcing
accountability may improve service standards for members

• This option could mean that Funds are more reliant on call centres
and websites which will impact service delivery as members can
currently visit the pensions function directly and have the real value
service from local people

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

LGPS COMPLETE SEPARATION OF THE
PENSION FUND FROM THE HOST AUTHORITY

CRITERIA

58

ADVANTAGES/NO IMPACT

Service delivery to scheme
employers

• There is likely to be a positive impact on service delivery to scheme
employers as the complete separation of the Fund from the Host
Authority should mean that Local Authorities no longer receive
preferential treatment and all employers are treated fairly
• The positive impact is likely to affect employers other than the Host
Authority most significantly, for example academies and schools

Service delivery to third
parties (e.g. TPR, HMRC)

• There would be no/minimal impact

Classification as retail
client under MiFID II

• As there is a legal separation between the Authority, the MiFID
status would be result in professional client assessment

DISADVANTAGES
• There could be a negative impact on service delivery to employers
as the Funds lose democratic control and the link with public
services, including the need to control costs.
• For some employers, this could bring additional scrutiny from the
Board and could in turn lead to an increase in employer costs.
• It is likely that additional services currently offered pro-bono, for
example academy conversions, would no longer be available at no
cots

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Page 112

LGPS COMPLETE SEPARATION OF THE
PENSION FUND FROM THE HOST AUTHORITY

CRITERIA

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS – OPTION 3

59

ANALYSIS – OPTION 3

• Initial set up costs for this option are
likely to be highest due to significant
legal and professional advice being
required to make necessary changes,
although these may be recuperated
in the future due to long term
savings. The costs would be
comparable to the costs of setting up
a new trust based scheme in the
private sector. We estimate the
costs based on our experience to be
in the region of £200k to £300k.
these are only an estimate of the
external costs that would be
required, there will also be the
internal support that is required
which should be factored in to the
overall cost of the implementation as
internal resource will be diverted
away. It is also likely there would be
additional costs associated if IORP
compliance is required
• Most of the costs of implementation
would be external costs, for example
recruitment costs for the Board,
training costs and the cost of
external professional advice, in
particular legal advice, in relation to
making the changes

LEGAL POSITION
• This option would need changes to
primary legislation
• The LGPS Regulations 2013 would also
need changing
• For further details regarding the legal
position see the Wragge Lawrence
Graham & Co LLP report dated 14
September 2015

STEPS REQUIRED
• In order for option 3 to be implemented
the questions regarding IORP and
whether it applies to LGPS Fund needs
resolving.
• For example if there is full separation
between Local Authorities and the
Funds is there a crown guarantee in
place and will the Funds continue to be
classified as government schemes?
There will likely be lengthy legal
discussions before the regulations can
be amended

Page 113

• Changes to primary legislation and LGPS
Regulations 2013
• Creation of the new entity
• Creation of the new roles

CHALLENGES

• Hiring new members of staff (including
the members of the Board), including
following Local Authority recruitment
processes, where required or
transferring them from the current
Administering Authorities
• New members of staff to undertake
pensions specific training and getting up
to speed
• May need to notify TPR, HMRC, etc.

• Additional resource could be in the
region of £500k plus per year to
secure market leading expertise with
ongoing operating cost of £100k to
£200k per year. This is all dependent
on the overall size of and design of
team

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

LGPS COMPLETE SEPARATION OF THE
PENSION FUND FROM THE HOST AUTHORITY

COSTS

60

OPTION 3
LGPS complete separation
of the Pension Fund from
the Host Authority

Consider whether policies/guidelines regarding
current best practice are tightened to ensure that
the strengths of the current system are implemented
across all Funds

•

Consider if staff should be transferred under TUPE
rules to the new entity

•

Need to consider if new policies/guidelines regarding
governance will be required for the new structure

•

Need to consider whether any new policies/guidelines
regarding recruitment, investment management and
the use of external experts would be put in place
across all Funds or whether Funds will be given
significantly increased freedom

•

Whilst it has been commented that independent
Trustees could be more risk averse, particularly
regarding investment decisions, there is no evidence
that this is definitively the case and it could be
managed through the recruitment process

•

For this option communications are key (including
notifying members of any changes in contact details,
etc.) to ensure that members are aware of any
changes to service and that these are explained
to them in detail, for example if face to face queries
are no longer available

•

Communications with employers are also key
(including notifying employers of any changes in
contact details, etc.) to ensure that employers are
aware of any changes to service and that these are
explained to them in detail, for example any pro-bono
work currently offered

•

Proper handover and managing of the process
is also important to ensure the service is improved

•

Whether or not to maintain the link with public
services and democratic control will need to be
considered to ensure employers are comfortable
with this option

•

Consider if the Funds large enough to make it cost
effective to run separately and collaboration of
Funds should be considered to assess whether this
would reduce costs, particularly amongst the London
Funds where costs are currently high

•

TPR may request additional involvement in this
option, particularly if it is found that there is no
guarantee in place and a structure similar to the
Pension Protection Fund (PPF) for private schemes is
required

•

The Funds may wish to consider whether to
conduct a data cleanse as data quality is currently a
key requirement for TPR. This would lead to increased
costs but is likely to reduce the number of issues in
the future

•

Need to consider what flexibility Authorities will
have to make a choice or to move to a different
‘provider’

•

Need to consider if the provider will need to make
an assurance report available to Authorities the
cost of which for even a mid sized provider can be
high

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

61

Page 114

•

Agenda Item 11

CHALLENGES

ANALYSIS SUMMARY

Page 115

ALL OPTIONS

Agenda Item 11

OPTION 1
SUMMARY

In order for option 1 to be most effective, the named
pensions officer could have delegated responsibilities
from the Section 151 Officer and would require pensions
specific training which should be mandatory
The key aim with this option is that the new senior officer
has all pensions responsibilities delegated to them and
they need to set budgets alongside the Section 101
Committee. The pensions team should also have a
specific pensions role and would work for pensions 100%
of the time

This, however, is only the case if the new senior officer is
hands on. The more senior the new senior officer is and
the less hands on they are, the greater the potential to
provide financial oversight

Separate treasury functions are also a key improvement
required, but only big Funds have the resources to have a
separate treasury function and this would lead to greater
costs for small Funds
This option is likely to mean increased ongoing staff costs
(for the smaller Funds) and audit costs. This could lead to
increased costs of around £150k to £250k a year and
would further the need for smaller services to look at
ways of sharing costs
This option would need changes to secondary legislation
and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and CIPFA
guidance would also need changing

There is still also a risk that as the function is still
performed within the Host Authority with oversight from
the Host Authorities Councillors, that the Host Authority
receives preferential treatment. This could, however, be
managed through clearer guidance for dealing with all
employers in the Fund, including different investment
strategies being offered for different categories of
employer or by adopting the TPR approach to funding
with more emphasis on covenant, investment and
funding. More radical solutions could be considered
which would involve structural reform of the LGPS
including a horizontal integration approach to dealing with
employers of similar types

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

63

Page 116

The new senior officer is, however, still conflicted as they
would be involved in the administration and day to day
management of the Fund and would not have the
relevant oversight

Having separate audit opinions is likely to lead to more
transparent costs, particularly regarding recharges if these
are scrutinised more due to improved audit standards and
more pensions expertise amongst the audit teams.
However, guidance on cost accounting also needs to be
improved

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS SUMMARY

ANALYSIS SUMMARY
OPTION 2
SUMMARY

There is a pensions precedent for a Joint Committee
being set up in relation to the London Collective
Investment Vehicle (CIV)
The pooling of Funds leads to economies of scale and
lower costs, therefore any set up costs are likely to be
recuperated through later savings

The main concern with this option is that it leads to the
lowest common denominator (i.e. it only takes as much
risk as the least risky Authority) and assumes that there is
only one investment strategy. However, this option
requires a joint decision making panel so there is no
reason why it could not allow each Fund to continue with
separate investment strategies, which would require
consultation and allow continuation of the democratic
process

There is still also a risk that as the function is still
performed within the Host Authority, that the Host
Authority receives preferential treatment. This could,
however, be managed through horizontal integration,
which would involve developing different investment
strategies dependent upon employer type or by adopting
the TPR approach to funding with more emphasis on
covenant, investment and funding
This option is likely to lead to an additional two or three
members of staff being required which could cost around
£100k to £300k
Option 2 is not IORP compliant
Option 2 would require further development in the way in
which employers are engaged and to ensure that the
Local Authorities do not receive preferential treatment

Page 117

The size of the Joint Committee and number of Funds
involved needs to be considered. For example, if the
number of Funds is too big then the Joint Committee will
be too big (i.e. 5 Funds with 2 representatives each leads
to a Joint Committee of 10 members). However, the
pensions team needs to be large enough to be viable

Option 2 has fewer conflicts of interest than option 1

If option 2 is chosen, there are a number of areas that
need clarifying in order for it to operate well

If each London Borough has its own investment strategy
it lends itself to the Metropolitan Funds giving more
autonomy to each of the Authorities to make option 1 for
Metropolitan Funds more like option 2 for London
Boroughs

Agenda Item 11

A version of option 2 is possible without the transfer of
staff where the Joint Committee still has responsibility for
all decisions

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

64

OPTION 3
SUMMARY

Option 3 is likely to lead to increased opportunities but
increased risks due to lack of local government
control/input

This option is likely to require more complex legislative
changes and it is likely to take significantly longer than
options 1 and 2

This option takes away the conflict from the employer
and pensions function which could lead to a better and
fair treatment of different types of employers and greater
transparency
There are also more opportunities with option 3 to
incorporate best practices from the private sector in order
to improve governance, etc.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

65

Page 118

In order for option 3 to be implemented the questions
regarding IORP and whether it applies to LGPS Fund
needs resolving, for example if there is full separation
between Local Authorities and the Funds is there a crown
guarantee in place and will the Funds be classified as
government schemes? Legal debate will doubtless take
considerable time as will the resulting changes to
regulations

Option 3 is likely to lead to significant set up costs, for
example relating to changes in legislation, setting up the
structure and hiring new staff. However, the costs will
vary depending on whether staff can be transferred under
TUPE and may be recuperated over time due to
decreased ongoing costs

Agenda Item 11

ANALYSIS SUMMARY

YOUR TEAM
Steve Simkins

Urrffa Rafiq
Principal Consultant and Head of
Local Government Pensions

Tel: +44 (0) 113 254 2975

Tel: +44 (0) 161 246 4603

Mobile: +44 (0) 7739 812691

Mobile: +44 (0) 7789 271104

Steve.simkins@kpmg.co.uk

Urrffa.rafiq@kpmg.co.uk

Ian Pollitt

Sara Key

Public Sector Pensions Consultant

Pensions Consultant & Actuary

Tel: +44 (0) 121 232 3316

Tel: +44 (0) 121 609 6158

Mobile: +44 (0) 7825 218471

Mobile: +44 (0) 7880 054342

Ian.pollitt@kpmg.co.uk

Sara.key@kpmg.co.uk

Page 119

Director and Head of UK Public
Sector Pensions

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

66

Agenda Item 11

Page 120

APPENDICIES

SUMMARY OF THE OPTIONS
SUMMARY OF THE THREE OPTIONS UNDER CONSIDERATION

OPTION 1

The Section 151 Officer will still retain specific legal obligations and duties, but not in relation to the Fund.
The new director of the Pension Fund will still be an employee of the Council, however, and as such a conflict still exists.
Whilst there is already a statutory duty to produce accounts for the Fund, this option will require an amendment to the accounting regulations so
the Pension Fund accounts are not included in those of the Council and for a requirement to have separate budgets and separate audit
arrangements for the Pension Fund itself (rather than being audited by the Council auditor).

Page 121

KNOWLEDGE AND UNDERSTANDING

Ensure that there is a more apparent ring fencing of the Scheme Manager function within the Council. This will involve having separate accounts,
separate budgets and a separate senior officer to the Section 151 Officer. The senior officer will be the director of the Pension Fund, and will not
report to the Section 151 Officer – instead they will report directly to the chief executive officer.

Move to a joint committee model where the delegation of the pension function is handed over to a joint committee of 2 or more local Pension
Funds – the new 105 Committee. The decision making would be performed by the joint committee, whilst the day to day operation of the Fund
would either still be done by one of the Councils or by a wholly owned subsidiary of one of the Councils.

OPTION 2

As the decisions making is removed to one step away from the Council – to the joint committee - any conflicts that arise would be better
managed.
The joint committee could be made up of independents (e.g. the Chair), Member Nominated Trustees (MNTlets) and/or Councillors. It would not
be the same as the Section 101 Committee.
It could also be set up such that the joint committee becomes a legal entity in its own right (like South Yorkshire Pension Authority (SYPA)) and
can own the assets and liabilities, employ staff and enter in to contracts but only has one function as a Scheme Manager.
Set up a completely separate legal body to take over the function and which is not run by Councillors and so the decision making is removed from
the Host Authority. As the Councillors are not making the decisions around investments, and cannot have influence over decisions where they
may be preferred over other employers, it removes all potential conflicts.

Agenda Item 11

OPTION 3

The parallels here are of a private sector scheme with a separate board of Trustees protecting members’ interests.

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

68

SECTION
1. Pensions function

DESCRIPTION
Who is the Section 151 Officer (i.e. job title, who do
they report to)?

1.2

Are all of the Section 151 Officer’s responsibilities
delegated to a Section 101 Committee? If not, which
responsibilities are excluded and how are these dealt
with?

1.3

Which officer (or officers) have lead responsibility for
the pensions function?

1.4

Are the administration (including managing the
actuarial valuation) and investment functions delivered
from the same team or different teams? Please give
details of any other structure.

1.5

Who does the officer identified in 1.3 report to?

1.6

Who are the non-Councillor representatives on your
Section 101 Committee meeting and do they have
voting rights?

1.7

What is the make-up of your Pensions Board?

RESPONSE

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Page 122

1.1

Agenda Item 11

FACT FIND

69

FACT FIND
SECTION
2.1 Decision making

DESCRIPTION
How are budgets set for the pensions function and
have there been any recent changes?

2.1.2

How are recharges to the Fund determined and by
whom? What are the key elements of uncertainty in
this calculation?

2.1.3

How are resourcing and recruiting decisions made and
by whom?

Page 123

2.1.1

RESPONSE

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

70

SECTION
2.1 Decision making

DESCRIPTION
How are local investment decisions made which
relate directly to the Administering Authority? How
does this differ in relation to investment decisions
made which relate to other Local Authorities in the
Fund?

2.1.5

How are decisions made in relation to other
employers (e.g. funding, asset allocations on bulk
transfer, investment strategy, discretions)? Do you
treat any other employers differently in relation to your
decisions making process?

2.1.6

Are there any areas of your management of your other
employers you could significantly improve if you had
the freedom (e.g. budget/resources) to do so?

RESPONSE

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Page 124

2.1.4

Agenda Item 11

FACT FIND

71

FACT FIND
SECTION
2.2 Potential conflicts

DESCRIPTION

2.2.2

What do you think are the main areas where potential
conflicts exist for the lead pensions officer, if different
from above?

2.2.3

Are there any areas where you think potential conflicts
exist for the Section 101 Committee, if different from
above?

2.2.4

Are there any areas where you think potential conflicts
exist for the Fund’s professional advisers?

2.2.5

Have you taken steps to manage potential or actual
conflicts in 2.2.1 to 2.2.4 above?

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Agenda Item 11

What do you think are the main areas where potential
conflicts exist for the Section 151 Officer?

Page 125

2.2.1

RESPONSE

72

Consideration

OPTION 1

OPTION 2A – JC

Agenda Item 11

MAPPING OUT THE CONSIDERATIONS
OPTION 3

WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON THE CONFLICT
OF INTERESTS BETWEEN THE SCHEME
MANAGER AND THE HOST AUTHORITY?

Page 126

WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON THE
PRODUCTION OF CLEAR ACCOUNTS?

WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON COST SETTING
I.E. BUDGETS AND RECHARGING OF PENSION
EXPENSES?

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

73

MAPPING OUT THE CONSIDERATIONS
Consideration

OPTION 1

OPTION 2A – JC

OPTION 3

WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON RESOURCES
AND THE TEAM?

Page 127

WILL EXTERNAL RECRUITMENT BE HAMPERED?
(I.E. WHAT IS THE IMPACT OF LG WAGE
STRUCTURES ON OPTIONS 1 AND 2?)

WILL THERE BE AN IMPACT ON THE SKILLSET IN
THE PENSIONS TEAM?

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

74

Consideration

OPTION 1

OPTION 2A – JC

Agenda Item 11

MAPPING OUT THE CONSIDERATIONS
OPTION 3

WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON THE COSTS OF
ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGING THE FUND?

Page 128

WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON INVESTMENT
COSTS?

HAVE YOU ADOPTED THE CIPFA 'GUIDANCE ON
ACCOUNTING FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT
PENSION SCHEME MANAGEMENT COSTS' IN
PREPARING YOUR 2014/15 PENSION FUND
ACCOUNTS? IF NOT, WHY NOT?

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

75

MAPPING OUT THE CONSIDERATIONS
Consideration

OPTION 1

OPTION 2A – JC

OPTION 3

WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON SERVICE
DELIVERY TO MEMBERS?

Page 129

WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON SERVICE
DELIVERY TO EMPLOYERS?

WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON SERVICE
DELIVERY TO THIRD PARTIES?

Agenda Item 11

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

76

Agenda Item 11

ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES

Overall which option do you
prefer and why?

Page 130

In your view, how significant is
compliance with the IORP and
does that factor into the
preferred approach?

Overall which option has the
most challenge attached and
why?

Is there an option which has not
been considered which could be
a way forward?

© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

77

Page 131

The KPMG name, logo and “cutting through complexity” are registered trademarks or trademarks of KPMG International.
© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

kpmg.co.uk

Oliver for KPMG | OM047598A | September 2015

Agenda Item 11

The information contained herein is of a general nature and is not intended to address the circumstances of any particular individual or entity.
Although we endeavour to provide accurate and timely information, there can be no guarantee that such information is accurate as of the date
it is received or that it will continue to be accurate in the future. No one should act on such information without appropriate professional advice
after a thorough examination of the particular situation.

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 133

Agenda Item 11

Aon

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS
September 2018

Agenda Item 11

Page 134

Table of Contents
Executive Summary. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 1
Engaging with stakeholders. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 4
Tier 3: Employer views.  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 8
Charities .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 11
Housing Associations .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 12
Higher and Further Education .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 14

Tier 3: Members’ views. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 17
Views of administering authorities. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 19
Views of LGPS fund actuaries.  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 21
Options for change. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 26
Non-statutory (guidance) - Funding and investment issues .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 27
Statutory (secondary) - Funding and investment issues .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 33
Statutory (primary) - Funding and investment issues .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 47
Non-statutory (guidance) - Communication, administration
and employers duties.  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 48
Statutory (secondary) - Communication, administration
and employers duties.  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 50
Non-statutory (guidance) - Benefits.  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 54
Statutory (secondary) - Benefits.  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 54
Statutory (primary) - Benefits.  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 57

Appendix 1: Employer survey results.  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 58
Appendix 2: Feedback from Employer Listening Sessions. .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 70
Appendix 3: Member survey results. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80
Appendix 4: Feedback from Member Listening Session .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 88
Appendix 5: Administering Authority survey results.  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 89
Appendix 6: Feedback from Administering
Authority listening sessions .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 97

2

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 135

Agenda Item 11

Executive Summary
Background

According to the data supplied by the four

The Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory

are approximately 1,750 Tier 3 employers

Board is established under the Public Service

participating in the LGPS with liabilities of about

Pensions Act 2013 to advise the Secretary of State

£27bn in respect of benefits for over 550,000

for Housing, Communities and Local Government

scheme members including active members,

on the development of the Local Government

those who are in receipt of a pension and leavers

Pension Scheme in England and Wales (LGPS), (the

with preserved benefits.

“Scheme”).
Against the background of financial austerity

actuarial firms advising LGPS funds, there

Main findings

and increasing pressure on the cost of providing

Issues have been identified following engagement

pension benefits, the Scheme Advisory Board

via surveys and listening sessions with key

wished to explore options to protect local

stakeholders including:

authority employers and taxpayers from the
impact of scheme employers leaving the LGPS
without any form of backing or sponsorship or
guarantee to pay their outstanding liabilities. In
the absence of any such guarantee, any unpaid
liabilities on exit fall to be paid by other scheme
employers within the same LGPS administering
authority and by taxpayers as the final guarantor.
This report has therefore been commissioned
by the Scheme Advisory Board to identify the
potential funding, legal and administrative issues
relating to Tier 3 employers and (in conjunction
with the Board Secretariat) to identify options
for change that would improve the funding,
administration, participation and member

• Tier 3 employers’
•	Members of the LGPS employed by Tier 3
employers’
• Administering authorities
•	Representatives of the four actuarial firms
advising LGPS funds
Potential options for change have been identified
to address the issues raised. However, there are
instances where there is a conflict between issues
raised by different stakeholders. In particular
we would highlight the conflict between
administering authorities and employers being

experience with regard to Tier 3 employers.

(generally) supportive of greater flexibility to

Tier 3 employers are those employers participating

representatives who generally wish to maximise

in the LGPS who have no local or national taxpayer

membership of the LGPS unless there are proven

backing or do not have a full guarantee or other

reasons, e.g. affordability grounds that the

pass-through arrangement with a body with such

business can only survive if members currently in

backing. Examples of Tier 3 employers include

the LGPS leave the scheme for future benefits.

universities, further education colleges, housing

support employers exiting the LGPS and member

associations and charities.

This report does not make any recommendations

In order to identify any issues Aon (in conjunction

conflicts between the various stakeholders further

with the Board Secretariat) ran separate online

analysis will be required before any options are

surveys for Tier 3 employers, scheme members

taken forward as recommendations by the Board.

employed by a Tier 3 employer and administering

Further options may also be identified through

authorities. Aon also ran a number of “listening

additional analysis, and the options set out in this

sessions” with various stakeholder groups.

report should not be taken as exhaustive.

and the Board should be aware that due to the

Aon

1

Page 136

Agenda Item 11

Throughout the course of the information-gathering

sections on their approach and the implications

exercise a common area of discussion was around

for Tier 3 employers within their funding strategy

the question “Which employers should participate

and investment strategy statements.

in the LGPS?” It is clear that the Scheme has evolved
significantly over time, to include participation of
employers which may no longer be categorised
as providing services to local government and
this is arguably what has triggered this review. In
our view, any outcome from this review should be
supported by an explicit policy decision by MHCLG
on the extent to which Tier 3 employers should be
encouraged (or required in some cases) to remain in
the LGPS and to what extent they should be allowed
to leave the Scheme.

relation to exiting employers (Regulation 64)
to provide greater flexibility, e.g. similar to that
set out in The Occupational Pension Schemes
(Employer Debt and Miscellaneous Amendments)
Regulations 2018.
•	A requirement for administering authorities
to provide clearer/better information to
employers regarding their LGPS membership,
and introduction of an employer discretion

Issues identified by Tier 3 employers

in relation to members linking or transferring

•	A number of issues relating to the valuation

redundancy costs.

process were raised, including:
–	A general lack of transparency, inability to
negotiate and insufficient consideration of
affordability by administering authorities
and their actuaries.
–	A perceived inconsistency in approach
across funds.
–	Valuation cycles not matching employer

previous membership to help control

Issues identified by members (including union
representatives)
•	Standards of communication are mixed and there
is inconsistent member experience across the
Scheme.
•	The vast majority of members do not want to
leave the LGPS to join an alternative pension
arrangement and Union representatives do not

year-ends and insufficient notice of

favour increased flexibility for exiting employers.

contribution changes to enable effective

This is at odds with the direction of travel among

budgeting.

Tier 3 employers.

•	A lack of flexibility in funding exit costs, leading

•	Lack of flexibility. 55% of members would

to higher contributions than necessary potentially

welcome more flexibility in relation to benefits

leading to further employer exits from the LGPS,

offered by the LGPS.

or, employers being trapped in the scheme as
they would be unable to afford the exit payment.
•	High costs and a lack of visibility of costs
associated with transferred-in benefits on
redundancy.
Options which may address these key
issues include:
•	Changes to the funding regime, e.g. a separate
valuation timetable for Tier 3 employers to
support business planning and facilitate greater
discussion and engagement and a requirement
for administering authorities to include specific

2

•	Amendments to the LGPS regulations in

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Options that may address these key issues include:
•	Mandating/centralised communications or
working toward a minimum standard.
•	Closing potential loopholes in the Regulations or
otherwise legislating to prevent approaches that
enable scheduled body employers to exit the
Scheme by stealth.
•	Provide greater flexibility or choice of benefits
within the LGPS e.g. the option to convert final
salary benefits to CARE; improved awareness of
the 50/50 option.

Page 137

Issues identified by Administering Authorities

Acknowledgements

•	Lack of flexibility in the exit process. 50 out

Aon and the Secretariat to the Board have been

of 64 survey respondents said they would be

delighted with the level of engagement and

supportive of more flexibility in the funding

support both in response to the surveys and

and exit process.

the lively and productive debate in the listening

•	Tier 3 employers lack of understanding of

sessions.

the costs, funding risks or exit costs related

Our thanks go to all of those who participated in

to their participation in the Scheme. This is

and publicised the surveys, as well as contributors

exacerbated by low levels of engagement in

who added to the success of the listening sessions,

both investment and funding strategy.

including:

•	Variation in funding treatment for Tier 3

Agenda Item 11

•	Representatives from administering authorities

employers is a concern to some funds,

who participated in our listening meetings, and

especially those with exposure to larger Tier 3

the South West Councils.

employers.
•	Representatives from housing associations and
Options that may address these key issues

the National Housing Federation and their

include:

advisors.

• Amendments to the exit regulations (as above).
•	Encouraging or compelling greater
consultation on investment and funding
strategy. Improving frequency and quality
of information provided to employers by

•	Representatives from universities, colleges,
the Universities and Colleges Employers’
Association and the Association of Colleges.
•	Representatives of employers within the
charities sector.

the administering authority on funding risks
(ongoing and exit).
•	Improving consistency of approach by
encouraging best practice across all funds,

•	Representatives from the Trades Unions.
•	Representatives from the four actuarial firms
advising LGPS funds.

including a requirement to understand the
fund’s risk exposure to Tier 3 employers.
Consideration of covenant assessment and
risk mitigation, insurance and use of sub-funds
within funds.

Aon

3

Agenda Item 11

Page 138

Engaging with stakeholders
Executive Summary of Section
This section details the methods used to engage and gather feedback from the various stakeholder
groups identified by the Scheme Advisory Board
Secretariat including:
• Tier 3 employers
• Members employed by Tier 3 employers
• Administering authorities; and
• Actuarial advisers to administering authorities
Information was gathered from a number of different sources including targeted surveys and listening
sessions (covering face-to-face meetings or conference calls).
The surveys received a good response rate:
• Administering authority survey - 64 responses representing 59 funds
• Scheme member survey - 3,467 responses representing members from 62 funds
• Scheme employer survey - 299 responses representing employers from 58 funds
All key stakeholder groups were represented at the listening sessions:
•	Administering authorities were represented by delegates at the Pension Managers’ Conference and
further attendees at additional meetings.
• Tier 3 employers were represented by employers and representatives from the:
– charities sector
– housing sector
–	higher and further education sector
• Tier 3 members were represented by GMB, UNISON and Unite
•	LGPS advisers to the administering authorities were represented by Aon, Mercer, Barnett
Waddingham and Hymans Robertson
Further detail on the engagement with stakeholders is provided in the remainder of this section.

4

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 139

Agenda Item 11

Engaging with stakeholders
Objectives
The key objectives in relation to stakeholder engagement were as follows:
•	Securing high levels of engagement with all stakeholder groups across the various employer categories.
•	Facilitating well-run, targeted meetings that encourage views to be shared openly.
•	Provision of timely notes on feedback from stakeholders to ensure views are accurately recorded/
reflected.
To meet these objectives, Aon, in conjunction with the Board Secretariat, ran separate online surveys for
Tier 3 employers, scheme members employed by a Tier 3 employer and administering authorities. Aon also
ran a number of “listening sessions” with various stakeholder groups.
Further details regarding the surveys and listening sessions are set out below.

Surveys
Working with the Board Secretariat, Aon designed and issued stakeholder surveys which ran from 27 November
2017 to 31 January 2018. Three separate surveys were launched covering Tier 3 employers, scheme members
employed by a Tier 3 employer and administering authorities.
Administering authorities were encouraged to complete the administering authority survey and were asked
to forward the employer and scheme member surveys to their Tier 3 employers. Regular reminders were
sent to the administering authorities by both the Board Secretariat and Aon (verbally, via email, or through
Aon’s LGPS Newsletters).
Relevant industry bodies were also asked to publicise the surveys to their members (UCEA1 and AoC2 for
higher/further education; NHF3 for housing associations; and PLSA4 for charities). The scheme members’
survey was also publicised on the national scheme member website.
Responses:
Administering authority survey: 64 responses representing 59 funds, with representation across different
departments including:

	UCEA: Universities and Colleges Employers Association
	AoC: Association of Colleges
	NHF: National Housing Federation
4
	PLSA: Pensions and Lifetime Savings Association
1
2
3

Aon

5

Agenda Item 11

Page 140

Scheme member survey: 3,467 fully completed responses including 1,887 from participating members
working for a higher education employer, 1,006 working for a further education establishment, 416
working for a housing association and 122 working for a charity. 36 responses have been discounted as it
was not clear whether the respondent worked for a Tier 3 employer. Responses covered members across
62 LGPS Funds (299 respondents were not sure which Fund they are a member of). The following chart
illustrates the member responses received (split by employer sector):

Employer survey: 299 responses including 50 from a higher education establishment, 95 from a further
education establishment, 46 from housing associations and 66 from a charities or other not-for-profit
organisation. 42 responses were discounted as it was not clear whether the respondent represented a
Tier 3 employer. Employer responses covered 58 LGPS Funds. The following chart illustrates the employer
responses received (split by employer sector):

The administering authority and employer surveys included an opportunity for participants to request further
involvement in the project.

6

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 141

Agenda Item 11

Listening Sessions
Listening sessions were held with representatives from all identified key stakeholder groups. Survey respondents
who indicated they would like an opportunity for further involvement in the project were included in invitations
to a listening session.
Notes taken from listening sessions were shared with participants to ensure their views were accurately
represented. These notes were also shared with anyone unable to make the meeting due to other commitments
to enable further input if required.
A summary of all the sessions held is provided below.
Administering authority sessions:
•	3 concurrent sessions at the Pension Managers’ Conference in Torquay on 21 November 2017. Delegates at
the conference represented approximately 45 funds, mainly from the administration function.
•	Further sessions in London on 15 March 2018 (15 participants); Birmingham on 23 February 2018 (4
participants) and Leeds on 27 February 2018 (5 participants) to enable administering authorities not in
attendance at the Pensions Managers’ Conference to participate in the review. These meetings also provided
a further opportunity for input for any survey respondents who indicated that they wished to participate
further in this research and as an opportunity to capture the views of administering authority officers in areas
other than administration.
Member representatives:
•	A session with representatives from GMB and UNISON on 19 January 2018, representing the scheme
members employed by Tier 3 employers. Notes were shared with representatives from Unite for comment.
Employers
•	A meeting on 22 January 2018 with representatives from housing associations (13 attendees, comprising 2
representatives from the National Housing Federation, 9 representatives from separate employers (of which
2 employers participate in multiple LGPS Funds) and 2 consultants at the request of the NHF). Notes were
circulated to a further 3 employer representatives who were unable to attend the meeting.
•	A meeting on 31 January 2018 with representatives from Higher Education and Further Education
employers (27 attendees representing 15 Universities; 7 Colleges; UCEA and the AoC). Views of Higher
Education and Further Education representatives were collated separately, recognising potential
differences in views and issues.
•	A series of individual calls with representatives of 5 charities participating in the LGPS over the period
13th – 20th March 2018.
Actuarial advisers
•	A session on 24 November 2017 with representatives from the four actuarial firms advising administering
authorities in the LGPS (Aon; Mercer; Barnett Waddingham and Hymans Robertson).

Aon

7

Page 142

Agenda Item 11

Tier 3: Employer views
Executive Summary of Section
This section summarises feedback from Tier 3 employers participating in the LGPS, following
engagement via an online survey and a series of listening meetings/calls.
Feedback was collected from three different employer sectors covering charities, housing associations
and the higher/further education sector.

Survey responses
In total 257 responses to the survey were received, split as follows:
Charities

Housing Association

Higher/Further Education

Total

66

46

50/95

257

For those who responded to the survey, only a very small proportion (less than 7%) of employers in the
charity or housing association sectors admit new members to the LGPS, compared to a much higher
proportion (c60%) in the Higher/Further education sector.
Charities tend to have a very small active membership (83% had less than 50 members), whilst the vast
majority (c95%) of Higher/Further education institutions had more than 50 active members. Housing
associations lie between the two with the majority (c74%) having more than 50 active members.
Contribution rates to the LGPS for charities and housing associations were generally higher than those
paid by the Higher/Further education sector.
A very high proportion (i.e. 74% - 97%) of the employers surveyed believe:
• their employees understand or partly understand the LGPS benefits;
• they have sufficient access to expertise regarding their participation;
• they understand and comply with their responsibilities as an employer in the LGPS.
Issues that can be identified from the results of the survey are set out below:
•	over half of the respondents did not know if the investment strategy was suitable for their employer
(implying a lack of understanding/engagement in this area);
•	a significant minority (c30% - 45%) sometimes or often experience difficulties in providing data for
the administration of the Scheme;
•	a reasonable proportion (c26%-28%) of respondents from the charity and housing association sector
stated that the LGPS did not meet their overall needs;
•	whilst the majority of employers appear to understand the exit process and exit costs a significant
minority of employers did not.

8

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 143

Agenda Item 11

Listening sessions
In total 38 employer representatives (plus 5 representatives from relevant associations) attended the listening
sessions, split as follows:
Charities

Housing Association

Higher/Further Education

Total

5

9 plus 2 NHF reps

24 plus 2 UCEA reps and

38 plus 5 reps

1 AoC rep
A summary of the key issues identified from the listening meetings, is set out below.
Member experience
•	Representatives from housing associations and the Higher/Further Education sector felt that members do
not fully understand the “value” of their benefits and more could be done to engage all members (not
just those close to retirement).
•	There was some concern (particularly from housing associations and the Further Education sector) that
members were not fully aware of the 50:50 option with further work being needed to educate employers
on the financial impact of the 50:50 option.
Employer experience
• Concerns were raised over a number of aspects of the valuation process including:
–	general lack of transparency and inability to negotiate on funding strategy or contributions as part of
valuation process;
–	inconsistencies across funds (in terms of willingness to engage with employers, default treatment and
how employer specific information is taken into account);
–	valuation cycles not fitting into year-end cycles and contribution changes following a valuation coming
into force too quickly, all of which create budgeting problems;
–	affordability not being taken into account (particularly for charities).
• Many issues were raised with regard to exit costs:
–	the general feeling was that more flexibility was needed with exit costs being determined in a fair and
consistent manner;
–	the current approach left some employers feeling trapped – they can’t afford or control ongoing costs
but have no realistic or affordable means of ceasing future accrual.
•	Many employers raised concerns about the risk and cost of members transferring other benefits into the
Scheme if they are subsequently made redundant (and are aged 55 or over so are entitled to immediate,
unreduced benefits).
•	A number of employers (particularly housing associations and those in the Further/Higher Education
sectors) said that the LGPS was impacting business planning (such as mergers and restructures).
Overall, particularly for the Further/Higher Education sectors, there was a view that the LGPS was less of
a good fit both for employers and younger employees where more flexibility was deemed necessary to
accommodate changing working patterns.
Further detail on the survey results and the information gathered from the listening sessions, split by
employer sector, is set out in the remainder of this section.

Aon

9

Agenda Item 11

Page 144

Tier 3: Employer views
Introduction

Universities

The following sections set out the main issues

Participation of universities in the LGPS varies,

identified by Tier 3 employers participating in

with some (those created by the Further &

the LGPS, compiled following engagement with

Higher Education Act 1992) qualifying as scheme

this stakeholder group via an online survey and a

employers under Schedule 2 Part 1 of the

series of listening sessions. Further detail on the

Regulations, and others (those that don’t fall under

feedback from the survey responses is set out in

the definition in Schedule 2 Part 1) participating

Appendix 1. Further detail on the feedback from

voluntarily as admission bodies. Not all universities

the listening sessions is set out in Appendix 2.

participate in the LGPS – those not eligible to
join the LGPS (principally pre-1992 institutions)

Overall, across the Tier 3 employer stakeholder

often have their own arrangements, which

group, Aon and the LGPS Advisory Board received

have traditionally been self-administered trust-

257 survey responses from Tier 3 employers. In

based schemes for non-academic staff but are

addition, separate listening meetings were held

increasingly defined contribution in nature.

with higher education; further education; housing
associations and charities.

Most universities only participate in the LGPS
for their non-academic staff, with teaching staff

Background on nature of participation
The Local Government Pension Scheme
Regulations 2013 (“the Regulations”) set out
three categories of employer. Categories of
employers listed in Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the
Regulations are generally referred to as ‘scheduled
bodies’. These bodies are required to participate
in the LGPS and admit new members to the
Scheme. Bodies listed in Part 2 of Schedule 2
can choose to designate employees or roles for
scheme membership – these bodies are known

Scheme (in the case of post-1992 universities) or
the Universities’ Superannuation Scheme (USS).
Further Education Colleges
These bodies are required to participate in the
LGPS, as they are bodies set up under the Further
& Higher Education Act 1992 and are listed in
Schedule 2 Part 1 as scheme employers.
Housing Associations

as ‘designating bodies’ or ‘resolution bodies’.

The majority of housing associations participate

Schedule 2 Part 3 allows administering authorities

in the LGPS as admission bodies, although

to enter into an admission agreement with certain

there are a small number that qualify as scheme

bodies so that some or all of their employees

employers under Schedule 2 Part 1. Most housing

may participate in the Scheme – these bodies are

associations participate in the LGPS because

known as ‘admission bodies’. Admission bodies

they were originally part of a local authority

can choose to close the admission agreement to

and became admission bodies when they were

new employees and possibly to future accrual for

established as separate entities providing social

existing employees.

housing or other services to the local authority.

Under earlier regulations, admission bodies were

The majority of the housing associations which

categorised as Transferee Admission Bodies (TABs)

participated in this review do not offer the LGPS to

and Community Admission Bodies (CABs). TABs

new employees.

(now paragraph 1(d) bodies) are/were private
sector bodies that had taken on staff as a result of
an outsourcing from a scheme employer. CABs
are/were bodies that at the time of joining the
LGPS had sufficient links with local government to
justify membership. CABs are generally charities or
other not-for-profit admission bodies.
10

generally eligible for the Teachers’ Pension

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Charities
The majority of charities participate in the LGPS
as Community Admission Bodies (CABs), although
there are some that participate as Transferee
Admission Bodies (TABs). TABs have a guarantee

Page 145

Agenda Item 11

from the original scheme employer via Regulation

were categorised as TABs or CABs (around the year

64 so have been excluded from the definition of

2000) including many who operate across local

a Tier 3 employer. This review includes charities

authority boundaries and no longer have a strong

that joined the LGPS before admission bodies

link to a particular Tier 1 scheme employer.

Charities
Charities engagement

Employer experience

We analysed 66 survey responses from employers

• Cost of participation / exit

identified as charities, and ran listening meetings

	Charities typically face higher ongoing costs

with 5 employers.

Summary of issues identified
Issues raised directly or inferred from the
information gathered include:
Duties
• Difficulties providing data
	A third (35%) of employers sometimes or often
experience difficulties in providing data for
the administration of the scheme. This was
generally driven by lack of clarity on what they

of participation compared to other employers
(from the survey analysis) but with few resources
to meet these costs or react to fluctuations in
cost. Where exit costs are understood they
are generally seen as prohibitive and the
expectation of lump sum payments unrealistic
(given a typical charity balance sheet).
Employers can feel trapped as they can’t afford
the ongoing costs of the scheme, but neither
can they afford the exit costs.
• Poor experience of triennial valuations
	The triennial valuation process generally does

need to provide, along with difficulty meeting

not work well for these employers - they find

timescales and required levels of data quality

out results late in the process making it difficult

and resourcing (e.g. as a result of the lack of a

or impossible to plan for rate changes (in

pensions specialist role).

particular unexpected increases) and do not

Member experience
•	Reliance on administering authority
communications

understand the valuation results. Their view
is that affordability is not sufficiently taken
into account and there is insufficient time for
discussion with the administering authority
ahead of contributions coming into force.

	Whilst 92% of respondents believe their
membership understands or partly understands
the benefits the LGPS offers we noted from
the listening meetings that these employers
are heavily dependent on the communications
from their local fund.

•	Possible inconsistency of responses / lack of
understanding
	The survey results indicate a potential
mismatch between the closed nature of
participation (only 4 of 62 respondents said

Aon

11

Agenda Item 11

Page 146

their employer admits new members to the

for them as an employer. Based on the listening

LGPS) and low active membership and the

meetings employers rely on the administering

relatively high proportion of employers (74%)

authority to provide the advice/information

not expecting to cease contributions to the

they need leading to a lack of independent

scheme in the next 10 years.

thought and challenge. Participants were

	Further, it is a concern that many do not
understand the exit process or costs – only 57%
of employers who expect to cease contributions
said that they understood the exit process and
only 47% understood the exit costs.

typically of the view that due to their size they
accept they have little say in the investment
strategy. Similarly the funding strategy
statement and consultation process did not
appear to be well understood by participants
in the listening meetings.

	68% of participants did not know if the
investment strategy of the Fund was suitable

Housing Associations

Housing Associations engagement

Duties

Aon analysed 46 survey responses from employers

• Difficulties providing data

identified as housing associations, and ran a

	28% of respondents sometimes or often

listening meeting on 22 January 2018 with

experience difficulties in providing data for the

representatives from 9 housing associations

administration of the scheme predominantly

(including two employers who participate in

due to requirements being unclear and

multiple LGPS Funds), 2 representatives from the

difficulty meeting the timescales. Detailed

National Housing Federation and 2 consultants

discussions during the listening meeting were

in attendance at the NHF’s request. Notes were

consistent with these views.

circulated to further representatives of housing
associations who were unable to participate in
the listening meeting, with additional comments
captured and incorporated into the final notes.

Summary of issues identified
Issues raised directly or inferred from the
information gathered include:

12

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Member experience
•	Possible lack of appreciation of the value of
benefits
	Whilst 89% of respondents believe their
employer’s membership understands or partly
understands the benefits that the LGPS offers,
some employer representatives questioned

Page 147

Agenda Item 11

whether their LGPS membership understands

CABs as they pose a lower risk than some other

the value of membership, in part due to

employers.

communications from the employer.
• Lack of awareness of 50:50 option
	Most participants believe their members

•	Cost of participation / exit and perceived
strong covenant
	Ongoing costs of participation for housing

are not aware of the 50:50 Scheme option.

associations are higher than higher and further

Further, some employers are reluctant to

education institutions surveyed, with 24% of

communicate it due to a belief that it will not

housing associations paying 26% or more of

save them money as they will continue to pay

payroll towards contributions, compared to

full contributions. Further work is required

around 10% paying 26% or more in Higher and

to educate employers on the potential cost

Further Education establishments. High costs

reductions and increase awareness of this

were cited as a key reason why the LGPS does

option among members.

not (for some employers) meet the employer’s

• Lack of consistency across funds
	Where workshops are run by administering
authorities these are valued by members.
However these are not available across
the LGPS leading to inconsistent member
experience.
Employer experience
• Mixed experience of administering authorities
	Employers have very different experiences

overall needs.
	Increasing costs have already led many to
close to new entrants, or keep participation
under review. Only 3 of the 46 respondents
said their employer continues to admit some
new members to the LGPS and no respondents
admit all new employees into the LGPS. Costs
typically increase on closing to new entrants
suggesting funds are anticipating exit, driven
by the Regulations crystallising a debt at
the point the last active member ceases

(some good, some bad) of administering

contributing. Housing associations believe

authorities in terms of communication, training

that they are of very strong covenant and

and format of data requirements.

could continue to meet pension contributions

• Inconsistency of funding treatment
	The reasons for perceived inconsistency of
funding treatment across the LGPS are not
well understood by housing associations,
suggesting that:
–	Communications from administering
authorities regarding valuation approaches
are not clear, and/or
–	There are some differences in approach
which can only be justified by subjective
factors.
	The use and extent of risk assessments by local
funds differ markedly – some take into account
employer specific information, whereas
others apply a blanket policy based on type of
participation only. Housing associations believe
they should be treated differently to other

for many years into the future. Although the
Regulations permit spreading of payments
of a crystallised debt, some administering
authorities are reluctant to allow this.
	While housing associations referenced their
strong balance sheet they mentioned that
their Regulator would not expect them to
grant pension funds a charge over assets. It is
therefore questionable what value and comfort
these assets could provide to administering
authorities.
•	Redundancy costs for transfers-in/linked
benefits
	Linking previous benefits and transfers-in can
lead to high redundancy costs for employers.
The lack of information from funds means it is
difficult to plan effectively or to validate costs

Aon

13

Agenda Item 11

Page 148

associated with unreduced early retirements.

slightly or completely dissatisfied with the level

Housing associations are also concerned about

of engagement).

the implications of the potential cap on exit costs.
• Lack of representation/influence
	Housing associations do not feel well

• Effect on business planning
	Housing associations believe the LGPS impinges
on business planning, including mergers and

represented or engaged in the running of

restructures. There is a risk of the goalpost

the LGPS. 13% of respondents believed that

moving upon restructure (renegotiation of

the investment strategy of their Fund was not

admission and loss of guarantees) and the

suitable for their employer and 43% did not

associated time and cost related to these issues

know if the investment strategy was suitable or

can be high. This is particularly relevant given

not. Satisfaction with the level of engagement

the survey showed 47% of employers were, or

employers have in the running of the scheme

were thinking of restructuring their organisation

was broadly similar to that of other Tier 3

(mainly mergers).

employers (i.e. only a small proportion are

Higher and Further Education

Higher and Further Education
engagement

Duties

Aon analysed 145 survey responses from

	Around half of the HE and a third of the FE

employers identified as Higher Education

survey respondents sometimes or often

(HE) or Further Education (FE), and held a

experience difficulties in providing data

listening meeting on 31 January 2018 with

predominantly due to requirements being

representatives from 15 universities, 8 colleges,

unclear and difficulty meeting the timescales.

UCEA and AoC. Notes were circulated to further

This is consistent with the views of attendees

representatives who were unable to participate

at the listening meeting.

in the listening meetings, with additional
comments captured and incorporated into the

• Mixed experiences with their local fund

final meeting notes.

	Similar to views from housing associations, HE/

Summary of issues identified
Issues raised directly or inferred from the
information gathered include:

14

• Difficulties providing data

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

FE institutions have very different experiences
of their local fund (some good, some bad) in
terms of communication; training, format of
data requirements and access to underlying
pension data.

Page 149

Member experience
• Lack of appreciation of the value of benefits
	90% of respondents believe their employer’s
membership either understands or partly
understands the benefits that the LGPS offers.
However, the majority of participants at the
listening meeting felt that members did not
fully understand the value of their benefits
and more needed to be done to engage all
members (not just those close to retirement).
• Lack of awareness of 50:50 option
	This related to the FE sector only - those in the
HE sector felt that most of their membership
was aware of the 50:50 Scheme option. Similar
to comments made by housing associations,
further work is required to educate employers
on the potential cost reductions and to
increase awareness of this option among
members.
• Lack of flexibility
	Views from the listening meetings were that
workforces are changing and the LGPS is too
inflexible to provide members what they want
or need throughout their career.
Employer experience
•	Lack of transparency and inconsistency in
valuation approach
	There is clear dissatisfaction over the lack of

Agenda Item 11

(e.g. in terms of how willing they are to
engage in negotiations). Valuation cycles
not fitting into year-end cycles also creates
problems in relation to budgeting/financial
planning for some HE/FE institutions.
	HE/FE institutions believe that the position
of the sector is fundamentally different from
other “Tier 3” employers and having their
own category/status is something that they
would welcome with more work being done
to understand the covenant of the sector (as a
default position).
• Cost of participation / exit
	Employers feel unable to control costs either
by negotiation or by reducing benefits some feel the current level of accrual is too
generous.
	The survey shows that for 40% of respondents
no new staff are eligible to join the LGPS.
There are also a number of HE institutions
investigating the option of setting up
subsidiary companies to enable them to offer
alternative pension provision (at least for new
staff). The general view from the listening
meeting is that more flexibility is needed in
this area and exit costs need to be fair and
affordable rather than prohibitive.
•	Redundancy costs for transfers-in/linked
benefits
	Similar to other employers, linkage of benefits

transparency and influence on the valuation

and transfers in can pose a high cost to HE/FE

process and inconsistencies between funds

institutions when dealing with redundancies.

Aon

15

Agenda Item 11

Page 150

• Lack of representation/influence

• Effect on business planning

	A large minority of HE/FE institutions do not

	The LGPS impinges on business planning

feel particularly well represented or engaged

such as mergers and restructures. This is

in the running of their Fund due primarily to:

particularly relevant given the survey showed

–	
lack of engagement in the investment
strategy of the fund (although only 4% of
respondents believed that the investment
strategy of their Fund was not suitable for
their employer, 50% did not know if the
investment strategy was suitable or not); and
–	
minimal representation at national or

16

a relatively high proportion (30%) of HE/
FE institutions were, or were thinking of,
restructuring their organisation.
In general, the view from the listening meetings
was that the LGPS is becoming less of a good
fit for HE/FE institutions. This contrasts with the
results of the survey which showed that only 5%

local level (satisfaction with the level of

(of HE) and 10% (of FE) institutions believed that

engagement HE/FE institutions have in

the LGPS did not meet their overall needs. This

the running of the Scheme was broadly

difference may be due to views on the current

similar to that of other Tier 3 employers,

position versus the expected future position as

with 13% being dissatisfied, either slightly

the sector acknowledges that pension provision

or completely, and around 30% being

for staff across their organisations is becoming

indifferent).

more fragmented.

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 151

Agenda Item 11

Tier 3: Members’ views
Executive Summary of Section
This section summarises feedback from employees of Tier 3 employers who are members of the LGPS,
following engagement via an online survey and a listening session held with union representatives.
In total 3,4675 responses to the survey were received split by employer sector as follows:
Charities

Housing Association

Higher/Further Education

Total

122

416

1,887/1,006

3,431

A relatively high proportion (above 70%) of respondents believe that:
• they understand the retirement and death benefits offered by the LGPS; and
• the LGPS meets their retirement needs.
Whilst the majority of members (c76%) did not want the ability to join an alternative pension arrangement, a
small majority of members (c55%) would like more flexibility in relation to the benefits offered by the LGPS.
Only 35% of members said they were completely or slightly satisfied with the level of engagement of their
fund with a large number of members requesting more information to be provided in a clearer and possibly
electronic format. Responses to member queries were felt to take too long with improvements needed in
this area.
Members viewed the communication from the scheme as mixed – although a large proportion rated the
communications they received as good or excellent.
Views from the unions were similar to those of the members although a number of concerns were raised in
relation to the smaller Tier 3 employers (like charities):
•	small HR departments hinders employers’ ability to provide members with the information/support they
need;
• discretions for smaller employers were felt to be less generous than larger employers;
• smaller employers have little representation in the running of the scheme.
The overall view from the unions was that as smaller employers don’t have a “voice” funds often perceive
them as a bigger risk which has a disproportionate effect on Tier 3 employers.
The unions identified a number of other issues:
•	dialogue with funds over investment pooling was proving difficult with some councils believing that
unions shouldn’t be involved in investment decisions (unions do not agree with this view);
•	some employers appear to be putting pressure on employees to opt-out of the scheme due to rising costs
and the impact this has on job losses;
•	sub-contracting or setting up separate companies to avoid having to enrol employees into the LGPS is
becoming more prevalent.
Overall the unions felt that the LGPS was suitable for members and would not welcome additional flexibility.
This is in slight contrast to the members’ view.
Further detail on the survey results and the information gathered from the listening session, is set out in
Appendices 3 and 4.
5	36 of the 3,467 responses were discounted as it was not clear whether the respondent worked for a Tier 3 employer.

Aon

17

Agenda Item 11

Page 152

Tier 3: Members’ views
Scheme member engagement

Generally, the unions felt that for members,

Aon analysed 3,431 survey responses from scheme

welcome further flexibility - members find too

members who identified themselves as being

much flexibility confusing and flexibility doesn’t

employed by a Tier 3 employer, and ran a listening

really work for the low-paid. The unions made

meeting on 19 January 2018 with representatives

it clear that they would not be happy with an

from Unison and GMB. Both unions have

alternative benefit structure for employees of

large numbers of members across the Tier 3

Tier 3 employers. However, the survey results

employer sectors. Aon shared the notes with

suggest that while members are happy to be

representatives of Unite for comment.

offered the LGPS and don’t want the flexibility of

Summary of issues identified
Issues raised directly or inferred from the
information gathered include:
Members are being made to feel that they should
opt out of the scheme, because employers are
making clear to members how expensive the LGPS
is and that jobs will need to go as a result.

the LGPS is suitable as it is, and would not

alternative schemes, members would welcome
more flexibility within the LGPS – although given
that a number of comments relate to a lack of
understanding of the scheme (see below) it is
not clear whether members are fully aware of the
current flexibilities on offer.
The survey results suggest that communication
about the scheme is mixed – although a large
proportion of members rated the communications

Some Tier 3 employers are making offers to

they receive as good or excellent, it is clear from

buy employees out of the scheme, or are sub-

the comments received that many members still

contracting/setting up separate companies to

struggle to understand their benefits and would

avoid the LGPS. In the unions’ experience this is

welcome more opportunity for face-to-face

particularly prevalent in the FE sector. This needs

meetings and presentations, as well as a quicker

to be resolved / prevented to stop members

response when queries are raised. There is also an

leaving the scheme.

expectation from members for electronic access to
up-to-date information about their benefits.

Members of the smaller employers tend to have
a poorer member experience than those of larger

The level of engagement is mixed. Unions are

employers, although it is recognised that this isn’t

well represented at both a national and local level

specific to Tier 3 employers.

and are satisfied with that position. However
the survey results of the members themselves

18

A concern was raised about the impact on

suggest that more could be done to engage those

members of non-Tier 3 employers, if their

members who aren’t in the unions and therefore

employers are left to pick up the costs of a Tier 3

don’t hear about the work the unions do on the

employer failing.

members’ behalf.

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 153

Agenda Item 11

Views of administering authorities
Executive Summary of Section
This section summarises feedback from administering authorities across the LGPS, following
engagement via an online survey and a series of listening meetings.

Survey responses
In total 64 responses were received representing views from 59 funds. The majority of responses were
provided from the individuals working within administration, but responses also included views from
finance, investment, and other areas such as governance and pensions management.
50 of the 64 respondents agreed that there should be more flexibility in the funding and exit process for
Tier 3 employers, but only 20 respondents would support more flexibility in the benefit structure of the
LGPS for Tier 3 Employers.
A number of respondents believe employers do not understand their responsibilities, especially in the
charities sector, and expressed concerns over inaccurate/incomplete data, and late year end returns.
Of further concern, fewer than half of respondents believe ‘Tier 3 employers understand the cost of their
participation in the scheme, the ongoing funding risks, or the exit funding risks’.
Participants also gave low scores in levels of engagement in investment and funding strategy, again
there was more of a marked concern in the charities sector.

Listening sessions
4 listening meetings were held to enable views of administering authorities to be gathered, and a
summary of the attendance at these meetings is set out below:
Meeting date

Number of administering authorities represented

22 November 2017

45

23 February 2018

4

27 February 2018

3

5 March 2018

18

The listening meetings provided further insight and context to survey results, including:
•	A general view that while Tier 3 employers’ understanding of their duties and responsibilities was
mixed, this was reflective of most fund employers rather than specific to Tier 3.
•	Engagement from Tier 3 employers is typically only during the triennial valuation process, and again
while engagement in investment and funding strategy was perceived as low, this was also true for
other employers in the funds.
•	Funding treatment for Tier 3 employers varies across funds and employer risk is a concern, especially
for the larger Tier 3 employers.
Further detail on the survey results and the information gathered from the listening sessions, is set out in
Appendices 5 and 6.

Aon

19

Agenda Item 11

Page 154

Views of administering authorities
Administering authority engagement

the HE/FE sector which tends to represent the

We analysed 64 survey responses from

categories. There are also doubts about whether

administering authorities, as well as running a

it is still appropriate for Tier 3 employers to

number of listening sessions:

participate in the LGPS, especially those which

•	Pensions Managers’ Conference in Torquay on
22 November 2017 where approximately 45

largest liabilities compared to the other Tier 3

currently have no choice in the matter (e.g. HE/
FE sector).

administering authorities were represented

There is a lack of understanding among Tier

(mainly on the administration side)

3 employers relating to their duties and

•	Meeting held on 23 February 2018 where 4
administering authorities were represented*
•	Meeting held on 27 February 2018 where 3
administering authorities were represented*
•	Meeting held on 5 March 2018 where 18

responsibilities, but this is typical across all
employers.
There is a discrepancy between how Tier 3
employers view their security and how funds
view it – for example most funds raised concerns
about FE colleges but one fund commented that

administering authorities were represented*

the colleges themselves would not agree as they

*some of those attending the later meetings were

fails. However, another fund has been told by DfE

also represented at Torquay.

that the Government will not step in.

Summary of issues identified

Funds also believe that more needs to be done to

believe the Government will step in if a college

assist exits from the scheme – 50 of the 64 survey
Issues raised directly or inferred from the

respondents said they would welcome more

information gathered include:

flexibility in the regulations allowing employers to

Administering authorities are concerned about
the lack of guarantee, particularly in respect of

20

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

pay off an exit debt gradually.

Page 155

Agenda Item 11

Views of LGPS fund actuaries
Executive Summary of Section
This section summarises feedback from representatives of the four firms advising administering
authorities across the LGPS, following engagement via a listening meeting held on 24 November 2017.

Listening meeting
The listening meeting covered a variety of topics including:
• A discussion on the background on Tier 3 employers
• The risk Tier 3 employers pose to LGPS funds
• Employer duties, and engagement
• Workload generated by Tier 3 employers
• Investment and funding strategy
The discussion also covered various potential options for change covering areas of:
• Governance and disclosure
• The exit process and regulations
• Other options for protecting non Tier 3 employers

Aon

21

Agenda Item 11

Page 156

Views of LGPS fund actuaries
Actuarial firms represented in the listening meetings

All stressed that some charities and other Tier

The LGPS Administering Authorities are advised

accrual and not crystallise the exit debt. However,

by four actuarial firms: Aon; Mercer; Barnett

employer covenant is a key issue for funds so must

Waddingham and Hymans Robertson. Each firm

be, or continue to be, addressed.

was represented in a listening meeting held on
24 November 2017, by Chris Archer; John Livesey;
Graeme Muir and Barry McKay respectively.

Background on Tier 3 employers and
the risk to LGPS funds
The risk to LGPS funds associated with Tier 3
employers has increased over time due to:
•	an increase in the number of Tier 3 employers
through reorganisations including removal of
services from local government control;
•	increased costs of participation in the scheme;
•	spending constraints impacting Tier 3
employers’ income.
HE and FE in particular have been affected by
changes in funding.

and that ideally they should be able to stop

The current regulations mean some Tier 3
admission bodies are retaining a single active
member to avoid crystallising an exit debt whilst
seeking to minimise the costs of additional benefit
accrual.
All participants have experience of re-structuring
related to Tier 3 employers in the LGPS, including:
•	Housing associations converting to a
community benefits society. In one case the
council agreed to become guarantor following
the change in employer status. Housing
associations are typically larger employers
within a fund so are a concern.
•	Housing associations merging, leading to legal
advice on whether this would trigger exit
debts. It was noted that ideally exit payments
would not be needed if the transfer remains

In recent years there has been a slowdown in

within the LGPS and liabilities continue to be

Tier 3 employers joining the LGPS with all seeing

backed by a participating employer.

more examples of Tier 3 employers exiting or
considering exiting the scheme than looking to
join. However, one actuary expressed a concern
that some services still have potential for future
reorganisation, such as social care.
Regarding funding strategy, the actuaries believe
that employers are treated fairly within funds

•	Colleges investigating whether they could
merge and leave the Fund without paying exit
debts for the former employees. In some cases
colleges had been advised that they could
leave without paying an exit debt which was a
concern.
•	Colleges and universities setting up wholly

but acknowledge that there is inconsistency as

owned companies and offering an alternative

strategy depends on the administering authority’s

arrangement (typically defined contribution

approach and risk appetite.

schemes) for new employees, so ultimately

Tier 3 employers are believed to be a significant

leaving the LGPS.

issue for some funds, but for others the amounts

Employer duties, engagement, and employer

at risk are so small they don’t want to spend

generated workload

substantial governance budget in this area,
especially where administering authority resource
is constrained.

22

3 employers are currently trapped in the LGPS,

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

All agreed that in general data for Tier 3
employers is no better or worse than for other
employers. The key factor is the quality of payroll

Page 157

or administration contact at each employer and
to some extent, how the administering authority

Agenda Item 11

Governance and disclosure

communicates with employers.

It was suggested that guidance should be

It is not a significant issue for the LGPS as a whole

disclosed for Tier 3 to help make Tier 1 and Tier 2

if small employers’ data is poor, except for the

employers (and the fund) aware of the risks, e.g.

employer themselves (as their valuation results

showing assets and liabilities for each Tier, and

could be materially impacted).

possibly further sub-categories because colleges;

Proportionally more time is spent on smaller
employers:
•	by actuaries on calculations, given membership
movements have a larger proportionate effect,
whether at the triennial valuation or on exit;
•	by administering authorities, including at
triennial valuations, e.g. justifying results late
in the valuation process, typically following
feedback and queries from employers on
receipt of their valuation results.
This typically relates to charities rather than
universities, colleges and housing associations.
Lack of administering authority resource is an
issue - there are more employers but fewer staff to
deal with them. Even though costs are borne by
the fund, for many, resourcing is following that of
other departments across local government (i.e. is
reducing).

provided on what should be required to be

universities; housing associations and charities are
so different.
Exit debts can come as a shock to employers at
times and whilst some administering authorities
disclose exit deficits alongside triennial valuation
results it was suggested this should be a
requirement.
A number of actuaries also noted that in some
cases employers have voluntarily contributed
more when they’ve been told the exit position or
have commented that they would have paid more
contributions earlier if they’d known the potential
size of the exit debt.
Concerns were raised at a lack of transparency
in relation to charities and councils (and support
on exit). Some charities were providing a service
to a local authority and perhaps administering
authorities should be encouraged to seek council
support/guarantee. A power to force a council to
underwrite charity exit debt or subsume liabilities

Other experience causing additional work

could be useful but as you would need to be able

includes where Tier 3 employers are advised

to trace the link to a council, may not be practical

by non-LGPS specialists on transfers (Direction

and introduces a potential moral hazard.

orders) which can generate work that is arguably
not always of value.

Treatment of orphan liabilities for funding
purposes varies - some funds have created a pool

There was a range of views regarding perception

for “dead” employers. If a ceased employer runs

of engagement levels of Tier 3 employers,

out of money then comes out of its existing pool

in respect of FSS consultations, questions on

and moves to the dead pool. Three of the four

valuation results etc. Some believe engagement is

firms typically make orphan liabilities fully funded

reducing, other disagree. All agreed experience

at each valuation, effectively spreading experience

varies by fund and how much effort the

across contributing employers. Some actuaries

administering authority puts into encouraging

would support further guidance encouraging

engagement. Whilst there is no consistent

consistency across funds and greater focus on

pattern, all agreed that engagement levels could

dealing with orphan liabilities/dead employers,

be improved.

but others were content with the current position.

Aon

23

Agenda Item 11

Page 158

Investment strategy and funding - Exit valuations
It was suggested that the Regulations be amended
so they don’t require a one-off exit calculation,
introducing more flexibility for managing down
the liability.
Some actuaries believe that if Tier 3 employers
could close to new accrual but remain an active
employer the risk to the Fund is potentially
reduced. Some have experience of administering
authorities using legal side agreements to enable
continuation of contributions and risk but agreed
regulatory change could help. All firms agreed
that greater flexibility in the exit regulations would
be welcomed, without being too prescriptive.
It was also suggested that a local fund policy
should set out how additional flexibilities at exit

actuaries would be supportive of regulations
being amended to allow a refund of surplus to
exiting employers*. One noted that this need not
be on a gilts basis and could use corporate bonds
instead. Another warned that if a more generous
(to the exiting employer) basis is used at exit
careful consideration would be needed in relation
to return of surplus. Alternatively, it was suggested
that short term employers should all be on pass
through and therefore the issue of trapped surplus
or large exit deficits is removed.
*Note that the meeting was held prior to a change to
the regulations requiring a refund of surplus to exiting
employers.
Managing exits

will be used if regulatory changes are made and

Exit deficits are also a function of volatility

aren’t too prescriptive. The challenge would then

between asset and liability movements. Most

be ensuring consistency across funds. Whilst the

actuaries believe a more bespoke strategy can

actuaries believe that administering authorities (as

be beneficial and favour greater encouragement

well as employers) would welcome flexibility, any

to administering authorities to consider/allow

flexibility should not be at the call of the employer

individual employer investment strategies.

- it should be the administering authority’s power/
discretion.

One actuary wondered whether MHCLG should

There is a need to balance flexibility against

future accrual, or re-categorise some as Admission

consistency and some stressed the importance of

Bodies to enable exits. Another believes

allowing for covenant in any approach. Employers

employers should be given the option to leave.

are treated differently due to each administering
authority’s view of risk and issues such as covenant
and paternalism (e.g. for charities linked to
councils), but employers will talk and compare

re-consider the participation of Tier 3 bodies for

Firms would not want to rule out liability
management exercises/member options (e.g.
enhanced transfer values), but can see practical

across funds so a consistent approach is important.

and professional difficulties.

It was agreed that it would be an improvement if

Assumed investments at exit

Regulation 64 permitted a review of contributions
in the case of an employer re-structure.

24

Trapped surplus at exit was also discussed. Some

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Different views were expressed over the suitability
of a low risk (gilts based) approach to calculating

Page 159

any exit liability but overall there was agreement

Alternative ways of protecting non Tier 3

that consideration should be given to the

employers

circumstances.

Agenda Item 11

All participants agreed administering authorities

Under the current regulations there is no power

should have the power to stop or reduce accrual

to collect contributions from employers after the

if they believe an employer cannot afford the

last active member leaves. There are issues around

accruing liabilities, and for this to be linked to

the use of legal side agreements allowing the

greater flexibility at exit. One actuary went

‘spreading’ of contributions leading to differing

further and believes it would be better if this

approaches by funds.

was an option for employers, i.e. the employer

The actuaries see a clear distinction between
employers looking to walk away and those that
would accept ongoing liability. For a walk away
debt, a starting point based on gilts is justifiable
to protect the remaining employers from having

should have the choice. In practice, from an
actuarial funding perspective it is very similar to an
employer exiting a fund whilst continuing to have
an ongoing financial responsibility for funding the
liabilities, as described above.

to underwrite investment risk. Others took the

Experience on additional security is mixed – in

view that a gilts based approach would always be

some cases employers have resisted and care is

a start point for negotiations.

needed as assets may end up with little/no value

It was commented that the administering authority
doesn’t always invest assets in gilts following
cessation which can expose other employers to

at the point they are needed. An example of a
college property was given where it was not clear
who owned the land nor what it could be used for.

investment risk in relation to orphan liabilities. A

Alternatives included notionally dividing funds

number of funds have adopted a notional gilts

(e.g. academies /councils/Tier 3) with Tier 3

investment strategy for employers coming up to

potentially being underwritten by the PPF or a

exit (depending on circumstances) to enable a

specific “LGPS PPF” which might offer a potential

more stable and managed approach to dealing

escape route for charities or guarantees from tax

with the exit debt and perhaps this could be

raising bodies where functions are removed from

further encouraged.

local authority control.

Aon

25

Agenda Item 11

Page 160

Options for change
Introduction
This section sets out a high level identification
of options for change to potentially mitigate
some of the key issues identified during
the course of the project, and as described
in the sections above. These options have
been compiled in conjunction with the SAB
secretariat and are intended to be discussed
further by the full LGPS Advisory Board
following publication of this report. The
options are intentionally high level at this
stage, and further work will be required in due

regulations that may be within the gift of
MHCLG
•	Statutory (primary) i.e. changes to regulations
that would likely require an Act of Parliament
Categorisation has been based on an initial view
of the option under consideration with further
investigation needed on any options the Board
wishes to pursue.
We have further sub-categorised the key issues as:

course where the Board recommends further

• Funding and investment - including

exploration of any of these options. The list of

communication on those issues

options is intended to facilitate debate
and should not be taken as exhaustive.
Further options may also be considered in
due course.
Noting the differing views both between and
within stakeholder groups there will be pros
and cons that will need to be considered with
any action that is taken forward. The options do
not, therefore, constitute recommendations, as
recommendations can only be made following a
detailed impact analysis.
We have categorised the potential options for

26

•	Statutory (secondary) i.e. changes to

•	Communication, administration and
employer duties - including data requirements
and employer responsibilities
• Benefits
This sub-categorisation is intended to provide
a logical split of the options, noting that the
ongoing review of academies has proceeded
with focussed working groups consisting of
experts in appropriate fields.
We have also noted in the tables below the
stakeholder group which raised the issue, but

change into the following three categories:

it should be noted that this does not mean the

• Non-statutory (guidance)

opinions will (and do) differ.

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

issue is universally agreed across that group –

Page 161

Agenda Item 11

Non-statutory (guidance) - Funding
and investment issues
Issue(s): Lack of consideration of affordability when setting contribution rates
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

1

Increase emphasis on

Pros

affordability considerations as

Would support more consideration, and greater

well as employer strength in

transparency of expectations within the LGPS.

Funding Strategy Statement

Cons

(FSS) guidance.

This would need to be caveated/limited to genuine
likelihood of insolvency otherwise all employers will claim
contributions are unaffordable and the benefits will be
underfunded. This isn’t consistent with recent regulatory
changes, in particular Section 13 of the Public Service
Pensions Act and the revised Regulation 62, so it is not
clear if FSS guidance alone is enough. Further, reducing
contributions to levels considered more affordable is
not the same as having more affordable benefits – lower
contributions now may simply mean higher contributions
later – a policy decision is needed on whether the current
level of benefits is appropriate for Tier 3 employers.

Issue(s): Unpredictability of accounting costs
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

2

Allow/encourage bespoke

Pros

investments to enable

Should produces less volatility in the balance sheet if assets

investment in matching

are matched to accounting liabilities.

assets

Cons
May increase ongoing funding costs which may be
prohibitively expensive. Potentially costly to administer and
could affect overall LGPS investment strategy.

Aon

27

Page 162

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Lack of understanding/knowledge/engagement in investment strategy
Raised by: Employers; Administering authorities
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

3

Increase requirements

Pros

to consult on Investment

Enhances scheme governance through an improved consultation

Strategy Statement (ISS)

process.

(regulatory or via guidance).

Cons
Does not solve the skills gap among some employers. Employer
may still feel they have little say, particularly if no requirement to
take account of feedback through the consultation process.
May not be effective as long as there is a single ISS per fund.

4

Encouragement or

Pros

requirement for separate

Increases relevance of the strategy to this stakeholder group.

employer investment

Facilitates discussion between administering authorities and

strategies (ideally combined

employers.

with above)

Cons
Does not solve the skills gap among some employers. Requires
employers to engage and may have no practical effect if
administering authorities not able/willing to implement different
strategies.
Could increase the overall cost of the scheme (both in terms of
the potential cost of implementation and lower future investment
returns).

5

LGPS wide communications

Pros

to employers on investment

Increases awareness and knowledge related to the ISS and FSS.

and funding risks.

Ensures consistency across funds.
Cons
Needs to be in conjunction with some of the above options to
have meaningful impact.

6

LGPS employer advice

Pros

service (would need to be

Enables access to independent advice from skilled professionals.

funded by employers or by

Avoids the time and cost associated with unworkable solutions

funds)

being proposed by those unfamiliar with the LGPS.
Cons
Would need to be funded by employers or by funds so could
increase costs for those not wanting/needing advice. Some
employers may already have their own preferred advisor and
would not wish to fund this.

28

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 163

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Perceived unfairness of ongoing funding strategy (where treated differently to local authorities and on closing to new members)
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

7

Enforce/encourage greater

Pros

consideration of covenant/

Makes existing good quality guidance more effective / more

financial strength through

consistently applied in practice. Supports best practice that Cipfa

tPR or greater enforcement

and tPR would like to see taking place.

of existing Cipfa guidance on

Cons

preparing and maintaining

Resource intensive for the body undertaking an audit in this

funding strategy statements

area. May only change behaviours if there are penalties for non-

e.g. an audit of practice.
8

compliance and even then some administering authorities may
not engage.

Undertake a review of

Pros

funding valuations from

Provides more transparency and reassurance for employers. May

an employer viewpoint to

lead to a gradual shift to greater consistency across funds.

include review of the FSS

Cons

and ensuring employer

There will be an associated cost . There is not a one size fits all

funding strategy is

approach across funds so we would expect differences to remain.

sufficiently clear.

Requires expertise from the body undertaking the review and
it is not clear who would be best placed to carry out this review
nor how they would be appointed.

9

Greater education of

Pros

employers through

Provides more transparency and reassurance for employers.

improved communications

Could make administration easier if employers then provide

(from Administering

more timely and better quality data and ask fewer ad hoc

Authority or Actuary)

questions.
Cons
Time and cost associated (but this could be mitigated – see pros
above). Many administering authorities would argue they already
offer this but employers aren’t engaging, e.g. poor attendance at
AGMs/Employer Forums.

Aon

29

Page 164

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Lack of consultation on employer contribution changes
Raised by: Employers; Administering Authorities
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

10

Strengthen requirements to

Pros

consult/communicate with

Avoids surprises for scheme employers. Should reduce

employers;

time and cost of responding to employer queries.

e.g. clear guidance on
timeframes, method, what
should be taken into account.

Cons
There is already a lot to do as part of the valuation
process, and would require additional resource. Unless
penalties for non-compliance, it won’t necessarily
ensure consistency or improve administering authority
communications uniformly.

11

Provide central guidance

Pros

(or principles) on effective

More consistency across funds. Improves minimum

valuation process and

standards.

negotiations on funding, e.g.

Cons

extend the Pensions Regulator’s

May be seen as a local issue for local funds to manage.

remit to the LGPS

Will only be effective if there are sufficient incentives for
administering authorities to adhere to the guidance. Not
obvious the Pensions Regulator has the resources to take
on any additional work in relation to the LGPS and doesn’t
currently have any experience on public sector scheme
funding.

30

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 165

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Lack of understanding of valuation process and approach
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

12

Encourage funds to offer

Pros

employer workshops to discuss

A more interactive opportunity to discuss results and

valuation results

answer employer queries. Could reduce later questions
and pick up misunderstandings/any data issues before
results are finalised.
Cons
A balance will need to be struck between the cost and
value of any workshops. Not all Tier 3 employers would
have the resources to send someone to these.

13

Offer central valuation

Pros

training (may need to be split

Further opportunity for employers to engage in the

by actuarial firm). Could be

process. Provides generic advice/information.

via a webinar to encourage

Cons

attendance.

Would not be the right forum for more individual
discussion/questions. Funds may not wish to pay for this
and charging employers likely to reduce attendance,
particularly from small employers.

14

Earlier deadlines for FSS

Pros

changes, and guidance on the

Would provide more opportunity for employers to

consultation process

prepare for valuation results/impacts. Could improve the
consultation and encourage more dialogue.
Cons
May be times where late changes to the FSS are required.
Employers may already feel difficult to respond to the
consultation without understanding the effect on valuation
results and contributions so earlier consultation won’t help.

Aon

31

Page 166

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Care is needed in the use of contingent assets as they may end up with
little/no value at the point they are needed
Raised by: Administering Authorities; Fund actuaries
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

15

Training for administering

Pros

authorities

Better equip funds to understand the issues and make
more informed decisions. If used to support development
of an administering authority policy it would then avoid
time and cost of exploring options on a case-by-case basis.
Cons
Would need regular refreshers due to turnover in funds/
committees.

16

Guidance/Reinforce need for

Pros

appropriate expertise

Better equip funds to understand the issues and make
more informed decisions.
Cons
Cannot be sure the messages have been read /
understood.

32

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 167

Agenda Item 11

Statutory (secondary) - Funding
and investment issues
Issue(s): Unaffordable contributions
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

17

Extend use of the 50:50

Pros

Scheme in special

This could for example facilitate continued membership

circumstances at the option of

where a college is in special administration or where an

the employer

employer and administering authority agree to redirect more

e.g. employers could make
monthly payroll adjustments
where members are offered
additional pay if they elect the
50:50 Scheme, as long as any
legal requirements are met, e.g.
employees retain the statutory

of an employer’s LGPS contributions towards the deficit
(so the existing level of employer contributions would be
maintained but the cost of future service benefits would
reduce if members accrue 50:50 Scheme benefits).
Cons
Would require regulatory change. Lower pension accrual
for members. Potentially costly to administer.

right to opt back into the main
scheme.
18

Require local councils to

Pros

provide guarantees for

This addresses Tier 3 employer view that if guarantees had

charities/not for profit

been required at the point they were established those

organisations in their area.

guarantees would have been forthcoming.
Cons
Potential unexpected costs being passed to local
authorities. Not always an obvious link back to a local
authority.

19

Introduce a cap on the pay

Pros

to which final salary and/

Reduce the costs to employers with high earners – high

or CARE accrual is applied

proportionate impact. Reduce the likelihood of high

with any additional pay non-

earners breaching the lifetime allowance (and hence

pensionable.

having to opt-out of the scheme, losing death-in-service

Consideration would be needed
as to how member contributions
were then set for those earning
above the pay cap and how that

and ill-health benefits). Levelling the value of the scheme
between members of different pay bands (based on survey
analysis, currently the scheme is valued more by higher
paid members).

Cons
cap is indexed (or not) over time. Lower pension benefits for some members. Possibly a less
attractive scheme for some high earners. Potentially costly
to administer (but savings in relation to maintaining pay
records once cap breached)

Aon

33

Page 168

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Inflexibility in exit regulations / unaffordable contributions
Raised by: Employers; Administering Authorities; Fund actuaries
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

20

Introduce regulatory provisions Pros
to allow employers to remain

Enables greater flexibility in ongoing and exit funding

contributing employers after

which most stakeholders have indicated they would

the last active member has

support. Brings the LGPS into alignment with other multi-

left the scheme, for example

employer schemes.

along the lines of the recently

Cons

introduced DWP provisions

Would require regulatory change. Lower pension accrual

(The Occupational Pension

for members if it encourages employers to close the

Schemes (Employer Debt and

scheme to new members and/or future accrual. Possible

Miscellaneous Amendments)

negative cash flow consideration (loss of contributions)

Regulations 2018) and recent

and related investment considerations restraining

changes to the LGPS in Scotland.

investment options across the scheme if it encourages
employers to close the scheme to new members and/or
future accrual.

21

MHCLG to take a policy

Pros

decision on whether the LGPS

Clarification of the intended purpose of the scheme (back

is the right scheme for some/

to its roots as a scheme for local government employees).

all Tier3 employers, and, if

Addresses concerns (from some employers) of being

not, introduce appropriate

trapped in the scheme – not being able to afford to stay in

provisions to facilitate an

the scheme nor get out.

“orderly exit” which is fair to

Cons

all stakeholders

Funding issues would need careful consideration. Won’t
necessarily lead to affordable exit costs. Possible negative
cash flow consideration (loss of contributions) and related
investment considerations restraining investment options
across the scheme if it encourages (or requires) employers
to exit the scheme.

34

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 169

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Unaffordable contributions / lack of awareness of the 50:50 Scheme option / funding risk
Raised by: Employers; Administering Authorities; Members; Fund actuaries
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

22

Ensuring that when a member

Pros

does elect the 50:50 Scheme

Better communication and evidence of savings from

there is an immediate pay back

50:50 may help with affordability concerns which in turn

for employers.

may increase/improve communication of the option by
employers to members. Higher take-up could be a benefit
if the 50:50 scheme is appropriate for the members and/or
encourages the employer to remain in the Scheme rather
than exit.
Cons
Admin costs/implications of immediately reducing
employer contributions for 50:50 elections – tracking
50:50 take-up by employer and possibly having to
certify two primary contribution rates. Maintaining
contribution levels and re-directing the saving to deficit
contributions might be preferable from an admin and
funding perspective but this means no immediate saving
for employers. If overall take-up increases (i.e. members
who have opted-out completely join 50:50) it would cost
employers more. May also lead to increased employer
pressure on members to elect 50:50.

Aon

35

Page 170

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Lack of consideration of affordability when setting contribution rates
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

23

Introduce additional options

Pros

for funding, e.g. consideration

May enable employers to meet fund obligations via

of alternatives to contributions

alternative means.
Cons
Cost may be prohibitive. Value to the fund may be far
lower than value to the employer. Employers may not have
any suitable assets.

24

Enable administering

Pros

authorities to take steps to

Addresses concerns (from some employers) of being

reduce build-up of further

trapped in the scheme – not being able to afford to stay in

liabilities, e.g. cease future

the scheme nor get out.

accrual or move members to

Cons

50:50.

Funding issues would need careful consideration. Won’t

See the Local Government
Pension Scheme Regulations
(Northern Ireland) for
precedent for the former …”The
Committee may, with the
approval of the Department, if
it thinks necessary to protect
the solvency of the fund or
prevent liabilities in relation
to one contributing body
falling onto other contributing
bodies, require active members
employed by a particular
contributing body to cease
future accrual with effect from a
date specified by the Committee
so that the contributing body
no longer employs active
members.”

36

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

necessarily lead to affordable exit costs. Possible negative
cash flow consideration (loss of contributions) and related
investment considerations restraining investment options
across the scheme if it encourages (or requires) employers
to exit the scheme.

Page 171

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Unpredictability of accounting costs
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

25

Another employer (e.g. a local

Pros

authority) taking responsibility

Enables defined contribution accounting. Removes

for funding risk with the

volatility of pension contributions for the Tier 3 employers.

employer participating on a

Cons

defined contribution basis (akin

Unlikely to be popular with the other scheme employers.

to a pass through arrangement

May increase funding risk for other employers – especially

between a Scheme Employer

in funds with a high proportion of tier 3 employers

and contractor)

(unless investment strategies are revisited). Unlikely to be
appropriate for the larger employers, including universities
and housing associations. If set to reflect fair value for the
risk transfer the DC costs may be prohibitive.

Issue(s): Lack of understanding/knowledge/engagement in investment strategy
Raised by: Employers; Administering authorities
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

26

Introduce a requirement for

Pros

the ISS to include a section on

Increases relevance of the statement to this stakeholder

Tier 3 employers and how the

group. Forces administering authorities to consider

strategy affects them

employers beyond the key local authority and other public
sector bodies when setting investment strategy.
Cons
Does not solve the skills gap among some employers.
Employer may still feel they have little say particularly if the
requirement is simply to state the effect of the strategy on
Tier 3 employers.

Aon

37

Page 172

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Perceived unfairness of ongoing funding strategy (where treated differently to local authorities and on closing to new members)
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

27

Extend statutory deadline

Pros

for valuation process to

Timescales are currently very tight from receipt of data

facilitate greater engagement/

to valuation sign off and some funds have a considerable

discussions with employers e.g.

number of employers so longer timescales for the process

move to a 18 month valuation

would be beneficial for ensuring communications are more

sign off date and/or introduce

considered and timely.

a statutory consultation period

Cons

with employers.

May increase the overall costs of the exercise. Timescales
need consideration to ensure that they work well with
other deadlines, such as sign off of annual pension fund
accounts and implementation of new contributions.
Requires regulatory change.

28

Introduce amendment

Pros

regulations to permit ongoing

Provides greater flexibility for administering authorities

contributions from (suitably

Enables deferral of bullet payment on exit and to take into

financially strong) employers

account employer covenant.

after the last active has left.

Cons
Requires regulatory change.

29

Replace the current “single FSS

Pros

for the fund” approach with

Provides more transparency and reassurance for

one requiring sub-strategies

employers. Ensures the Administering Authority has

for different employer groups,

appropriately considered the funding strategy for such sub

with associated consultation

groups.

requirements.

Cons
May be duplication within the strategy perhaps leading to
less clarity in the document overall.

38

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 173

Agenda Item 11

ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

30

Require administering

Pros

authorities to include

Provides more context on the materiality of this issue by fund.

information on the assets and

Ensures funds consider this. Additional transparency could

liabilities of Tier 3 employers

enhance consistency across funds and help explain why Tier

in the annual report and

3 employers are treated differently for funding purposes.

accounts.

Cons
Another disclosure requirement and potential additional
cost. Not obvious anyone will use/read this information
– needs to be clear what benefit/use to which this will be
put.

31

Permitting a refund of surplus

This change was implemented after the commencement of

on exit would address concerns

this project and before publication of this report.

that funding risk is asymmetric
(i.e. employers are responsible
for any deficit on exit but cannot
benefit from a surplus on exit).

32

Require separate sub-funds

Pros

for Tier 1, Tier 2 and Tier 3

Extending such separation could facilitate a more

employers with potentially

appropriate and consultative approach to funding

separate valuation timetables

and investment strategy for Tier 3 employers. It may

for each.

not reduce pension costs for the sector but greater
engagement could improve their experience of
participating in the LGPS. Would make it easier for Tier
3 employers to consolidate their interests in a single
LGPS fund (via a Direction) if it means the administering
authorities concerned are less likely to respond negatively
to any consultation on the Direction. Could work very well
in assisting with any plan to permit Tier 3 employers to exit
the LGPS in future.
Cons
Given the administering authority effectively underwrites
the benefits (where there is no employer guarantee)
would need to consider how to most effectively separate
each sub-fund. Considerable work (and hence cost) would
be required to move to this model.

Aon

39

Page 174

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Valuation timetable does not enable time for business planning
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

33

Separate out the valuation

Pros

timetable for different

Ensures that each employer group has adequate focus during

categories of employer, with

the valuation. Should provide more time for discussing

a different valuation date

results with employers and fits in with separate section of

applying to Tier 3 employers.

funding and investment strategy statements.

This could, for example, fit with

Cons

a move to a quadrennial cycle

Would work best with segregation of assets or for unitised

for local authorities and other

funds – see below (otherwise would need to calculate

Tier 1 and Tier 2 employers.

assets and liabilities for all employers to ensure assets are
appropriately allocated).
May lead to additional work and costs for administering
authorities (although costs could be allocated to each
employer category).

34

Extend the period of the Rates

Pros

and Adjustments Certificate

Could help with employer budgeting and reduce volatility of

(e.g. to 6 years), with

contributions.

contributions only amended

Cons

after 3 years where there is a

Not clear how this would fit with the Scheme Actuary’s

strong reason for doing so.

analysis and reporting under Section 13. Doesn’t fit well with
the need to prevent a material surplus or deficit building up
for short-term/closed employers (so might not benefit many
Tier 3 employers)

Issue(s): Concerns about other employers needing to meet costs of employers exiting
the fund
Raised by: Administering Authorities; Members; Fund actuaries
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

35

Create an LGPS pension

Pros

protection fund (which every

Reduces risk to individual employers and funds. Pooled

fund contributes to, or just for

concept may appeal in a national scheme. Would deliver

certain sectors and employers to

consistency if implemented nationally although that would

meet the costs)

need detailed prescription.
Cons
Would need significant work to implement and ongoing
costs to funds and/or employers.
If administering authorities retain any discretion/flexibility the
benefit of consistency may not be delivered.
May lead to higher costs if investment strategy is amended
and/or additional contributions may be required in light of
higher perceived risk.

40

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 175

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Perceived unfairness of exit costs
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

36

Implement a “pass through”

Pros

arrangement specific to the

It could be of material benefit to closed charities who

charity sector (admission body

currently feel trapped within the LGPS and could even be

Tier 3 employers only) whereby

beneficial to the local authorities if it avoids them picking up

any members who were

a larger cost if the employer exits and cannot pay the exit

originally employed by one of

deficit.

the councils are treated as still

Cons

being employed by the Council,

It is likely to be a non-trivial task to unwind the existing

with the Tier 3 employer making

funding arrangements and many of the employees who

fixed contributions in relation to

originally transferred may have already left or retired.

the liabilities for those members.

There will be differences of opinion on what constitutes a fair
fixed rate of contribution.

37

Require funds to adopt

Pros

ongoing funding targets closer

More transparent and reduces risk of a large unexpected final

to the exit liabilities (e.g. via

payment. Likely to lead to more consistency across funds.

FSS guidance) – to reduce

Cons

the likelihood of material exit

May need regulatory change or audit to ensure guidance is

deficits arising but (materially)

followed.

increase ongoing contributions

May increase ongoing contributions for employers in some

in many cases

funds.
Could lead to more exits in the short-term where the debt
cannot be met by the employers (particularly for charities).

Aon

41

Page 176

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Perceived unfairness of lump sum exit payments being required
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

38

Set say, a 3 or 5 year payment

Pros

period as the default where

Consistency across funds. Enables exit payments to be met

the exiting employer continues

over a reasonable time horizon. Could save employers from

to exist (regulatory or via

insolvency and enable the fund to obtain more contributions

guidance) with flexibility for this

(over a longer period).

to be extended at the discretion

Cons

of the administering authority/

Fund remains exposed to employer risk. May require

on agreement of the parties

regulatory change.

Introduce greater flexibility

Pros

in the Regulations to permit

Enables management of exit over a longer time frame.

deferral of the exit valuation

Enables outgoing employer to benefit from any positive

and continuing ongoing

experience after the exit date. Ensures the outgoing employer

support/contributions where

is on risk for any negative experiences after the exit date.

financial strength justifies it

Cons

39

Fund remains exposed to employer risk. Could be seen to
increase risk if employer would have been able to meet
a low risk exit payment. Likely to require administering
authority discretion so may not be applied consistently
across the LGPS.
40

(Re)introduction of the ability

Pros

for the administering authority

This should reduce the likelihood of a material exit

to review contribution

payment/credit arising.

rates between valuations

Cons

in circumstances beyond

Does not help unforeseen exits.

those currently envisaged by

Increases the burden on administering authorities

Regulation 64.

(although they should already be monitoring employers
which may exit and can amend their contributions under
Regulation 64(4)).

42

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 177

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Lack of consultation on employer contribution changes
Raised by: Employers; Administering Authorities
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

41

Strengthen requirements for

Pros

employers to engage in the

Likely to increase engagement from employers.

valuation process; e.g. fine

Cons

for non-attendance at annual

May be seen as draconian, and difficult to enforce,

employer meeting

particularly for smaller employers who may not have
sufficient resource to attend meetings.

Issue(s): A high proportion of Tier 3 employers expect to cease contributions to
the scheme but do not understand the exit process or costs
Raised by: Employers; Administering Authorities
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

42

Minimum requirements for exit

Pros

costs disclosure (triennially or

Avoid surprises for scheme employers.

preferably annually) e.g. annual

Arguably best practice for short-term employers.

funding statement for employers

Cons

(which could include other info

Additional time and cost to produce.

too such as details of benefits

May require additional support for employers to truly

transferred in – see later).

benefit.

Aon

43

Page 178

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Lack of understanding of valuation process and approach
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

43

Require funds to hold an

Pros

annual meeting/employer

Encourages engagement and planning ahead.

forum for employers.

Cons
Additional time and cost.
Attendance may be low / only those employers which are
already engaged may attend.

44

Introduce minimum standards

Pros

for valuation communications

More consistency across funds. Raises standards.

for employers/standardised

Cons

format (via Regulations or

Could potentially constrain information provided. Different

guidance) noting that the lack of

funding approaches adopted by different funds may make

a standardised valuation report is

this difficult to achieve in practice.

arguably not helpful either
45

Require administering

Pros

authorities to hold an annual

Could tailor meetings appropriately and make more

meeting specifically for Tier 3

valuable to Tier 3 employers.

employers to ensure the issues

Cons

pertinent to them are given

Additional time and cost may be more valued in some

more airing (acknowledging

funds (high Tier 3 exposure) than others.

that the Tier 3 employers are
themselves quite diverse)

Issue(s): Employers trapped in a scheme they cannot afford to be in or leave
Raised by: Employers; Fund actuaries
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

46

Change status of some

Pros

Tier 3 employers (remove

Would enable employers to make choices over pension

from Part 1 of Schedule 2)

provision.

NB: funding related issues
creating the feeling of
being trapped are covered
above.

Would prevent additional time and cost of exploring the
pension implications of establishing a wholly owned company
not participating in the LGPS.
Cons
Staff/members may be worse off as a result if employers elect to
close the scheme to new entrants/future accrual.
Loss of contribution income to the scheme (member
contributions will be lost even if total employer contributions
are unchanged).

44

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 179

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Employers exiting through the back door (restructures)
Raised by: Members, Administering Authorities
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

47

Power to enforce exit

Pros

payment on successor/

Strengthens regulations and increase protection for the funds.

parent company.

Could facilitate managed exits if parent company/successor body
responsible for future funding even if it doesn’t participate in the
LGPS. Could reduce likelihood of employers re-structuring to avoid
pension deficits (noting issues with historic college mergers in
particular).
Cons
Would need regulatory change. Unlikely to be popular with
some employers.

48

Greater flexibility for

Pros

managed exits.

Enables planned and orderly exits so reduces likelihood of exit by
stealth.
Cons
May be seen as encouraging employers to exit. Loss of accrual
for members.

49

Power to amend

Pros

contributions on employer If administering authorities have the power to amend ongoing
restructures (see also

contributions this could reduce the need to try to invoke

recommendation 40 above) Regulation 64(1).
Cons
Employers may complain administering authorities use these
powers to amend contributions to take account of poor
experience (e.g. if investment markets have not performed
well) which would not be applicable to other employers.
Where administering authorities have discretion likely to lead to
different treatment, i.e. applied inconsistently.

Aon

45

Page 180

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Suitability of a low risk (gilts based) approach to calculating any exit liability
Raised by: Employers; Fund actuaries, Administering Authorities
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

50

Prescribe maximum cost – e.g.

Pros

based on insurance buy-in

Provides clear guidance and expectations.
Cons
Buy in costs not known. Costs may be higher than where
the fund self-insures the benefits without use of insurance.

51

Enforce funds to match

Pros

orphan liabilities with suitable

Ensures the exit cost reflects realities of investments held.

investments

Materially reduces the risk of future investment losses
on orphan liabilities which would otherwise fall on the
remaining employers.
Cons
May be seen as constraining funds investment options.
May increase long term cost of the fund.

Issue(s): Potential for future creation of Tier 3 employers/risk
Raised by: Fund actuaries; Members
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

52

Requirement that new

Pros

employers (including

Future proofs the scheme from further exposure to risky

scheduled bodies) can only join

employers.

the fund with guarantee from a

Reflects existing policy for most funds in relation to new

tax raising body.

admissions.
Cons
Requires legislative change.
May be seen as unfair to members caught up in a
reorganisation if it means they cannot remain in the LGPS.

46

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 181

Agenda Item 11

Statutory (primary) - Funding
and investment issues
Issue(s): Unaffordable contributions
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

53

Provide greater flexibility and

Pros

choice for members to manage

If the options centre on alternatives which reduce the

their benefits, e.g. for tax

overall level of benefits this could have the added

purposes.

advantage of reducing costs / funding risk for employers.

An example could be the
breaking of the final salary link
on pre-2014 benefits which
could reduce the number of
members breaching the annual
allowance.

Cons
There is likely to be pressure to ensure members don’t lose
out through the election of options (although agreement
was reached to less than cost neutral commutation
factors). If members were given the option to convert
their final salary benefits to CARE (e.g. via conversion
factors set by the Government Actuary’s Department)
this could have the opposite effect for employers and
leave employers exposed to additional cost, noting that
the level at which any conversion factors are set could be
controversial with employers and member representatives
taking different views.
Further, even if costs did reduce, member options will not
enable employers to manage their costs.

Issue(s): Perceived unfairness of exit costs
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

54

Introduce statutory guarantee

Pros

e.g. Require local councils to

Would enable more flexibility in determining the

provide funding for charities/

appropriate exit basis.

not for profit organisations’

Cons

liabilities post-exit; and central

May be difficult where employers are operating across

government for HE/FE

local authority boundaries.
May not be clear why the council/government should be
responsible for these liabilities.
Would require significant legislative change which will
likely be challenged.

Aon

47

Page 182

Agenda Item 11

Non-statutory (guidance) - Communication,
administration and employers duties
Issue(s): Lack of knowledge of the 50:50 Scheme/expensive scheme
Raised by: Employers; Members
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

1

Improve publicity of 50:50

Already included in the SAB work plan.

Scheme option (without
encouraging members to opt
out of the main scheme).

Issue(s): Difficulty providing data on time, and of required quality
Raised by: Employers; Administering Authorities; Members
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

2

Increase resources to help

Pros

support/train employers

Will lead to improved data.
Cons
Comes at a cost.

3

Consider a “kite mark”

Pros

system for payroll providers

Ensures payroll providers are skilled and compatible with the

identifying those which are

pensions systems already being considered as part of the

capable of providing the

Academies review work streams.

information required.

Cons
Difficult to change existing suppliers in some instances (if
required).
May not be appropriate for employers where LGPS
membership is small proportion of employees.

48

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 183

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Greater proportionate workload at valuations
Raised by: Administering Authorities; Fund actuaries
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

4

Encourage pooled approach to

Pros

employer contributions

Reduces actuarial time/costs associated with provision of
individual employer valuation results and contributions.
Greater sharing of risks (which may benefit smaller
employers).
Cons
Exposes employers (and in the case of tax raising bodies,
potentially the taxpayer) to cross subsidy which may be
considered unfair. A “u turn” on previous changes in
many funds. Could lead to greater costs in relation to
other calculations, e.g. when employers exit, or there are
other movements in membership such as bulk transfers or
employer mergers/disaggregation from the pool.

5

Encourage more resource at

Pros

Administering Authorities

Increases capacity and scope to manage the process.
Cons
Resource cost involved. Cipfa’s Pensions Panel has already
raised this (in general, not specifically in relation to
valuations) and not clear it has had any effect.

Aon

49

Page 184

Agenda Item 11

Statutory (secondary) - Communication,
administration and employers duties
Issue(s): Poor level of communication from Administering Authorities
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

6

Provide more central support on

Pros

training/guidance/support for

Provides clear guidance and expectations. Reduces cost if

employers to improve performance

produced centrally due to economies of scale.

of poorly performing administering Cons
authorities and consistency of

Additional work to set up further guidance and

employer experience

ensure funds follow this. Effectiveness depends upon
administering authority engagement and poorly
performing funds may be least likely to adhere to central
guidance.

7

Check/ audit of administering

Pros

authorities’ performance relative to Encourage more funds to follow guidance.
their communication strategy and

Cons

best practice

Additional work to audit this.

Issue(s): Variable communications and training from employers
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

8

Many Tier 3 employers

Pros

are heavily dependent on

Provides an improved and more consistent member

the communications from

experience.

their local fund so consider

Cons

minimum standards or a

Some funds already do very well in this area, could worsen

centralised training team and

member experience in some instances.

communications.

Could increase costs.

Where workshops are run

Pros

by administering authorities

Provides an improved and more consistent member

these are valued by members.

experience.

Consider running workshops

Cons

centrally or include this within

Significant resource required and not practical to run for

a new minimum standard for

all members of the scheme.

9

funds.

50

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 185

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Not clear that the LGPS membership understands the value of the membership
Raised by: Employers; Members
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

10

Employer contributions could

Pros

be included on member

May make it clearer to members just how valuable their

benefit

benefits are in the LGPS.

statements

Cons
Arguably an employer issue rather than a Fund one.
Would lead to different messages for different members
and possibly confusion since benefits not linked to
contributions.

Issue(s): Lack of Tier 3 representation (more so in some sectors than others) within
fund governance structures
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

11

Enable participation on

Pros

Pension Fund Committees (not

Provides a voice on a decision making committee.

just Local Pension Boards).

Cons
May make it more difficult to reach consensus opinion.
Overall balance of the committees may need a re-think to
ensure they are balanced and effective.
May not have voting rights depending upon the
constitution of the committee.

12

Introduce requirement for

Pros

employer representatives to

Provides a voice on a decision making committee.

consult with all employers,

Increases effectiveness of Local Pension Boards (LPBs).

possibly on a sector-basis.

Cons
May slow down various processes/decision making.
Still difficult to influence when one step removed.

Aon

51

Page 186

Agenda Item 11

Issue(s): Poor levels of engagement and understanding from employers in FSS/
valuation process
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

13

Require minimum training/

Pros

Continuous Professional

Increases the chances of an effective dialogue.

Development (CPD) from

Cons

nominated employer reps.

Difficult to monitor/enforce.
Not clear who would pay for this.

14

Centralised/mandatory

Pros

communications and

Encourages timely communications of required content for a

timetables

more meaningful consultation.
Cons
On the communications side there may be some difficulty
in centralising where local funding practice differs.

Issue(s): Difficulty providing data on time, and of required quality
Raised by: Employers; Administering Authorities; Members
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

15

Simplify the scheme – e.g.

Pros

remove Assumed Pensionable

Will make the scheme simpler to administer and data easier to

Pay, set CARE pay equal to pre-

gather at required quality.

2008 pay in the future; convert

Cons

final salary benefits into a CARE Difficult to monitor/enforce. Will have implications for
pension

members’ benefits and possibly for costs depending upon
how any conversion is calculated.

16

Provide more central

Pros

communication and support

Improves performance of poorly performing administering

on training, guidance and

authorities. More consistency in employer experience.

support for employers to

Cons

improve performance of poorly

Resource cost involved. May not improve performance if

performing administering

administering authorities don’t engage.

authorities and consistency of
employer experience

52

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 187

17

Agenda Item 11

Increase timescales for

Pros

provision of data, e.g. for year-

Gives more opportunity to clean data and/or time to get it

end returns.

right first time.
Cons
Will slow down other processes (e.g. benefit statements),
so may need to amend statutory disclosure requirements.

ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

18

Introduce minimum system

Pros

requirements and enforce

Consistent experience for employers across the scheme.

those standards

Cons
Could be high costs where system changes are required.

19

Introduce a requirement for an

Pros

agreement (SLA) between the

Clear sanctions are likely to improve data supply.

AA and employers and perhaps

Cons

operate a variable expense

Could be subject to challenge, and may be seen as

loading to encourage greater

excessive.

engagement/ensure employers
pick up the cost where accurate
or timely data isn’t provided.

Aon

53

Page 188

Agenda Item 11

Non-statutory (guidance) - Benefits

Issue(s): Over generous benefits to members / Two or multi-tier workforce
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

1

Allow employers to incentivise

Pros

members to select 50:50

Reduces the benefits (and costs).

Scheme.

Already a possibility so no additional work required.
Cons
May not be in the best interest of members.

Statutory (secondary) - Benefits

Issue(s): Over generous benefits to members / Two or multi-tier workforce
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

2

Enable existing scheduled body Pros
Tier 3 employers to leave the

Gives greater choice and control to employer.

scheme

Cons
Potential loss of contributions to the scheme. Probably
lower benefits for members.

Issue(s): Cost of redundancy for over 55s impinges on business planning/workforce management
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

3

Amend Regulations so

Pros

immediate pension is

Helps contain costs where required.

discretionary (for employer)

Cons
Different treatment for members depending on their
employer. Loss of valued benefit for some. Not clear how
this fits with potential proposals from HM Treasury.

54

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 189

4

Agenda Item 11

Remove service linkage

Pros

provisions / amend benefits

Costs better reflect service with the current employer/

such that only membership

loyalty to that employer. Reduces exit payments when exit is

with current employer is

triggered by redundancy of last active member(s).

payable unreduced

Cons
Lower benefits for some members. Care needed where
employment has moved as a result of restructure/
outsourcing – i.e. not the member’s choice. Could lead to
additional complexity.

5

Permit greater spreading of

Pros

redundancy costs (may need

Retains staff benefits.

to link to financial strength/

More likely to make redundancy an affordable option.

covenant of employer rather

Cons

than funding level)

May not reduce costs for all employers (depending on
mechanism).

NB: It is not yet clear if proposals on a cap on exit payments will help here if these are implemented for
public sector employers only, although they might if there are scheme-wide changes to the regulations on
efficiency/redundancy early retirements.

Issue(s): Cost of transfers in (and subsequent early retirement costs)
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

6

Amend Regulations so transfers Pros
in are an employer discretion

Enables employers to manage risk exposure.

(currently funds can elect not

Cons

to accept non-Club transfers)

May not be straightforward to extend to Club transfers.
Discourages pension simplification (one pot) for members.

7

Increase disclosure

Pros

requirements from funds to

Employers would be aware of pension choices of their

employers

members. Enables better understand and to manage
pension risk.
Cons
Increase workload in the administering authority (or
pension adminstration provider).

Aon

55

Page 190

Agenda Item 11

8

Change the regulations so that

Pros

transferred service does not

Costs better reflect service with the current employer/loyalty

qualify for immediate payment

to that employer.

unreduced on redundancy

Cons
Lower benefits for some.
Care where employment has moved as a result of
restructure/outsourcing – i.e. not the member’s choice.
Not clear if/how linkage of benefits for members moving
between employers within a fund could be separated for
this purpose.

Issue(s): Lack of flexibility (in scheme benefits)
Raised by: Members; Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

9

Consider offering more flexible Pros
benefits; e.g. conversion of

May enable the scheme to better meet the needs of its

salary linked benefits to CARE;

members.

DC options etc.

Cons
Too many options can be confusing.
Who would advise the member on options. Difficult to
fund and administer the scheme.

Issue(s): List of employers no longer reflects local government.
Raised by: Administering Authorities
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

10

Make it optional for colleges

Pros

and universities, i.e. change

Move back to a scheme for local government.

status for Part 1 scheduled

Cons

bodies

Not all administering authorities/members support this
as would lead to loss of members and income. Counter
argument is these employers are supplying local services.

56

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 191

Agenda Item 11

Statutory (primary) - Benefits
Issue(s): Over generous benefits to members / Two or multi-tier workforce
Raised by: Employers
ID

Option(s) for change

Potential high level pros/cons

11

Introduce a new section to the

Pros

LGPS (e.g. DC but with decent

Reduces costs and or risks.

level of contributions)

Aligns to typical provision in the private sector.
Cons
Arguably not long since the last review of the scheme.
Complex and possibly costly to administer another section
(unless managed centrally for all Tier 3 employers electing
such benefits).
Potentially lower/not defined expected benefits for
members.

12

Open up the LGPS to more staff

Pros

from Tier 3 employers

Provides access to equitable pension provision.
Could increase funding position and improve cash flow
position if members transfer from (say) USS.
Cons
Probably limited demand for this given the cost of the
scheme.
Not consistent with the concept of the LGPS as being for
local government employees.
Increases risk to other LGPS employers.

Aon

57

Agenda Item 11

Page 192

Appendix 1: Employer survey results

Overview
The Tier 3 employer survey was launched on 27 November 2017 and closed on 31 January 2018.
We received 299 responses including 50 from a higher education establishment, 95 from a further
education establishment, 46 from housing associations and 66 from charities or other not-for-profit
organisation. 42 responses were discounted as it was not clear whether the respondent represented a Tier 3
employer. Employer responses covered 58 LGPS Funds.
The sections below summarise the results of that survey.

Charities - an overview of survey results
The following key features were identified from the employer survey responses (for charities) :
•	Only 4 of the 66 respondents said that their employer continues to admit some new members to the
LGPS, and no respondents admit all new employees.
•	Where staff are not eligible to join the LGPS the employers typically offer a defined contribution scheme
alternative (92% of alternative schemes compared to 8% defined benefit).
•	Employers typically have very small active (contributing) membership with 83% of respondents having
fewer than 50 contributing members and 21% only having 1 contributing member left.
•	Employers typically pay higher contributions compared to Higher and Further Education establishments
surveyed, with 5 respondents paying over 35% of payroll.
•	26% of respondents stated that the LGPS did not meet their overall needs. This is predominantly driven
by:
– high level of contributions compared and to a lesser extent;
– complex administration;
– overly generous benefits offered to members;
– a poor standard of communication from the administering authority (AA).
•	92% of respondents believe their membership understands or partly understands the benefits the LGPS
offers.
•	79% of respondents believe their employer has sufficient access to expertise in relation to its
participation in the Fund.
•	Only 6% of respondents believe the investment strategy of the fund was not suitable for their employer,
but the majority (68%) did not know if the investment strategy was suitable or not.
•	82% of respondents believe they fully understand and comply with their responsibilities as an employer
in the LGPS.
•	35% of employers ‘sometimes’ or ‘often’ experience difficulties in providing data for the administration
of the scheme. This was generally driven by it not being clear what they need to provide, along with
difficulty meeting timescales and required levels of data quality.

58

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 193

Agenda Item 11

•	Despite typically low levels of contributing membership and the majority of employers no longer
admitting new entrants, 55% of employers don’t expect to stop contributing to the scheme, and only
26% of employers expected to cease contributing to the scheme in the next 10 years. Most employers
who expected to stop contributions anticipated that this would be driven by the last active member of the
scheme leaving, but some will cease future accrual for all current members.
•	Only 57% of employers who expect to cease contributions said that they understood the exit process,
and only 47% understood the exit costs.
•	Satisfaction with the level of engagement in the running of the scheme was similar to that of other Tier 3
employers, but with a greater proportion stating that they do not want to be involved with the running
of the scheme.
•	18% of employers were, or were thinking about, restructuring their organisation.
•	26% of employers were considering offering their staff flexibility relating to pensions benefits, and
the majority of these expected to do so within the next 12 months.

Housing Associations - an overview of survey results
The following key features were identified from the employer survey responses (for housing associations):
•	Only 3 of the 46 respondents said that their employer continues to admit some new members to the
LGPS and no respondents admit all new employees into the LGPS.
•	Where staff are not eligible to join the LGPS the employers typically offer a defined contribution scheme
alternative (77% of alternative schemes compared to 23% defined benefit).
•	There is a reasonable spread in the typical size of active (contributing) membership with 26% of
respondents having fewer than 50 contributing members and 74% with 50 or more contributing
members. 2 of the 46 respondents said that their employer has only 1 active member remaining.
•	Employers typically pay higher contributions to the LGPS than Higher and Further Education
establishments surveyed, with 24% of employers contributing 26% or more of payroll, compared to
around 10% of Higher and Further Education institutions contributing 26% of payroll or more.
•	28% of respondents stated that the LGPS did not meet their employer’s overall needs. This is
predominantly driven by:
– high level of contributions compared to the private sector and to a lesser extent;
– overly generous benefits offered to members;
– lack of flexibility of a national scheme;
– complex administration
•	89% of respondents believe their employer’s membership either understands or partly understands the
benefits that the LGPS offers.
•	74% of respondents believe their employer has sufficient access to expertise in relation to their
participation in the Scheme.

Aon

59

Agenda Item 11

Page 194

•	Only 13% of respondents believe the investment strategy of their fund was not suitable for their
employer and 43% did not know if the investment strategy was suitable or not.
•	91% of respondents believe they fully understand and comply with their responsibilities as an employer
in the LGPS.
•	28% of employers sometimes or often experience difficulties in providing data for the administration
of the scheme. This was generally driven by it not being clear what they need to provide, along with
difficulty meeting timescales.
•	Despite the majority of employers no longer admitting any new entrants to the LGPS, 55% of employers
expect to continue contributing to the scheme and only 20% of employers expect to cease contributing
to the scheme in the next 10 years. Most employers who expected to stop contributions anticipated that
this would be driven by the last active member of the scheme leaving, but some will cease future accrual
for all current members.
•	77% of employers who expect to cease contributions said they understood the exit process and 86%
understood the exit costs.
•	Satisfaction with the level of involvement employers have in the running of the scheme was broadly
similar to that of other Tier 3 employers, but with a greater proportion (7%) being completely
dissatisfied.
•	A relatively high proportion (47%) of employers are, or are thinking of restructuring their organisation,
with the main reason being restructuring the bodies within a group e.g. mergers.
•	22% of employers are considering offering their staff flexibility relating to pensions benefits and the
majority of these expect to do so within the short term, i.e. next 3 years.

Higher and Further Education - an overview of survey results
Analysis of the employer survey responses of the 145 respondents (from HE and FE institutions, split 50 HE,
95 FE), identified the following:
•	Around 60% of respondents said their employer either allows all (15%) or some (45%) new staff to join
the LGPS, with 40% saying new staff are not eligible to join the LGPS.
•	Where staff are not eligible to join the LGPS, the employers typically offer an alternative defined benefit
scheme (80% defined benefit compared to 20% defined contribution).
•	The vast majority (around 95%) of respondents said that they have more than 50 contributing members.
•	90% of respondents said their employers pay less than 25% of payroll (with 30% paying less than 15% of
payroll) in pension contributions, with only 10% paying 26% or more.
•	Only 5% (of HE) and 10% (of FE) respondents stated that the LGPS did not meet their employers overall
needs, predominantly driven by:
– high level of contributions compared to the private sector and to a lesser extent;
– lack of flexibility of a national scheme.
•	90% of respondents believe their employer’s membership either understands or partly understands the
benefits that the LGPS offers.
60

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 195

Agenda Item 11

•	82% of respondents believe that their employer has sufficient access to expertise in relation to their
participation in the fund.
•	Only 4% of respondents believe that the investment strategy of their fund is not suitable for their
employer and around 50% did not know if the investment strategy was suitable or not.
•	97% of respondents believe they fully understand and comply with their responsibilities as an employer
in the LGPS.
•	45% (of HE) and 30% (of FE) respondents said their employers sometimes or often experience difficulties
in providing data for the administration of the scheme. This was generally driven by it not being clear
what they need to provide, along with difficulty meeting timescales.
•	78% (of HE) and 97% (of FE) respondents expect their employer to continue contributing to the scheme
and only 12% (of HE) and 2% (of FE) expect their employer to cease contributing to the scheme in
the next 10 years. Of the small number of employers who expect to stop contributing the majority
anticipate that this would be driven by employers ceasing future accrual for all current members, as
opposed to being driven by the last active member of the scheme leaving.
•	Around 57% of employers who expect to cease contributions said they understood the exit process and
71% understood the exit costs.
•	Satisfaction with the level of engagement employers have in the running of the scheme was broadly
similar to that of other Tier 3 employers, with only 13% being dissatisfied (either slightly or completely)
and around 30% being indifferent.
•	Around 30% of employers are, or are thinking of, restructuring their organisation, with the main
changes being the creation of an arms-length company (for HE), restructuring employers within a group
and mergers (for FE).
•	36% (of HE) and 17% (of FE) respondents said their employers were considering offering their staff
flexibility relating to pensions benefits, with the majority of these expected to do so within the
next 3 years.

Aon

61

Page 196

Agenda Item 11

Section 1: About you/your organisation
Do you offer
of the
LGPS
Do you offer membership
ofmembership
the LGPS to new
recruits?
to new recruits?
100%
80%
HE

60%

FE

40%

HA
Char

20%
0%
Yes but only to some Yes to all new recruits
new recruits

No

Commentary: The majority of Housing Associations and Charities who responded to the survey are closed to new entrants,
whereas the Higher and Further Education establishments are more evenly split between open (to all or some) new entrants and
closed to new entrants.

What type of pension scheme is offered to your staff
What type of pension scheme is offered to your staff that are not eligible for the LGPS?
that are not eligible for the LGPS?
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%

HE

50%

FE

40%

HA

30%

Char

20%
10%
0%
a defined contribution
scheme

a defined benefit scheme

Other

Commentary: The majority of Housing Associations and Charities offer a defined contribution arrangement to staff that are not
eligible for the LGPS. Higher and Further education establishments are more likely to have a defined benefit alternative for staff
not eligible for the LGPS.
How many
active (contributing)
members
How many active
(contributing)
members
does does
youryour
organisation have in the LGPS?
organisation have in the LGPS?

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%

HE

50%

FE

40%

HA

30%

Char

20%
10%
0%
1

2-10

11-49

50 and above

Commentary: Charities in particular, and some Housing Associations and Higher Education establishments have a low active
membership (less than or equal to 10 members).
62

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 197

Agenda Item 11

How much does your organisation pay into the
How much does your organisation pay into the scheme every year in total as a % of pay of your
scheme every year in total as a % of pay of your LGPS
LGPS members?
members?
100%
80%
HE

60%

FE
40%

HA
Char

20%
0%
less than 15%

15% to 25%

26% to 35%

more than 35%

Commentary: There is a spread in contributions payable by employers in each sector. A greater proportion of Charities and Housing
Associations responding to the survey are paying rates of 26% or more compared to that of Higher/Further education establishments.

Section 2: Your views on the LGPS
In the context of your organisation's objectives, does
In the context of your organisation’s objectives, does the LGPS meet your overall needs?
the LGPS meet your overall needs?
100%

80%
HE

60%

FE
HA

40%

Char
20%

0%
Yes

No

Partly

Commentary: The majority of tier 3 employers responding to the survey believe the LGPS meets or partly meets their overall
objectives. However, a higher proportion of Housing Associations and Charities believe the LGPS does not meet their needs.

Aon

63

Page 198

Agenda Item 11

WhichWhich
needs
does
ititmeet
from
below
(please
needs
does
meet from
below
(please
select select multiple)
multiple)
1
0.9
0.8
0.7
0.6
0.5
0.4
0.3

HE

0.2

FE

0.1

HA

0

Char

Commentary: Where employers stated the LGPS meets or partly meets their needs the main needs met, as illustrated in the above
frequency distribution, included;
•

A good level of benefits offered to members

•

Good Communication from the Administering Authority

•

The benefits help to recruit and retain staff,

•

The security of a national scheme; and to a lesser extent

•

Ease of administration

Please select the areas where it is failing to meet your needs
Please select
the areas
where it is failing to meet your needs (please select multiple)
(please select multiple)
1
0.9
0.8
0.7
0.6
0.5
0.4
0.3
0.2
0.1
0

HE
FE
HA
Char

Commentary: Where employers stated the LGPS does not meet or only partly meets their needs the main areas where it is failing to
meet their needs are illustrated in the above frequency distribution, with the main reason being the high level of employer contributions
required compared to typical pension costs in the private sector. In addition Higher Education establishments in particular highlighted a
lack of flexibility of a nation al scheme, and Housing Associations highlighted overly generous benefits being offered to members.

64

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 199

Agenda Item 11

you believe
employees
understand the
the benefits
that
thethe LGPS offers?
Do youDo
believe
youryour
employees
understand
benefits
that
LGPS offers?

100%

80%
HE

60%

FE
HA

40%

Char
20%

0%
Yes

No

Partly

Commentary: The majority of employers believe their members understand or partly understand the benefits that the LGPS offers.

Do you believe you have access to advice and
Do you believe you have access to advice and expertise in relation to your participation
expertise
in relation to your participation in the
in the Fund?
Fund?
100%
80%
HE

60%

FE
40%

HA
Char

20%
0%
Yes

No

Commentary: The majority of employers believe they have access to advice and expertise in relation to their participation in the
Fund.

Do you believe the investment strategy of the Fund is
Do you believe the investment strategy of the Fund is suitable for you as an employer?
suitable for you as an employer?
100%

80%
HE

60%

FE
HA

40%

Char
20%

0%
Yes

No

Don't Know

Commentary: Employer were fairly evenly split between either believing that the investment strategy of their LGPS fund is suitable
for them as an employer and not knowing whether it was suitable. Charities in particular were unsure.

Aon

65

Page 200

Agenda Item 11

How satisfied are you with the level of engagement
How satisfied are you with the level of engagement you have in the running of the scheme?
you have in the running of the scheme?
50%
40%
30%

HE

20%

FE

10%

HA

0%
Neither
N/A I do not Completely
satisfied satisfied nor
want to be
dissatisfied
involved
with the
running of
the scheme

Slightly
Satisfied

Slightly
Completely
dissatisfied dissatisfied

Char

Commentary: Few employers responding to the survey were either slightly dissatisfied or completely dissatisfied with the level of
engagement they have in the running of the scheme.

Section 3: Meeting your obligations
Do you fully understand and comply with your responsibilities
as an employer in the LGPS

Do you fully understand and comply with your responsibilities as an employer in the LGPS
100%

80%
HE

60%

FE
HA

40%

Char
20%

0%
Yes

No

Don't Know

Commentary: Most employers responding to the survey believed that they both understood and complied with their responsibilities as an employer in the LGPS.

you experienced
difficulties
in providing
data
Have youHave
experienced
difficulties
in providing
data for the
administration of the scheme?
for the administration of the scheme?
50%

40%
HE

30%

FE
HA

20%

Char
10%

0%
Never

Rarely

Sometimes

Often

Commentary: A high proportion of employers responding to the survey either sometimes or often experience difficulties in providing data for the administration of the scheme.

66

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 201

Agenda Item 11

What are the difficulties you have experienced from
What are the difficulties
you have
experienced
from the following? (Please select multiple)
the following?
(Please
select multiple)
0.6
0.5
0.4
HE
0.3

FE
HA

0.2

Char
0.1
0.0
Not clear what we
need to provide

Meeting
turnaround times

Providing data of
required quality

Other

Commentary: Where employers either sometimes or often experience difficulties in providing data for the administration of the
scheme, the main difficulties were meeting turnaround times, not being clear what they need to provide and, possibly with the
exception of Housing Associations, difficulty providing data of the required quality.

Section 4: Your future plans
When
you expect
that
your organisation
will
stop
When do
you do
expect
that your
organisation
will stop
contributing
to the LGPS?
contributing to the LGPS?
100%
80%
60%

HE

40%

FE
HA

20%

Char
0%
0-1 Years

1-3 Years

3-5 Years

5-10 Years

After 10
Years

We don't
expect to
stop
contributing

Commentary: Few employers expect to stop contributing to the LGPS in the short term; this is especially true for Further Education
establishments.

Why do you expect to stop contributing to the LGPS?
Why do you expect to stop contributing to the LGPS?
100%

80%

60%

HE
FE

40%

HA
Char

20%

0%
Will cease admitting new Last active member due Will cease future accrual
members to scheme
to leave scheme
for all current members

Commentary: For those employers who expect to stop contributing to the LGPS the main reason given by Higher and Further
Education establishments was that they will cease admitting new members to the scheme, whereas the main reason given by
Charities and Housing Associations was that the last active member was due to leave the scheme.
Aon

67

Page 202

Agenda Item 11

Do you understand the exit process from the scheme as an employer?
Do you understand the exit process from the scheme as an
employer?

100%

80%
HE

60%

FE
HA

40%

Char
20%

0%
Yes

No

Commentary: A reasonably high proportion of employers which expect to exit the LGPS do not understand the exit process.

Do you understand the exit costs payable as an employer?
Do you understand the exit costs payable as an employer?
100%

80%

HE

60%

FE
HA

40%

Char
20%

0%

Yes

No

Commentary: A reasonably high proportion of employers which expect to exit the LGPS do not understand the exit costs involved.
This is especially true of Charities.

Are you planning
expecting
to restructure
your organisation?
Are youor
planning
or expecting
to restructure
your
organisation?
100%

80%

HE

60%

FE
HA

40%

Char
20%

0%
Yes

No

Possibly

Commentary: Around 30% of employers participating in the survey were planning or expecting to restructure their organisation.

68

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 203

Agenda Item 11

What are
youare
planning
or expecting
to change
within your
organisation?
What
you planning
or expecting
to change
within
your organisation?
100%
80%
60%

HE
FE

40%

HA
20%

Char

0%
Changing the legal Structuring the Creation of wholly
owned arm’s
structure of the
bodies within a
organisation
group e.g merger length companies

Other

Commentary: A variety of changes were being planned or expected as illustrated in the chart above.

Are you thinking of introducing any flexibility relating to pensions into your staff benefits e.g.
Are you thinking of introducing any flexibility relating to
offering an
alternative pension scheme?
pensions into your staff benefits e.g. offering an alternative
pension scheme?
100%
80%
HE

60%

FE
HA

40%

Char
20%
0%
Yes

No

Commentary: Around 20% of employers responding to the survey were thinking of introducing flexibility relating to pensions for
their staff, with around 35% of Higher Education establishments considering this.

What is the timescale of introducing this flexibility?
What is the timescale of introducing this flexibility?
100%

80%

60%

HE
FE

40%

HA
Char

20%

0%
Short Term (In the next
12 months)

Medium Term (Between
1-3 years)

Long Term (3 years +)

Commentary: Where pension flexibility was being considered, the timescales were typically either in the next 12 months (at time
of completing the survey), or between 1 and 3 years.

Aon

69

Agenda Item 11

Page 204

Appendix 2: Feedback from
Employer Listening Sessions
Charities – an overview of employers represented in the listening sessions
The 5 participants were from a range of employer sizes (14 – 250 staff) but with low LGPS membership
(between 1 and 28 participating members).
All participants stated that their employer’s participation in the LGPS was closed, or effectively closed, to
new entrants.
In all cases staff were being auto enrolled into defined contribution schemes, with employer rates lower
than payable to the LGPS.
The participants typically have links with a council although some feel the link is weakening and funding is a
chief concern.
Communications from the local fund were rated between average and very good.
Charities - duties
All said they were clear on their responsibilities and deadlines related to scheme returns. 1 participant
commented that pressure of other work can make it difficult to meet deadlines. It was noted that payroll
and pensions is only a part of the participant’s role (given it is a small employer). While there is training
available for year end the focus of the training was more geared to the bigger employers in the fund, and a
smaller session for new staff and smaller employers would be beneficial.
Only 2 of the 5 participants believed they had discretionary policies in place for their LGPS staff. For
participants who did not have discretionary policies in place, the number of staff in the LGPS was low, and
the fund had never requested information on the employer’s discretionary policies.
Charities – member experience
On the whole all participants believe their LGPS membership understand and value the LGPS. Most
participants said their LGPS members believe the scheme benefits are more valuable than those available to
other staff (for example through their auto enrolment defined contribution scheme).
However, a common theme was that communications from the fund can be overly technical and daunting
for staff, including annual benefit statements and new member packs.
One participant commented that the benefits of the scheme are such that members can feel tied to the job;
but an alternative view expressed is that they have a bigger incentive to stay.
Most of the participants believed that their LGPS membership was unaware of the 50:50 option.
Most participants rely on communication from the fund to members (direct or via the employer) with little
if any communication driven by the employers. One participant acts as a point of contact and any queries
are referred to a client advisory service run by the administering authority.
Participants had mixed views on whether their LGPS membership has sufficient access to expertise and
training. As these employers typically rely on their local fund, the different practices/resource levels at local
funds leads to differences in member experience.

70

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 205

Agenda Item 11

Charities – employer experience
Participants were generally complimentary about the training offered by their local fund. Areas that were
identified that could be improved include more detailed training on specific tasks, e.g. on some of the
forms that need to be completed.
One participant had received independent advice related to funding issues and another had relied on
the national network of employers to obtain additional advice, but most rely on administering authorities
providing the information, training and expertise that they need.
Positives of the scheme from an employer perspective include the provision of benefits that are valued by
members. One participant noted that it was an attraction for new joiners (before the employer closed the
scheme to new entrants); although another commented that no employees had been put off joining as
a result of the defined contribution pension offer. The fact that the scheme is centrally administered and
communications are dealt with by the fund makes it easy for the employer and reduces the administration
burden.
Employer costs generated the strongest views. A common theme for charities is that they typically have
little or no contingency on their balance sheets to absorb unexpected pension cost increases. As one
participant stated “there is a mismatch between funding risk and resources”. In addition their funding
stream can be very uncertain and short term so the ongoing costs of participation can also be prohibitive
(i.e. primary contributions to meet the costs of benefits accruing to existing members).
Costs can appear unfair when compared to the cost of defined contribution contributions payable for other
staff (i.e. issues related to a two tier workforce). Further, the costs are met by funding that could otherwise
be put towards the primary purpose of the charity.
In all cases costs and risks relating to cost (in particular the risk of future deficits) was cited as the reason for
closure to new entrants.
Further exacerbating factors were said to be:
•	Changes in accounting treatment under the accounting standard FRS102. The pension deficit now
disclosed on the employer’s balance sheet can dwarf the day to day running costs and make employers
insolvent on an accounting basis.
•	The financial crisis in 2008 driving increases in contributions and increasing awareness of funding risks.
•	Austerity in recent years, leading to funding cuts or an increased risk of funding cuts.
The LGPS liability was also believed to impinge on business decisions such as mergers, with employers
reluctant to merge with another employer carrying a large balance sheet risk.
Exit costs were also a source of concern. Some participants commented on a low risk approach being used
and the costs appearing unfair or onerous, and being prohibitive.
One participant said he would prefer to be able to continue to contribute after the last active member
leaves the scheme as recently legislated for in the Occupational Pension Schemes (Employer Debt and
Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2018 for employers in private sector defined benefit multiemployer occupational pension schemes.

Aon

71

Agenda Item 11

Page 206

Other participants believed exit costs would be prohibitive but had not looked into exit in any detail as
they did not believe that it was imminent.
Only one participant believed they had assets that could be used to improve their perceived covenant.
The general consensus was that the scheme is not sufficiently flexible to assist with planned exit strategies
due to the crystallisation of the exit debt as well as administering authorities being wary of striking deals
with individual organisations for fear of setting a precedent and leading to contagion. One participant
hoped the (exit) regulations might change. It was also commented that if there is no flexibility charities will
simply fold and then the councils will need to pick up the liabilities in the fund as well as the provision of
the service.
Participants had no particularly strong views on the investment strategy of their fund, although it was
noted that there was no engagement / a perception that the employer would have no say in any case,
especially given their size.
The valuation process was also an area of concern for the majority of participants. The problems identified
included :
•	a lack of clarity on why there was a huge increase in rates,
•	a lack of willingness from the administering authority to engage in discussion early in the process,
•	communications from the actuary and the administering authority being too technical for employers to
understand the implications,
•	the valuation process being too back end loaded with employers only learning of their rates shortly
before they are due to come into effect impinging on budgeting,
•	a view that affordability was not taken into account sufficiently when setting rates
Some participants were unaware of the funding strategy and had no involvement in its review.

Housing Associations – an overview of employers represented
in the listening meetings
9 housing associations were directly represented with the National Housing Federation also in attendance.
Some participants stated that their employer’s participation in the LGPS was closed to new entrants and the
majority (though not all) of the others indicated that they keep their participation under review.
Two of the participants represented an employer that participated in multiple local LGPS funds.
The majority of employers participate as pre 1997 admission bodies, but one attendee represented an
employer who commenced participation more recently as a Community Admission Body.
The National Housing Federation (NHF) set out some useful background on the sector including
observations that the NHF’s view is that housing associations are long-term secure employers based on:
• Surpluses being generated by the sector and increasing year in year
• Debt typically being considered investment grade

72

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 207

Agenda Item 11

• A zero default record
•	Oversight from the Homes and Communities Agency – the sector’s financial regulator – including
review of Associations’ 30 year financial plans
• A strong asset base
The sector’s response to the 1% rent cut announced by George Osborne in his July 2015 budget (which
had also referred to greater efficiencies and seemed to imply mergers were expected by Government) was
viewed as demonstrating that the sector can adapt and change. No housing associations have gone into
liquidation and proactive mergers are about planning for the future. It was felt that this reflects how well
the sector is run.
The core purpose is to develop social homes. Those homes are provided for the local authorities. They
also provide other services for tenants and wider community such as employment help, e.g. for those with
learning disabilities and provision of training. Whilst recent rent cuts have slightly reduced those services
they remain important providers of local services.
Housing Associations - duties
Attendees indicated that they are generally clear on their responsibilities and the requirement to have
a discretionary policy in place. This was partly due to notifications on data requirements and deadlines
from the administering authority, with one attendee referring positively to quarterly Newsletters from
the administering authority and employer workshops run by the administering authority. However, it was
noted by another participant that this was very different to the experience in their fund.
It was mentioned that there is a lack of consistency between templates and format of provision of
information across the funds. Where employers participate in multiple funds this is very inefficient.
Housing Associations – member experience
There was a mixed response from participants as to whether they believe their employer’s LGPS
membership understand and value the LGPS.
Some said that in general members don’t realise what the scheme is worth and that housing associations
don’t always communicate the value of the scheme, but this varies across organisations.
Others indicated the opposite – that members do understand and value the scheme. Where this was the
case, this was partly explained by regular meetings with members run by the administering authority.
There were mixed views as to whether the LGPS was a useful tool for recruitment and retention; different
subgroups may have different needs and values. For example, millennials may (generally) not value
pensions but the over 40s (perhaps) would.
A participant also believed that where there is a strong union membership within the employer, the LGPS
would be seen as an important tool for recruitment and retention.
Most participants believed that their LGPS membership was unaware of the 50:50 Scheme option. There
was a comment that “the 50:50 Scheme was never going to work if the employer still has to pay the full
contribution rate”.
It was also acknowledged that where workshops are run by administering authorities these are very much
valued by members.

Aon

73

Agenda Item 11

Page 208

Housing Associations – employer experience – funding, covenant and valuations
The consensus was that whilst a lower cost scheme would appeal to some, a more pressing concern is
about how contributions are set than the generosity of the benefits.
A number of attendees mentioned that the main criterion used by administering authorities / their
actuaries to set funding strategy appeared to be whether the employer is an admitted body or not with
no consideration of the financial strength of the employer. Many attendees felt that recognition of sector
would be helpful rather than grouping them all together as “Tier 3”. Some administering authorities treat
housing associations as a scheduled body in terms of contributions so some felt administering authority
discretion is important and should be retained. Some said they would pay for advice for the administering
authority (e.g. on covenant) but would prefer them to use info already out there - credit rating agencies
or by the local authority accountants reviewing their accounts. One attendee mentioned that their
administering authority does engage more, e.g. wants to look at their business plan.
The issues aren’t new but there was a perception local authorities are now more stringently applying “the
rules” – e.g. requiring bonds, making things more difficult for the sector.
The lack of consistency across administering authorities was a recurring theme during discussions and
identified by the NHF as one of the main issues at outset.
Other comments included an observation that contributions at each valuation seem to go up regardless
of funding levels and that the assumptions adopted appear to place too much emphasis on current market
conditions. Where costs increase it is believed this is not necessarily in the best interest of the scheme
because it can encourage employers to close (so reducing cash flows).
It was acknowledged that when conditions are good more prudent assumptions should be welcomed, as
well as a reference to previous employer contribution holidays and the 75% funding target being at least
partly responsible for employer contribution increases over recent years.
A number of attendees mentioned that there can be a step change in approach and assumptions if the
administering authority changes actuary. Others commented on the effect of closing to new entrants:
one had been quoted a contribution rate increase equivalent to 12% of pay. It was questioned why the
contribution rate for a closed scheme should be different to an open scheme, on the assumption that
housing associations are secure and would be able to pay contributions well into the future. The LGPS
regulations were seen as the barrier to this as they crystallise an exit debt when members cease to accrue
benefits.
An alternative view expressed was that if closed and open employers are treated the same for funding
purposes it would be easy to close, which might end up with members losing (future) LGPS benefits.
There was a consensus that the Regulations should require the employer to carry on contributing after the
last active member has left.
One attendee mentioned it would be helpful if they could spread exit debt over a period (this is already
permitted by the Regulations) to enable them to carry on paying after last active member leaves in the
belief that housing associations have the ability to continue to service a debt after the last active member
has left. Experience varies, with some LGPS funds willing to engage, others not.

74

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 209

Agenda Item 11

Other related comments included:
•	Local authorities / government should consider the effect of the current approach – higher contributions
have a cost in terms of houses and hit the income and expenditure which potentially hurts the local
authorities who they are intended to help.
•	(Typically) When housing associations were formed guarantees were not required nor requested. In the
current environment local authorities are not going to sign guarantees and some housing associations
are being asked to provide bonds. It was argued that administering authorities should not now be
able to change the rules - if at the time of the transfer the administering authorities had requested a
guarantee or commitment to subsume the assets and liabilities after any exit of a housing association
the local authorities would have provided it (to facilitate the transfer). It is too late to request this
now. A further problem is that housing associations no longer (necessarily) follow the local authority
geographical areas, so less clear which local authority would offer a guarantee.
•	(Typically) When stock transfers were made funds were mostly in surplus but housing associations
started fully funded and any surplus went back to the local authority (within the fund).
Regarding security, attendees noted that their Regulator does not support housing associations providing a
charge over assets and would not previously have given consent. Although technically consent is no longer
needed HCA has given a specific indication that it wouldn’t expect housing associations to grant pension
funds a charge over assets. However, this sometimes happens indirectly, e.g. a bond being secured over a
property. If done directly it was expected that the Regulator may downgrade you and hence lenders and
rating agencies would take a dim view. It was thought that the position may be slightly different if a charge
were granted over non-social housing assets, e.g. office blocks.
One attendee who had been asked to provide a bond felt strongly that this was a waste of money and the
organisation would rather have paid the cost of the bond into the Fund. The cost was c 50% of the housing
association’s employer contributions.
Overall it was believed that housing associations should be treated differently to other community
admission bodies given the chances of any housing associations going bust are extremely low. One
housing association where a covenant assessment had been carried out had received a score of 9 out of 10,
confirming they were very low risk.
Attendees observed that some administering authorities treat them the same way as a “transient company”
which is not equitable and leads to a huge cost. One participant quoted contributions of 26.3% of pay
being requested when if they had been a scheduled body they wouldn’t have had a deficit.
One participant stated that the stock was of such value that large exit payments could be paid, but this was
not reflected in the risk assessment
Housing Associations – employer experience – other
The impact of the LGPS on business planning was discussed. The consensus was that the LGPS can and
does impinge on business planning. Mergers can end up being arranged to minimise pension implications,
an example was given of two organisations being amalgamated rather than a new one set up. It was noted
that when admissions change guarantors can take opportunity to bail out as guarantors and on novation
the administering authority takes the opportunity to re-negotiate the terms of the admission agreement.

Aon

75

Agenda Item 11

Page 210

It was suggested that it would be helpful if the LGPS Regulations explicitly permitted the transfer of pension
liabilities on merger, i.e. the liabilities automatically transfer to the new merged organisation rather than
needing legal advice etc. to enable this.
Another issue related to redundancies. Employers don’t know which individuals have transferred in other
benefits into the scheme and how that affect costs – e.g. when someone over 55 transfers benefits in and
is then made redundant. There is a disconnect between what the fund and the employer knows which is
unhelpful for business planning. Further it was suggested that CETVs in from other (non-club) schemes
could be made an employer discretion – again due to the potential for costs which housing associations
believe shouldn’t be borne by the employer.
Employers also said that they are not provided with any information on the capital cost calculations
themselves (just the answer). The figures can come out of the blue and can be really high. There was
also a concern at the lack of information on a possible exit cap which would affect the sector if rules were
changed.
The session also covered reasons why employers have closed or are keeping under review a decision to
close to new entrants: the impact of costs covered above, pension risk in general and a different external
environment - for example private sector schemes are either closed or closing and this can influence Board
members’ views.
Participants also discussed investment strategies - there is very little consultation with employers.
With schemes now in surplus it was felt employers could and should be consulted on what action the
administering authority was taking given employers would presumably pick up the costs if there was a
crash in the stock-market.
As a comparison, one attendee mentioned that Social Housing Pension Scheme have changed their
governance arrangements to include greater employer input.
Employer representation was also discussed and Local Pension Boards were felt to have made little
difference to employer engagement and communication so far. Housing associations have better insight
but no more influence. The approach of 1 vote per employer was questioned since it meant a school with
(say) 5 members had the same influence as a housing association with 1,000 members. The very small
number of employer representatives means little opportunity for housing associations to get involved
(attendees were aware of 2 housing association representatives across the LGPS) and there is no mechanism
for employer representatives to consult with other employers to ensure their views are represented. It was
suggested that more could be done to facilitate that from a fund perspective.
It was observed that the sector as a whole influenced “with difficulty”. There had been a meeting with SAB
a few years ago but nothing had come of it. The NHF responds to all consultations but its voice isn’t really
heard at a national level. As there are typically only 1 or 2 housing associations in individual pension funds
they face difficulty influencing locally too. The NHF had estimated housing associations accounted for 2%4% of total LGPS assets. This wasn’t previously considered enough to justify a seat on the LGPS Advisory
Board although still a lot of money. It was suggested that there could be a housing association sector cooptee on the LGPS Advisory Board.

76

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 211

Agenda Item 11

Higher and Further Education – an overview of employers represented in the listening meetings
15 universities and 8 colleges were directly represented in the listening meeting with additional
representation from UCEA and AoC.
The attendees were spread across a number of different roles primarily finance, HR, pensions and payroll.
The majority of the employers represented are scheduled bodies, but some are admission bodies.
The vast majority still admit new members into the LGPS (as is a requirement for scheduled bodies)
although a small minority had set up, or were in the process of setting up, a wholly owned company which
would employ new hires and not offer membership of the LGPS. Such changes were driven by cost issues
and lack of flexibility in the LGPS with other employers considering similar changes to meet the demands of
a changing workforce (i.e. younger and more mobile).
The UCEA representative commented that HE institutions are increasingly interested in the options
available to them regarding participation in the LGPS with pension provision high on the agenda.
Higher and Further Education – duties
Most attendees said they are generally clear on their responsibilities and the requirement to have a
discretionary policy in place although some felt that fulfilling certain duties was made harder by the archaic
way in which data is supplied /shared. There was a general view that the timescales for completing the
annual return were inadequate.
Whilst some had access to the underlying data /administration information (to help answer staff queries)
others didn’t, raising issues of inconsistency across funds. In addition access to an online portal was
available to some but not all and in some circumstances even when it was available, the functionality was
seen as poor and not intuitive.
Higher and Further Education – member experience
The majority felt that overall employees were not fully aware of the value of the LGPS (except for those close
to retirement age i.e. those in their 50’s). For the small number who thought employees did understand
and value the LGPS it was felt more could be done to engage members.
In terms of member opt-outs the consensus was that they were quite low except for casual workers, those
on the lowest low salaries and high earners/long service members with tax issues. For those with annual
allowance and lifetime allowance issues some felt that the LGPS had not done enough to flag the potential
issues to members with the communications that had been sent out to members being very poor.
Views as to whether or not the LGPS was seen as a useful tool for recruitment and retention were similar to
housing associations, i.e. it depended on the employee subgroup (for example, over 40s (perhaps) would
view LGPS as a reason to stay, whilst younger staff might view it as inflexible and/or less important to them).
For those in the HE sector the general feeling was that most members knew about the 50:50 Scheme
option (although take-up had been quite low). In contrast those in the FE sector felt their LGPS members
were unaware of the 50:50 option and since the initial announcements in 2014 it had not been widely
publicised. Similar to a comment made in the housing association listening meeting some HE/FE institutions
did not appreciate that their contribution would be lower in future if members opted for the 50:50 option.

Aon

77

Agenda Item 11

Page 212

Views on the quality of communications to members were mixed and depended on whether HE/FE
institutions provided additional resources to top-up communications received from the LGPS funds. Whilst
some HE/FE institutions wanted to (and did) provide additional help to staff, this was often hampered by
concerns over “being seen to provide financial advice”. There was also some concern over the quality of
communications once this had been outsourced to third parties and most benefit statements only being
provided online which meant a lot of members wouldn’t read them. A number of participants also said they
were looking into the concept of total reward statements to help articulate the value of the LGPS to staff.
An overarching theme in terms of the “member experience” was that workforces are changing and the
LGPS is too inflexible to provide members what they want or need throughout their career.
Higher and Further Education – employer experience – funding, covenant and valuations
There was no consensus on whether or not HE/FE institutions had access to sufficient training or expertise
regarding their participation in the LGPS and mixed views on employer communications from the various
LGPS funds (some viewed them as good and others poor).
A clear theme expressed by the majority of those present was a general lack of transparency in relation to
the valuation process and a feeling that it was very difficult to influence the valuation process or outcome.
UCEA confirmed that they had experienced a large amount of negative feedback in relation to the valuation
process where HE institutions were (by default) being classed as higher risk and were having to battle with
administering authorities over valuation assumptions. There was also general agreement that there was
inconsistency of treatment both between and within funds.
All attendees felt that institutions should be given their own category/status rather than the simplified “Tier
3” categorisation. It was felt that the regulatory environment within which they operate should be reflected
and the default position that a University or College represents a “high risk” is incorrect. The consensus was
that they should be treated the same as local authorities/councils.
The role of providing additional security in valuations was discussed. A small minority had provided some
form of contingent security (i.e. charge over property, negative pledge). Others had been asked to provide
security but the majority had declined.
Some HE/FE institutions expressed concerns with the valuation cycle fitting into the local government
year-end which wasn’t helpful for HE institutions. The timing of the valuation results also created budget/
financial planning issues for some.
There was no consensus on whether the ongoing cost (i.e. cost of future accrual only) is too high but
some HE/FE institutions felt the current accrual rate was too generous. Most HE/FE institutions were more
concerned about the volatility of costs, their inability to control them (either by negotiating valuation
assumptions or changing benefits) and the impact on the balance sheet. This is driving some HE institutions
to investigate the subsidiary route which would provide defined contribution benefits for new staff and
limit their exposure to the LGPS.
The view of the HE institutions was that the exit process/cost for leaving the LGPS was prohibitive and this
was heavily influencing decisions on future pension strategy.

78

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 213

Agenda Item 11

The consensus was that the assumptions used to crystallise the exit cost are far too prudent and a
repayment plan should be permitted rather than a one-off lump sum (which some funds would require).
One attendee said that a subsidiary company of their employer was in the process of negotiating an exit
with a repayment plan rather than a lump sum – highlighting inconsistencies between the treatment/
willingness to engage on exits between funds. It was felt that the LGPS Regulations need to be changed
to allow more flexibility in this area and whilst there may be employer relations/Union issues it may be
appropriate for some HE/FE employers to stop admitting new entrants into the LGPS. This would, over the
longer term, reduce the employer’s exposure to pension risk putting it in stronger position to deal with
legacy pension deficits.
Higher and Further Education – employer experience – other
The impact of the LGPS on business planning was discussed. The consensus on this was that the LGPS
can and does impinge on business planning, with the best plan of action from a business perspective
not always being actioned because of pension issues. Overall, pensions are viewed as a high risk factor in
mergers.
Particular concerns were raised over the cost of redundancies for staff over 55 which can be a by-product
of a restructuring. Similar to the issues raised by housing associations, HE/FE institutions don’t know and
can’t control which individuals have transferred benefits into the LGPS which can materially affect costs.
Some attendees noted that there were inconsistencies with the treatment in TPS which gave rise to issues of
equity and fairness across their workforce.
The vast majority of participants felt they had no influence over the investment strategy with little or
no communication from the funds. Only one attendee said that their fund had recently given them the
opportunity to influence their strategy.
In terms of employer representation and the impact of Local Pension Boards (LPBs), HE/FE institutions
had similar to views to the housing associations, i.e. the Boards have made little difference to employer
engagement and communication so far. One attendee, who was on a LPB said that there didn’t appear to
be a mechanism for employer representatives to consult with other employers, and LPBs are not decisionmaking and have a focus on compliance.

Aon

79

Agenda Item 11

Page 214

Appendix 3: Member survey results
Overview
The member survey was launched on 27 November 2017 and closed on 31 January 2018.
3,467 fully completed responses were received, including 1,887 from members working for a higher
education institution, 1,006 working for further education establishment, 416 working for a housing
association and 122 working for a charity. 36 responses have been discounted as it was not clear whether
the person worked for a Tier 3 employer. Responses covered members across 62 LGPS Funds.
The sections below summarise the results of that survey.

Overview of survey results
The majority of members do understand the retirement benefits offered by the LGPS, with 2,654 (77%)
answering ‘yes’ or ‘partly’ to this question. The number was similar in respect of understanding death
benefits, with 2,622 (76%) members answering’ yes’ or ‘partly’.
2,498 (73%) members answered ‘yes’ when asked if they believe the LGPS meets their needs, with 788
(23%) answering ‘partly’. Of those who answered ‘no’ or ‘partly’, the main reason given (by 317 members)
was a lack of understanding of the scheme, with 122 members also citing a lack of communication and
170 citing lower benefits/higher contributions. Members were able to select more than one option when
answering this question.
When asked what members value most about the LGPS, 2,155 value employer contributions, and 1,705
value the level of pension. 1,233 members value the fact that benefits are guaranteed and 1,712 value the
benefits offered on death. Again, members were able to choose more than one option for this question.
Members were asked about flexibility. Members appear to be happy with the LGPS, with only 840 (24%)
wishing that their employer offered more flexibility to join an alternative pension scheme. However, when
asked about flexibility within the benefits offered by the LGPS the results were more balanced, with 1,899
(55%) wishing there was more flexibility and 1,532 (45%) happy with the flexibility currently offered.
Members are generally happy with the communications they receive, with 1,572 (46%) rating the
communications from their administering authority as ‘good’ or ‘excellent’, and 1,505 (44%) rating the
communications they receive from their employer as ‘good’ or ‘excellent’.
Members may welcome more opportunity to engage with the scheme. Only 1,191 (35%) were completely
or slightly satisfied with their level of engagement, with 1,459 (43%) saying they were neither satisfied nor
unsatisfied. 757 (22%) are slightly or completely dissatisfied with their level of engagement.
Members were asked what they would change if they could change one thing about the scheme. A number
unsurprisingly referenced higher benefits, lower employee contributions and/or a lower retirement age,
but the highest numbers of comments were in relation to receiving information about the scheme.
Members would like more information about the scheme, and would like this information to be clearer.
Many members want the information available electronically to be better - there is an expectation from
many members to be able to log in and view up-to-date information about their benefits. However, there
were also several comments from members wishing to retain non-electronic forms of communication.
Finally, a number of comments referred to the time taken to respond to member queries and felt this could
be improved.

80

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 215

Agenda Item 11

Section 1: Your views on the LGPS – benefits
Do you understand the benefits that the LGPS offers in relation to benefits on retirement?
1800

60%

1600

50%

1400

40%

1200

30%

1000

20%

800
600

10%

400

0%
Yes

200
0
Yes

Partly

No

Partly

Higher Education

Further Education

Housing Association

Charities

Total

No

by Sector
50%

60%

40%
50%

30%
40%

20%
30%

10%

20%

0%
Yes

10%
0%
Yes

Partly
35 or under

No

Partly

less than 15,000 per year

No
15,000 to 35,000 per year

more than 35,000 per year

over 35

by Age

by Salary Band

Commentary: The level of understanding of the benefits on retirement was mixed among survey respondents, with benefits better understood by over 35s and higher paid members.

Do you understand the benefits the LGPS offers your family in the event of your death?
1600

60%

1400

50%

1200

40%

1000

30%

800

20%

600

10%

400

0%
Yes

200
0
Yes

Partly

No

Total

Partly

Higher Education

Further Education

Housing Association

Charities

No

by Sector

Commentary: The level of understanding of the benefits offered to dependents on death was mixed among survey respondents,
again with benefits better understood by over 35s and higher paid members.

Aon

81

Page 216

Agenda Item 11

60%
50%
60%

40%

50%

30%

40%
30%

20%

20%

10%

10%

0%

0%

Yes

Partly
35 or under

No

Yes

Partly

less than 15,000 per year

over 35

by Age

15,000 to 35,000 per year

No
more than 35,000 per year

by Salary Band

Commentary: The level of understanding of the benefits offered to dependents on death was mixed among survey respondents,
again with benefits better understood by over 35s and higher paid members.

Did you know the scheme provides a death in service lump sum and a pension for your dependents in the
event of your death?
3000

100%

2500

80%

2000

60%

1500

40%

1000

20%

500

0%
Yes

0
Yes

No

		

No

Higher Education

Further Education

Housing Association

Charities

Total

by Sector

90%
80%

90%

70%

80%

60%

70%

50%

60%

40%

50%
40%

30%

30%

20%

20%

10%

10%

0%
Yes

0%

No
35 or under

over 35

by Age

Yes

		

less than 15,000 per year

15,000 to 35,000 per year

No
more than 35,000 per year

by Salary Band

Commentary: A high proportion of respondents were aware that a death in service lump sum and pension was provided to
dependents on death, with a higher proportion of the over 35s aware.

82

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 217

Agenda Item 11

Why do you feel that the LGPS does not meet, or only partly meets, your needs? (For those respondents who
did not feel the LGPS fully meets their needs)
350
300
250
200
150
100
50
0

Which needs does it (the LGPS) meet from the below (For those respondents who said the LPGS meets or
partly meets their needs)
2500

2000

1500

1000

500

0

Aon

83

Page 218

Agenda Item 11

Would you like your employer to offer more flexibility with regard to pension provision,
for example: the opportunity to join a different pension scheme other than the LGPS?
100%

3000

90%

2500

80%
70%

2000

60%
50%

1500

40%
30%

1000

20%
10%

500

0%
Yes

0
Yes

Higher Education

No

No

Further Education

Total

Housing Association

Charities

by Sector
100%

90%

90%

80%

80%

70%

70%

60%

60%

50%

50%

40%

40%

30%

30%

20%

20%

10%

10%
0%

0%
Yes
35 or under

Yes

No

		

over 35

Higher Education

by Age

No

Further Education

Housing Association

Charities

by Salary Band

Commentary: Most respondents would not like the opportunity to join a different pension scheme other than the LGPS.

Would you like your employer to offer more flexibility with regard to pension provision,
for example: more flexibility in the benefits offered by the LGPS?
2000

100%

1800

90%

1600

80%

1400

70%

1200

60%
50%

1000

40%

800

30%

600

20%

400

10%

200

0%
Yes

0
Yes

No

Total

84

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Higher Education

No

Further Education

Housing Association

by Sector

Charities

Page 219

100%

100%

90%

90%

80%

80%

70%

70%

60%

60%

Agenda Item 11

50%

50%

40%

40%

30%

30%

20%

20%

10%

10%

0%
Yes

0%
Yes
35 or under

No

No

over 35

less than 15,000 per year

by Age

15,000 to 35,000 per year

more than 35,000 per year

by Salary Band

Commentary: Slightly more respondents would like more flexibility in the benefits offered by the LGPS.

Section 2: Your views on the LGPS – engagement
How do you rate the communications received about the LGPS: [a. from your pension fund]
1600
50%
45%
40%
35%
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
5%
0%

1400
1200
1000
800
600

Excellent

400

Average

Good

200
0
Excellent

Average

Good

Below
average

Poor

Total

Below
average

Poor

Higher Education

Further Education

Housing Association

Charities

by Sector
50%

50%
45%
40%
35%
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
5%
0%

40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Excellent

Excellent

35 or under

Average

Good

Below
average

Poor

Average

Good

Below
average

Poor

less than 15,000 per year
15,000 to 35,000 per year
more than 35,000 per year

over 35

by Age

by Salary Band

Commentary: Most respondents rated the communications received from their pension fund as good or average, but with a significant
minority rating the communications as below average or poor.

Aon

85

Page 220

Agenda Item 11

How do you rate the communications received about the LGPS: [b. from your employer]
1600

45%
40%
35%
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
5%
0%

1400
1200
1000
800
600

Excellent

400
200
0
Excellent

Average

Good

Below
average

Poor

Average

Good

Below
average

Poor

Higher Education

Further Education

Housing Association

Charities

Total

by Sector
50%

45%
40%
35%
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
5%
0%

40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Excellent

Excellent
35 or under

Average

Good

Below
average

Average

Good

Poor

Below
average

Poor

less than 15,000 per year
15,000 to 35,000 per year

over 35

more than 35,000 per year

by Age

by Salary Band

Commentary: Most respondents rated the communications received from their pension fund as good or average, but with a
significant minority rating the communications as below average or poor, especially within the higher education sector.

How satisfied are you with the level of engagement you have with the scheme?
1600

50%

1400

40%

1200

30%

1000

20%

800

10%

600

0%

400
200
0

Total

86

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Higher Education

Further Education

Housing Association

Charities

by Sector

Page 221

50%

Agenda Item 11

50%

40%

40%

30%

30%

20%

20%
10%

10%

0%

0%

35 or under

over 35

less than 15,000 per year
15,000 to 35,000 per year
more than 35,000 per year

by Age

by Salary Band

Commentary: Most respondents were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied with the level of engagement they have in the scheme, however,
a minority were completely dissatisfied, particularly evident on the low paid and within the higher and further education sectors.

Aon

87

Agenda Item 11

Page 222

Appendix 4: Feedback from
Member Listening Session
Scheme members – listening session with Trades Union representatives
Scheme Members - Member understanding (union viewpoint)
The unions’ general view is that the LGPS is a good scheme and does meet members’ needs. There was
some doubt whether members fully understand the scheme, but this applies to all scheme members not
specifically those employed by Tier 3 employers. Differences in member understanding are largely down
to employer size rather than sector - larger employers are generally better at providing information to
members. Members do have access to the information if they are interested in finding out more. However,
there is concern that employees of some Tier 3 employers do not fully understand the risk that their
employer is not fully committed to the scheme.
Scheme Members - Member experience (union viewpoint)
As mentioned above, larger employers are generally viewed as better at providing information and
communicating with members. Smaller employers may not always act in the best interests of their
employees, due to having smaller HR departments/less access to HR advice. This can cause an issue for
members, particularly in funds that rely on employers to distribute information.
Tier 3 employers are starting to make members aware of the cost of their pension arrangements which
is concerning for members. This is especially prevalent in the FE sector. There is anecdotal evidence of
members feeling obliged to give up their pension rights – they are being told that jobs will have to go as a
result of the costs of the LGPS.
Some employers are coming up with ways to avoid LGPS participation, such as setting up new companies.
Tier 3 members often have less union backing (smaller employers may discourage union membership) so
miss out on information and backing union membership can provide.
Where the employer exercises a discretion, it is likely to be less generous in smaller employers than in
larger employers, although this is not specific to Tier 3 employers. Part of the reason for this is that smaller
employers find it harder to be flexible (for example, a smaller employer may be more likely to refuse flexible
retirement as it’s harder to cover the work than it is in a larger employer).
Employees of some Tier 3 employers are less represented in the running of the scheme – employee and
employer representatives on boards and committees tend to come from the larger organisations. This means
the HE/FE sector might be represented, but smaller charities are much less likely to have representatives.
Scheme members – member engagement (union viewpoint)
The unions are happy with the level of engagement they have in the running of the scheme, as the
national Scheme Advisory Board has union representatives, and each administering authority has union
representatives on either its board or committee/panel.
However, achieving a dialogue with the investment pools is proving difficult. There is some evidence that
councils think that unions shouldn’t have a say in investment decisions – the councils’ view is that this
doesn’t affect members, but the unions think it does and want to represent their members’ views about
what the funds should invest in.
However, beyond the unions, representation of Tier 3 members is poor, at both a local and national level.
Employees of smaller employers are less likely to be able to take time off to attend meetings so are far less
likely to act as employer/member representatives. This has the effect that smaller employers don’t have a
‘voice’ so funds perceive them as a bigger risk and this has a disproportionate effect on Tier 3 employers.
88

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 223

Agenda Item 11

Appendix 5: Administering
Authority survey results
Overview
The Tier 3 survey for Administering Authorities was launched on 27 November 2017 and closed on 31 January 2018.
64 responses were received representing views from 59 funds, including 6 responses from those working in finance
and 46 working in administration, 1 in investment, 2 in administration and investment, 1 in finance and administration
and investment and 8 in other areas (including governance and pensions management).
The sections below summarise the results of that survey.

Administering authorities - an overview of survey results
Based on the survey responses, the following key features were identified:
•	50 of the 64 respondents agreed that there should be more flexibility in the funding and exit process for Tier
3 employers. There were several comments on the prescription of Regulation 64 of the LGPS 2013, with more
flexibility in managing exits welcomed.
•	Only 20 respondents would support more flexibility in the benefit structure of the LGPS for Tier 3 Employers.
•	7 respondents would like to see bonds or government guarantees for Tier 3 employers, similar to the DfE
guarantee for academies.
• 5 respondents agreed that Tier 3 employers should not be permitted to join the LGPS.
A number of questions were asked, designed to capture data across the main Tier 3 employer sectors: Higher/ Further
Education, Housing and the Charities sector. Administering authorities were asked whether they agreed with the
following statements in respect of each of the sectors.
•	‘Employers don’t understand their responsibilities’. 25% agreed with this for Higher/ Further Education, 26% for
the Housing sector and 70% for the Charities sector, showing that levels of understanding can be sector specific.
•	‘Member data is inaccurate or incomplete’. 33% agreed with this for Higher/ Further Education, 30% for the
Housing sector and 39% for the Charities sector suggesting that around two thirds of Tier 3 employers produce
accurate data.
•	‘Year-end returns are late’. 28% agreed with this for Higher/ Further Education, 14% for the Housing sector and
27% for the Charities sector. This suggests that the majority of employers submit their data on time.
•	‘Tier 3 employers understand the cost of their participation in the scheme’. Fewer than half of the respondents
agreed with this and again there was a sector difference. 43% agreed to this statement for Higher/ Further
Education, 42% for the Housing sector but only 32% in respect of the Charities sector.
•	‘Tier 3 employers understand ongoing funding risks’. The results showed higher agreement (of 37%) for Higher/
Further Education and the Housing sector (44%) but a lack of understanding for the Charity sector at 29%.
•	‘Tier 3 employers understand exit funding risks’. The results showed similar levels of agreement -38% for Higher/
Further Education, 28% for the Housing sector and 36% for the Charity sector.

Aon

89

Agenda Item 11

Page 224

•	‘Tier 3 employers understand the benefits of the scheme’. Fewer than half of administering authorities
believe employers generally understand the scheme benefits. 42% for Higher/ Further Education, 48%
for the Housing sector and 32% in the Charities sector.
•	‘Concerns about the risk to other scheme employers picking up scheme deficits of exiting Tier 3
employers’. Less than a third of administering authorities have concerns about this: 24% for Higher/
Further Education, 18% for the Housing sector and 32% for the Charity sector.
•	‘How do you rate engagement in investment strategy’. The results show that employers are generally
not engaged – 22% of administering authorities said that engagement was low for Higher/ Further
Education, 22% for the Housing sector and 50% for the Charities sector. Conversely, ‘fully engaged’
results were 17%, 14% & 5% respectively.
•	‘How do you rate engagement in funding strategy’. Here results were better than for investment
strategy -administering authorities believe that employers are neither fully engaged nor not engaged.
There was a scale of engagement between 1-5 and the majority elected the midpoint of the scale: 45%
for Higher/ Further Education, 40% in the Housing sector and 25% in the Charities sector. However,
32% of administering authorities felt that the Charities sector was not engaged.
•	‘How do you rate engagement with fund communications’. Again the results show that the
administering authorities believe that employers are neither fully engaged nor not engaged, with 42%
for Higher/ Further Education, 42% for the Housing sector and 21% for the Charities sector being rated
at the mid-point on the engagement scale.

90

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 225

Agenda Item 11

Section 1: Exposure to Tier 3 employers
Do you have the following types of Tier 3 employers in your Fund?
Do you have the following types of Tier 3 employers
in your Fund?

70
Higher/Further
Education

60
50

Housing Association

40
30

Charities

20
Other non-guaranteed
community admission
bodies

10
0
Yes

No

Commentary: The respondents had exposure to a wide range of Tier 3 employers as illustrated.

Section 2: Concerns about Tier 3 employers participation in the LGPS
Please indicate whether any of the following potential concerns apply in your fund in respect of
Please indicate whether any of the following potential
Tier 3 employers meeting their responsibilities
concerns apply in your fund in respect of Tier 3 employers
meeting their responsibilities

80%
70%

Higher/Further Education

60%
Housing Association

50%
40%

Charities

30%
20%

Other non-guaranteed
community admission bodies

10%
0%
Employers don't Member data is
understand their
inaccurate or
responsibilities
incomplete

Year-end returns
are late

Total

Commentary: The survey results indicate that the Administering Authorities are concerned in particular about charities and other
non-guaranteed community admission bodies’ level of understanding of their responsibilities. Additionally there is some concern
around inaccurate or incomplete member data and, to a lesser extent, late returns.

Do you find that you receive more administration queries from Tier 3 employers than
Do you find that you receive more administration queries
other employers?
from Tier 3 employers than other employers?

90%
80%
Higher/Further Education

70%
60%

Housing Association

50%
Charities

40%

Other non-guaranteed
community admission bodies

30%
20%

Total

10%
0%
Yes

No

Commentary: Generally the consensus from respondents is that administering authorities do not receive more administration
queries form Tier 3 employers. However, this is not true in all funds.

Aon

91

Page 226

Agenda Item 11

How confident are you that Fund communications get through to the scheme members of Tier 3
employers, on a scale of 1 to 5 with 1 being not confident, and 5 being completely confident?
How confident are you that Fund communications get through to
the scheme members of Tier 3 employers, on a scale of 1 to 5 with
1 being not confident, and 5 being completely confident?
50%
Higher/Further Education

45%
40%

Housing Association

35%
30%
25%

Charities

20%
15%

Other non-guaranteed community
admission bodies

10%
5%

Total

0%
1

2

3

4

5

Commentary: Generally administering authorities were reasonably confident that their communications were reaching members
of tier 3 employers. However, where administering authorities were less confident this was particularly true for charities and other
non-guaranteed community admission bodies.
How would
yourate
rate the
on a scale
1-5, with
beingwith
not 1 being not engaged and 5 being fully
How would
you
thebelow
below
on aofscale
of11-5,
engaged and 5 being fully engaged?
engaged? [Engagement
in
investment
strategy]
[Engagement in investment strategy]
60%
50%

Higher/Further Education

40%

Housing Association

30%

Charities

20%

Other non-guaranteed community
admission bodies

10%

Total

0%

1

2

3

4

5

Commentary: Administering authorities in general provided a low score for levels of engagement in the investment strategy of
the Fund. Engagement appears lowest for charities and other non-guaranteed community admission bodies.

How would
youyou
rate
below
scale
of 11-5,
How would
rate the
the below
on aon
scaleaof
1-5, with
beingwith
not 1 being not engaged and 5 being fully
engaged and
being fully strategy]
engaged?
engaged?[Engagement
in5funding
[Engagement in funding strategy]

50%
45%

Higher/Further Education

40%
35%

Housing Association

30%
25%

Charities

20%
Other non-guaranteed community
admission bodies

15%
10%

Total

5%
0%
1

2

3

4

5

Commentary: Administering authorities in general provided a low score for levels of engagement in the funding strategy (although higher levels than with the investment strategy). Again there was a marked difference by employer type, with lower levels
of engagement from charities and other non-guaranteed community admission bodies.

92

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 227

Agenda Item 11

How would
youyou
rate
below
scale
of 11-5,
How would
rate the
the below
on aon
scaleaof
1-5, with
beingwith
not 1 being not engaged and 5 being fully
engaged and
5 being
fully communications]
engaged?
engaged? [Engagement
with
your
[Engagement with your communications]

50%
45%

Higher/Further Education

40%
35%

Housing Association

30%
25%

Charities

20%
Other non-guaranteed community
admission bodies

15%
10%

Total

5%
0%

1

2

3

4

5

Commentary: There was a spread in scores on engagement with administering authorities’ communications, with slightly lower
levels of engagement from charities and other non-guaranteed community admission bodies.
you have
employerswith
with low
membership
Do youDohave
any any
employers
lowactive
active
membership who don’t seem committed to
who don't
seem
committed to participating in the
participating
in the
scheme?
scheme?

200
180
160
140
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

Higher/Further Education
Housing Association
Charities
Other non-guaranteed
community admission bodies
Total
Yes

No

Commentary: Based on the survey responses, there are a number of employers who administering authorities believe do not
seem committed to participating in the scheme.
If you answered
to the
above question
question inin
respect
of of any sector, do you see this lack of
If you answered
yes yes
to the
above
respect
any
sector,
do
you
see
this
lack
of
commitment
to
commitment to participating in the scheme as a concern for your Fund?
participating in the scheme as a concern for your Fund?

45
40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
Yes

No

Commentary: Although the administering authorities believed some employers were not committed to participating in the
scheme, a low proportion believed this was a concern for their fund.

Aon

93

Page 228

Agenda Item 11

How would you rate the below on a scale of 1-5? 1 being

noyou
understanding,
5 being full
How would
rate the below
on understanding.
a scale of 1-5? 1 being no understanding, 5 being full under[Tier
3 employers
understanding
of the cost ofof
their
standing.
[Tier
3 employers
understanding
the cost of their participation in the scheme]
participation in the scheme]

50%
45%

Higher/Further Education

40%
35%

Housing Association

30%
25%

Charities

20%
15%

Other non-guaranteed
community admission bodies

10%
5%

Total

0%
1

2

3

4

5

Commentary: The general view of respondents was that charities and other non-guaranteed community admission bodies have
a lower level of understanding of the cost of their participation in the scheme.
How would you rate the below on a scale of 1-5? 1 being

noyou
understanding,
5 being full
How would
rate the below
on understanding.
a scale of 1-5? 1 being no understanding, 5 being full
[Tier 3 employers
of the
ongoing fundingof the ongoing funding risks of the scheme]
understanding.
[Tierunderstanding
3 employers
understanding
risks of the scheme]

50%
45%

Higher/Further Education

40%
35%

Housing Association

30%
25%

Charities

20%
Other non-guaranteed
community admission bodies

15%
10%

Total

5%
0%
1

2

3

4

5

Commentary: The general view of respondents was that charities and other non-guaranteed community admission bodies
have a lower level of understanding of the ongoing funding risks of participation in the scheme. However, there are also some
examples of higher/further education perceived as having no understanding in this area.
How would you rate the below on a scale of 1-5? 1 being

noyou
understanding,
5 being full
How would
rate the below
on understanding.
a scale of 1-5? 1 being no understanding, 5 being full
[Tier 3 employers
of the
exit funding risksof the exit funding risks of the scheme]
understanding.
[Tierunderstanding
3 employers
understanding
of the scheme]

45%
40%

Higher/Further Education

35%
Housing Association

30%
25%

Charities

20%
15%

Other non-guaranteed
community admission bodies

10%

Total

5%
0%
1

2

3

4

5

Commentary: There was a mix of views across the various sectors. The general view was that charities and other non-guaranteed community admission bodies have a lower level of understanding of the exit funding risks, whereas housing association are
typically perceived as having a good level of understanding in this area.

94

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 229

Agenda Item 11

How would you rate the below on a scale of 1-5? 1 being
understanding,
5 being
full
How wouldnoyou
rate the below
on
a understanding.
scale of 1-5? 1 being no understanding, 5 being full
[Tier 3 employers understanding of the benefits of the
understanding. [Tier 3 employers understanding of the benefits of the scheme]
scheme]

60%
Higher/Further Education

50%
40%

Housing Association

30%

Charities

20%

Other non-guaranteed
community admission bodies

10%

Total

0%

1

2

3

4

5

Commentary: In general the perception is that the level of understanding of the benefits of the scheme among tier 3 employers is good.
How would you rate the below on a scale of 1-5? 1 being

noyou
understanding,
5 beingon
fullaunderstanding.
How would
rate the below
scale of 1-5? 1 being no understanding, 5 being full understanding.
[the scheme members of Tier 3 employers understanding
[the scheme members of Tier 3 employers understanding of the benefits of the scheme]
of the benefits of the scheme]

60%
Higher/Further Education

50%

Housing Association

40%
30%

Charities

20%

Other non-guaranteed
community admission bodies

10%

Total
0%

1

2

3

4

5

Commentary: In general the perception is that the level of understanding of the benefits of the scheme among the members of tier 3 employers is around 3 out of 5.
Do you have concerns about Tier 3 covenant and/or risk

Do youtohave
about of
Tier
3 covenant
other concerns
scheme employers
picking
up deficit and/or
of exitingrisk to other scheme employers of picking up deficit
TierTier
3 employers
(1 being
concerned,
5 being very 5 being very concerned)
of exiting
3 employers
(1not
being
not concerned,
concerned)

35%

Higher/Further Education

30%
25%

Housing Association

20%
Charities

15%
10%

Other non-guaranteed
community admission bodies

5%
0%

1

2

3

4

5

Total

Commentary: There was a diverse range of views among respondents to this question.

Aon

95

Page 230

Agenda Item 11

Section 3: Additional support for Tier 3 employers
Would you support more flexibility in the benefit structure of the Scheme for Tier 3 employers?

Yes
31%
No
69%

Commentary: The majority of respondents would not support more flexibility in the benefits structure of the Scheme for Tier 3
employers.

Would you support more flexibility in the funding and exit process of the Scheme
for Tier 3 employers?

No
22%

Yes
78%

Commentary: The majority of respondents would support more flexibility in the funding and exit process for Tier 3 employers.

96

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 231

Agenda Item 11

Appendix 6: Feedback from Administering
Authority listening sessions
Administering Authority – listening sessions
Administering authorities – employer duties and responsibilities
Opinions about whether Tier 3 employers understand their duties and responsibilities were mixed, but in
many cases the view was that they were no better or worse than other employers – some are good, some
are poor. Many authorities said that size of employer was a factor rather than sector, with larger employers
generally being better than smaller ones. One authority commented that issues occur when employers
outsource their payroll as they then believe responsibility passes to that provider. Others said in the smaller
employers such as charities staff turnover is higher so the person responsible for dealing with pensions
might be new to the role.
One authority felt Tier 3 employers generally had a better understanding of their responsibilities due
to the requirement to account for their pension costs, which is “real” for them but not for other scheme
employers.
With regard to the data received from employers, views were similar – there are good and bad employers
and this is reflected in the Tier 3 sector. Again, larger employers are generally seen as better than smaller
employers.
Employer understanding may also be down to fund support – several funds commented that they spend a
lot of time training and visiting employers and this has had a beneficial impact.
There appear to be different views regarding administration responsibilities and funding responsibilities
– there is more evidence that employers understand the cost of the scheme, but still doubt that they fully
understand their administrative responsibilities (e.g. data).
Administering authorities – employer communication and engagement
Common experience is that generally tier 3 employers only engage at valuation time, or if they are trying to
exit the scheme/understand the implications of an exit.
Very few funds had engagement from any employers when they consulted on investment and funding
strategies, so lack of engagement is not specific to Tier 3 employers. Where Tier 3 employers do engage,
this tends to be the HE/FE organisations and housing associations rather than charities.
Some authorities felt that there was more engagement in relation to FRS17 figures than there was with the
valuation/contribution rates.
HE/FE organisations and housing associations tend to have more discussions amongst themselves and may
raise queries with funds if they perceive they are being treated less favourably. However, this doesn’t seem
to happen with the charities.
It was felt that Tier 3 employers can cause funds more work if they want to investigate leaving the scheme
and options such as side agreements. However, administration representatives didn’t feel that Tier 3
employers caused them any more work than non-tier 3 employers.

Aon

97

Agenda Item 11

Page 232

Administering authorities – funding and covenant
Some authorities treat HE/FE sector employers in the same way as their local authority/authorities, with
a similar deficit recovery period. In some funds there are both scheduled body and admitted body
universities, and where this applies they are treated differently. Many operate a shorter deficit recovery
period for these employers, where others operate a different investment strategy or a different discount
rate. This was far more likely for a closed employer than an open employer.
Some funds are considering an interim funding target, in between the target for scheduled bodies and the
target for orphan employers, and will move open Tier 3 employers onto this.
Some funds (usually the larger ones) go further and assess each employer’s covenant separately and give
them a bespoke deficit recovery period/funding strategy.
Administering authorities – perceived risk
Mixed responses were received here. Most administering authorities agreed that Tier 3 employers do pose
a risk, simply by lacking any sort of guarantee.
Some authorities felt that this risk was significant and was high on their priority list. However, only the
largest authorities are taking significant steps to proactively manage this beyond different deficit recovery
periods.
Other authorities felt that while Tier 3 employers do pose a risk, most of these are smaller employers and
the liabilities only make up a very small proportion of the fund, so was lower on their priority list. Some felt
there was a reputational rather than financial risk (e.g. the fund is viewed as having forced an employer into
bankruptcy or preventing a charity from operating in a way it wishes).
It was felt by many authorities that of the categories of Tier 3 employers, the colleges (FE sector) were the
biggest risk. It was felt that universities and housing associations were more financially secure, and charities,
while lacking financial security, are small enough that the risk to funds is minimal. However colleges are
large and the current area review is causing concern that many colleges are not financially viable.

98

Tier 3 employers in the LGPS

Page 233

Agenda Item 11

Contacts
Tier 3 employers in the LGPS
Prepared for

Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board

Prepared by 	Alison Murray
Chris Darby
Rhiannon Curtis
Catherine Pearce

Alison Murray
Principal Consultant
(0) 117 900 4219
alison.murray@aon.com
Chris Darby FIA
Senior Consultant
(0) 117 901 3417
chris.darby.2@aon.com
Rhiannon Curtis
Principal Consultant
(0) 117 900 4419
rhiannon.curtis.2@aon.com
Catherine Pearce
Benefits and Governance Consultant
(0) 117 901 3419
catherine.pearce@aon.com

Copyright © 2018 Aon Limited. All rights reserved. aon.com Aon Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Registered in
England & Wales No. 4396810
Registered office:
The Aon Centre | The Leadenhall Building | 122 Leadenhall Street | London | EC3V 4AN
This report and any enclosures or attachments are prepared on the understanding that it is solely for the benefit of the addressee(s). Unless we provide
express prior written consent no part of this report should be reproduced, distributed or communicated to anyone else and, in providing this report, we do
not accept or assume any responsibility for any other purpose or to anyone other than the addressee(s) of this

Agenda Item 11
About Aon
Aon plc (NYSE:AON) is a leading global provider of
risk management, insurance brokerage and
reinsurance brokerage, and human resources
solutions and outsourcing services. Through its
more than 69,000 colleagues worldwide, Aon unites
to empower results for clients in over 120 countries
via innovative risk and people solutions. For further
information on our capabilities and to learn how we
empower results for clients, please visit: http://aon.
mediaroom.com/
© Aon plc 2018. All rights reserved.
The information contained herein and the statements expressed are of
a general nature and are not intended to address the circumstances of
any particular individual or entity. Although we endeavor to provide
accurate and timely information and use sources we consider reliable,
there can be no guarantee that such information is accurate as of the
date it is received or that it will continue to be accurate in the future.
No one should act on such information without appropriate professional advice after a thorough examination of the particular situation.

www.aon.com

GDM000000

Page 234

Page 235

Agenda Item 12

Report to:

Pension Committee

Date:

19 November 2018

Report title:

Review of Work Programme

Report from:

Gerald Almeroth, Strategic Director – Resources

Ward/Areas affected:

Borough Wide

Chair of Committee:

Councillor Jill Whitehead

Author(s)/Contact
Number(s):

Lyndsey Gamble, Head of Investment, Risk and Commercial Finance
020 8770 5358
Paul Audu, Investment, Insurance and Commercial Manager
020 8770 5436

Corporate Plan Priorities:
Open/Exempt:

●

Making Informed Choices

Open

Signed:

Date:

8 November 2018

1.

Summary

1.1.

The Work Programme set out in this report has been produced to propose agenda items to be
presented and discussed at future meetings.

2.

Recommendations
The Pension Committee is recommended to:

2.1.

Note the proposed Work Programme set out in this report.

3.

Background

3.1.

The following Work Programme sets out the proposed agenda items for the March 2019
meeting and the following three meetings up to and including December 2019. The list will be
varied should developments between now and the meeting date necessitate that. The Chair
will be informed of any proposed changes.

Agenda Item 12

Page 236

Pension Committee Work Programme to December 2019

●
●
●
●

18 March 2019
Member training
Investment Strategy Review
Draft ESG Policy
Quarterly investment performance to December 2018
Presentations by Harding Loevner (global equities) and/or Invesco (residential property) for
investment performance results to December 2018
Review of Risk Register
Pension Fund Business Plan 2019/20
Pension administration update
Review of work programme

●
●
●
●
●
●
●

June 2019 (TBC)
Member training
Quarterly investment performance to March 2019
Presentation by Partners Group for performance results to March 2019
Training Plan
Update on London CIV
Pension administration update
Review of work programme

●
●
●
●
●
●
●

September 2019 (TBC)
Member training
Quarterly investment performance to June 2019
Presentation by London CIV and update
Presentation by Schroders (global equities) for investment performance results to June 2019
Pension Fund Annual Report including Statement of Accounts
Pension administration update
Review of work programme

●
●
●
●
●
●
●

December 2019 (TBC)
Member training
Quarterly investment performance to September 2019
Presentation by M&G (Bonds) for performance results to September 2019
Interim Actuarial Valuation of the Pension Fund as at 31 March 2019
Pension administration update
Review of work programme

●
●
●
●
●

4.

Impacts and Implications
Financial

4.1.

There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this report.
Legal

4.2.

There are no legal implications arising from this report.

Page 237

5.

Agenda Item 12

Appendices and Background Documents

Appendix Letter
None

Title
N/A

Background Documents
None

Audit Trail
Version:
Consultation with other officers
Officer
Finance

Final

Date: 8 November 2018

Comments Sought
Yes

Comments checked by
Lyndsey Gamble

Legal

No

N/A

Equality Impact Assessment
required?

No

N/A

This page is intentionally left blank

